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CORPORATE INFORMATION
LAFAEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (Chairman)
Mr. Ji Weiguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Xianna (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Du Kui
Mr. Zhao Honggiang
Mr. Ge Ke

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhao Hongaiang (Chairman)
Mr. Ge Ke
Mr. Du Kui

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ge Ke (Chairman)
Mr. Ji Weiguo
Mr. Du Kui

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Du Kui (Chairman)

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (ceased on 19 June 2025)
Ms. Liu Xianna (appointed on 19 June 2025)
Mr. Ge Ke

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Liu Xianna
Ms. Au Wai Ching FCG (CS, CGP), HKFCG (CS, CGP)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Liu Xianna
Ms. Au Wai Ching FCG (CS, CGP), HKFCG (CS, CGP)

REGISTERED OFFICE
PO Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
THE PRC

03001-03006, Level 3, Building 3

No. 688 Middle Tianfu Avenue
Chengdu High-tech Zone

Pilot Free Trade Zone, Sichuan Province
PRC

Room 710, Building 1

No. 35 Shangdi East Road
Haidian District, Beijing
PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Gentre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PQ Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 17121716

17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Han Kun Law Offices LLP
Rooms 4301-10, 43/F
Gloucester Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

KPMG

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the Accounting and

Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Guotai Junan Capital Limited

27/F, Low Block, Grand Millennium Plaza
181 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Sichuan branch, Bank of China Limited
No. 35, Middle Renmin Road (2 Duan)
Qingyang District

Chengdu, Sichuan Province

PRC

Chaoyang branch in Beijing, Bank of China Limited
Block B, Jiacheng Building

No. 18 Xiaguang Lane, Dongsanhuan North Road
Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

STOCK CODE
9669

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.beisen.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEH=E

Year ended 31 March

HEIANHLERE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 20244F 20234 20224F 20214
(RMB000)
(AR®TFT)
Revenue WA 945,076 854,741 750,914 679,627 556,327
Gross profit EAH 613,530 514,927 415,564 400,511 369,597
Operating loss SRR (146,468) (389,722) (368,112) (288,563) (141,105)
Loss before income tax B P15 B AT BT 18 (143,296) (3,194,113) (2,604,903) (1,921,579) (923,438)
Loss for the year FAEE (147,406) (3,208,587) (2,598,992) (1,908,772) (940,140)
Adjusted net loss (non-IFRS 4% 78 28 J&5 18 % 58 (3E
measure) BT iR 42 Al
=) (29,101) (105,366) (300,555) (163,590) (121,223)
As at 31 March
38318
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 20244F 20234 20224F 20214
(RMB000)
(AR®FT)
ASSETS HE
Non-current assets FERENE E 400,719 105,056 199,814 186,064 84,927
Current assets MENEE 1,576,440 1,801,334 1,670,964 1,848,641 507,890
Total assets HEE 1,977,159 1,906,390 1,870,778 2,034,705 592,817
LIABILITIES af#\
Non-current liabilities EREEE 92,965 55,940 9,460,746 6,672,607 32,510
Current liabilities mBBE 839,286 695,582 766,661 642,448 4103,589
Total liabilities Ha®R 932,251 751,522 10,227,407 7,315,055 4136,099
EQUITY Ega
Equity attributable to owners AN &l A A FE(L
of the Company s 1,044,908 1,154,868 (8,356,629) (5,280,350) (3,543,277)
Non-controlling interests ~ JE4% A& #EZS - - - - (5)
Total equity HER 1,044,908 1,154,868 (8,356,629) (5,280,350) (3,543,282)
Total equity and
liabilities HESRAR 1,977,159 1,906,390 1,870,778 2,034,705 592,817

TERONF/ECRF FEHRET O ERERERLF 3



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Overall Financial Data

Revenue was RMB945.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a year-
on-year increase of 10.6%.

Net loss was RMB147.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a year-
on-year improvement of 95.4%.

Adjusted net loss (a non-IFRS measure) was RMB29.1 million for the year ended 31 March
2025, representing a year-on-year improvement of 72.4%.

Cloud-based HCM Solutions

Revenue generated from subscriptions to our cloud-based HCM solutions was RMB721.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a year-on-year increase of 14.2%
and accounting for 76.4% of the total revenue.

Professional Services

Revenue generated from our professional services was RMB223.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025, representing a year-on-year increase of 0.3% and accounting for
23.6% of the total revenue.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were RMB287.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2025, representing a year-on-year decrease of 18.0%.

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities was RMB621.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing
a year-on-year increase of 20.4%.

Rounding Adjustments

In this annual report, certain amounts and percentage figures have been subject
to rounding adjustments, or have been rounded to one or two decimal places. Any
discrepancies in any tables, chats or elsewhere between total and sums of amounts listed
therein are due to rounding.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
Rl

Dear shareholders,

In the complex and ever-changing market environment of FY2025, Beisen Holding
remained steadfast in its commitment to “customer success” as the core principle.
Upholding the business philosophy of “long-termism and focused intensity”, we achieved
high-quality growth through strategic refinement, technological innovation and business
breakthroughs.

I.  Business Review
1. Al-powered growth delivers remarkable commercialization results

In early 2024, Beisen Holding initiated the research and development of Al-
powered products, achieving successful commercialization validation by August
of the same year, with multiple Al solutions subsequently launched. At the
beginning of 2025, DeepSeek led the Al industry into a new phase of development.
As the market rapidly matured, Beisen had already commercialized multiple Al-
powered solutions, enabling swift market deployment and customer acquisition.
We fully implement “Al in All” strategy, leveraging over 20 years of technological
expertise and industry data accumulation in human resource management and
combining with human resources integration business scenarios, we have
built the Al Family Product Matrix, a comprehensive suite covering the entire
human resources landscape. This includes seven intelligent products such as Al
Interviewer, Al Coaching Assistant and Al Leadership Goach Mr.Sen, incorporating
100+ Al-powered features. Together, they form Beisen’s industry-leading Al
Family, designed to deeply understand talent needs and establish an unbreakable
technological moat. As of 31 March 2025, the Al product suite had been adopted
by over 300 paying corporate clients, generating Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR)
exceeding RMB6 million. In particular, Beisen's Al Interviewer has transitioned
from commercialization to large-scale adoption, with cumulative contracted clients
exceeding 240 by the end of March 2025. Powered by competency models and
intelligent follow-up questioning technology, the Al Interviewer delivers precise
assessments of candidates’ job fit and potential. It incorporates nearly 20 anti-
cheating monitoring mechanisms, improving hiring efficiency by nearly 60 times
and reducing initial screening costs by 90% and its evaluation accuracy now rivals
that of professional human interviewers. Al Leadership Coach Mr.Sen trained
newly promoted managers through nearly 100 highly simulated management
scenarios tailored to specific job functions. Since its launch in December 2024, it
had provided services to over 20 renowned enterprises within the fiscal year, which
quickly achieved commercialization.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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The Key Account Strategy solidifies our market leadership

According to IDC'’s data for the first half of 2024, we were the top-ranking company
in China's HCM SaaS market for nine consecutive years, with a market share of
approximately 15%. In a sub-market level, we were also the top-ranking company
in Core HCM, recruitment and performance management in terms of market share
in 2024. This achievement stems from the Company’s steadfast commitment to the
pure SaaS model and its deep cultivation of the mid-to-large enterprise market.
The ARR for our Core HCM business increased by 29% year on year, achieving
a subscription revenue retention rate of 114% with nearly 2,300 customers.
In FY2025, our large enterprise business achieved broad-based growth, with
nearly 140 clients, each with over 10,000 employees, adopting our Core HCM
and performance assessment modules. Through process optimization and talent
pipeline development, we completed the upgrade of our multi-language, multi-
currency, and multi-time zone PaaS platform, successfully supporting the global
human resources management needs of over 100 Chinese enterprises expanding
0Verseas.

Ecosystem integration unlocks synergistic effects

The Company successfully acquired Cool College, integrating thousands of client
resources and gaining access to DingTalk’'s ecosystem portal. This integration
provides large-scale implementation scenarios for Al applications, accelerating
the transformation of corporate training from knowledge acquisition to practical
skill development. Cool College maintained its leadership as DingTalk’s top-
rated training application. The acquisition propelled our learning solutions to the
industry’s second-largest market share in the sub-market of IDC.

Business Outlook
Al Agent enters the acceleration phase
As an industry leader, Beisen has positioned Al agents as its core strategic focus

for the next three years. In FY2026, Beisen will intensify market expansion, drive Al
technology implementation and deliver value for clients and enterprises.

Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2024/2025
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESTEE

Deepening industry expertise, we remain steadfast in our key
account strategy, pioneering a new chapter of industry leadership

In FY2026, Beisen formally established the Key Accounts Division, positioning
strategic clients as the growth engine for the future development. We commit to
building industry-leading service capabilities within 2-3 years through achieving
leapfrog development by dual-engine acceleration, attracting top industry talent
and continuously upgrading our key account service system. In FY2026, we are
strategically anchored in three key sectors: new energy, high-tech manufacturing,
and consumer chain retail. By focusing on partnerships with industry leaders and
meticulously crafting benchmark service cases, we aim to establish new standards
of excellence in professional services. To address the complex and diversified
needs of key accounts, we will collaborate with top-tier consulting firms to deliver
full application scenarios and full cycle solutions. At the same time, we tightly
integrate organizational efficiency enhancement with global development trends.
Leveraging our customizable PaaS platform, we conduct in-depth analysis of
industry-specific characteristics to precisely align with client needs. In building
our product matrix, we will upgrade core product offerings including workforce
management, competency systems, and digital talent development solutions.
This fortifies our service foundation, further consolidates and expands our market
competitive edge, and drives high-quality business growth.

Strengthening our differentiation strategy with fully integrated
Core HCM solutions

Amidst the industry-wide shift towards integrated HR software systems, our
research and development ecosystem will intensify synergistic convergence
across six core modules and 35 products. We will advance the unification of role-
based scenarios and workplace workflows to achieve our vision of “Business-
Human Capital Fusion”. The enhancement of product modules, combined with the
empowerment of Al Agent solutions will further enhance Beisen’s differentiated
advantages in integrated HCM offerings. In FY2026, based on our unified multi-
product line business strategy, we will enhance new product adoption and cross-
selling among existing clients through CSM and sales collaboration, driving
further growth of ARR per client.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESTEE

Fully supporting Chinese enterprises’ global expansion, Beisen empowers Chinese
enterprises with global intelligent solutions, enables agile responses to cross-
border management challenges and facilitates the expansion of Chinese enterprises
in the global market.

Amidst the Al technology revolution, Beisen will fully leverage its three core
strengths: extensive client assets, vertical scenario expertise and high-quality
industry accumulation. With lean research and development as the growth engine,
we will deepen our customer success practices to create long-term sustainable
value for shareholders. Amidst the challenging economic environment, Beisen
maintains strategic resilience by “countering uncertainty with systematic certainty”,
persistently advancing our process-optimized organizational architecture. We firmly
believe that organizational resilience builds competitive moats. Through end-to-
end business process reengineering, we achieve operational efficiency gains and
leverage systematized capabilities to withstand external volatility.

[ 'would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our trusted clients, dedicated Beisen
colleagues, premium ecosystem partners and shareholders whose long-term support fuels
Beisen’s journey. Together, we will harness institutional resilience to transcend market
cycles and define our future with customer success. Together, let us forge a brighter future
for Beisen.

Beisen Holding Limited
Wang Zhaohui
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

T A R 5 i

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Industry Review

In 2024, digital transformation and domestic substitution were accelerating rapidly.
China’s 14th Five-Year Plan and the Xinchuang (Information Technology Application
Innovation) initiative are directly driving growth in demand of the domestic software
market. Meanwhile, advancement of technology such as cloud computing and Al large
models are providing key momentum for a new wave of scientific and industrial revolution.

At the same time, the complexity and uncertainty of global economic growth have
intensified further, with economic growth decelerated and businesses facing heightened
operational pressures, leading to a greater focus on cost reduction and efficiency
improvement. Demand for software from small and medium-sized enterprises has declined
due to reduced purchasing power, while mid-sized and large enterprises, despite their
desire to leverage digitalization for cost and efficiency gains, are experiencing slower
decision-making processes. In response, Beisen has doubled down on its focus on the
large-customer market, offering products and services that better meet their needs and
deliver higher cost-performance value.

As Chinese companies accelerate their global expansion, effective management of overseas
talents and optimization of global human resources allocation have become critical
challenges. The demand for global human resources management and data compliance
among Chinese enterprises has surged significantly. In response, Beisen has placed a
strong emphasis on the needs of internationalizing clients and developed a comprehensive
product feature set that supports multiple languages, time zones, and currencies, which
provides digital solutions that align with global human resources management standards
and data compliance requirements.

Among the many participants in China’s cloud-based HCM solutions market, Beisen is the
only provider offering integrated cloud-based HCM solutions and the only cloud-based
HCM solutions provider that has built a unified and open Paa$ infrastructure. As the digital
economy and digital talent industry continue to evolve, coupled with the increasing real-
world application of Al large models in business scenarios, Beisen is poised for sustained
growth and is well-positioned to lead the digital transformation of human resources
management.

Beisen’s cloud-based HCM solutions cover all major HCM use cases across the entire
employment lifecycle, delivering comprehensive and fully integrated cross-functional
solutions. As the leader in China's HCM SaaS market, Beisen has been the top-ranking
company in China's HCM SaaS market in terms of market share for nine consecutive years
since 2016. In the first half of 2024, Beisen had a market share of approximately 15% in
China’s HCM SaaS market, widening the gap over its closest competitor. In sub-market
level, we were also the top-ranking company in Core-HR market, recruitment management
and performance management SaaS markets in terms of market share®. In addition,
Beisen’s assessment business has consistently maintained its market dominance for many
years.

Note:  Data is sourced from IDC CHINA SEMIANNUAL HUMAN CAPITAL MANAGEMENT(HCM)
SAAS, 2024H1
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Business Review

In 2024, the complex and volatile economic landscape has heightened uncertainties
for companies. On one hand, companies were optimizing existing human capital and
strengthening organizational resilience through lean management practices. On the other
hand, many companies were accelerating overseas expansion to secure new growth
drivers and maintain competitiveness. As the rapid advancement of generative Al, such as
DeepSeek, and other digital technologies and their in-depth penetration into core business
scenarios of companies, human resource management has ushered in new growth
opportunities.

Commercialization has commenced, leading enterprises into the Al era of
human resources. The digital transformation of human resources is evolving into
an “employee-centric” era of Al-powered personalization. Beisen fully embraces Al
large models, leveraging its underlying PaaS platform and based on general-purpose
large models such as DeepSeek, it integrates Beisen’s more than 20 years of vertical
accumulation of people science and combines with human resources integrated business
scenarios. Beisen has launched seven Al assistants and more than 100 Al-powered
features, including Al interviewer (AITE & &), Al employee assistants (AI§ T B) F),
Al Coaching (AIFZ %R) and Al leadership coach (AI<8 38 F3 k&) (Mr. Sen), forming the
Beisen Al product family which is industry-leading and better at understanding talents.
During FY2025, Beisen’s seven Al assistants rapidly commercialized, with numerous
clients achieving human resources cost reduction, business efficiency and talent quality
improvement through Al Agent.

Beisen acquired Cool College to accelerate the layout from eLearning
to Al Learning. In the first half of 2025, Beisen acquired Cool College. Beisen will
further strengthen the layout in eLearning market, increase investment in research and
development of Al Learning products and assist more Chinese corporate clients in
transitioning from traditional corporate learning management model to Al Learning era.
Cool College’s corporate learning management platform provides an integrated “SaaS
software + content + operation service” learning solutions and establishes a leading market
position with thousands of paid clients and has been ranking the first in training product
category on Ding Talk for 18 consecutive months. Following this acquisition, Beisen will
achieve comprehensive coverage across large, medium and small enterprise markets,
delivering tailored solutions to meet the personalized needs of clients at every scale. The
talent competency standards and assessment technologies accumulated by Beisen over
the past 20 years, as well as the research and development capabilities invested in the Al
field over the past years, will fully empower the upgrade and improvement of the eLearning
products after the acquisition, thereby providing customers with more professional
and advanced corporate learning management solutions. In addition, based on its Al
strategy, Beisen will further improve the efficiency and effectiveness of corporate learning
management through this acquisition, promoting the comprehensive reshaping of product
form from eLearning to Al Learning.
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Global expansion has become a critical growth strategy for Chinese
corporates. Based on the PaaS platform, Beisen continues to increase its investment in
research and development of international products and has developed global integrated
HCM SaaS solutions which include key capabilities such as multiple languages, time
zones and currencies, and privacy compliance, covering scenarios such as recruitment,
organizational personnel, leave, target performance, corporate training, and provides global
human data analysis to help companies broaden their global operational perspectives.
Meanwhile, Beisen has partnered with Han Kun Law Offices to publish the “2024 White
Paper on Data Compliance in Overseas Human Resources Management for Chinese
Corporates” ((FR 1> )8 A N E TR EIE UL A 1R A & £20245%)), empowering
Chinese corporates to promptly identify and address compliance challenges in global
expansion. During FY2025, Beisen has helped hundreds of companies to achieve
global management, covering the full-scenario digital management of human resources
management in many countries and regions including Hong Kong, Vietnam, Indonesia,
Thailand, and Malaysia.

Fully embracing Al, supporting the global expansion of Chinese corporates and acquiring
Cool College to upgrade Beisen’s eLearning products and market layout will further help
corporates solve practical problems in the implementation of human digitalization, improve
management efficiency, achieve optimal talent allocation, stimulate organizational potential
and create a new engine for business growth.

During the Reporting Period, our total revenue was RMB945.1 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 10.6%, of which the revenue from cloud-based HCM solutions
was RMB721.8 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 14.2%. The revenue from
cloud-based HCM solutions accounted for 76.4% of our total revenue, representing a
year-on-year increase of 2.4 percentage points. The adjusted net loss margin was 3.1%,
representing a year-on-year improvement of 9.2 percentage points. The net cash generated
from operating activities was RMB76.9 million, turning from operating cash outflow to
operating cash inflow. The adjusted EBITDA (a non-IFRS measure) was RMB28.9 million
and we maintained the subscription revenue retention rate of 106% and sustained a solid
ARR growth of 29% for our Core HCM integration.
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digital transformation of corporates with over 10,000 employees. As
of 31 March 2025, the ARR for our Core HCM Integration accounted for
59%"* of our total ARR, representing a year-on-year increase of 29%,
with the total number of our Core HCM Integration customers reached
approximately 2,300.

Amid intensifying digital transformation demands from large and mid-sized
enterprises, Beisen remains steadfast in its focus on key-account strategy,
deepening expertise in complex human resources management scenarios,
particularly in manufacturing and retail chain sectors. In the first half of 2025,
targeting at frontline stores and production workers, Beisen launched blue-
collar workforce express onboarding solutions and upgraded the attendance
clerk dashboard, automated monthly payroll reports and shift scheduling and
approval functions for more sophisticated workforce management. We also
launched new upgrades of complex salary functions such as bonus incentives and
social insurance management, which makes talent incentives more scientific. We
promptly launched the ability to automatically calculate delayed retirement dates
to swiftly respond to national policy demands. Beisen upgraded White Paper on
People Analytics 4.0 to cover more than 300 industry-specific human resources
analysis metrics across manufacturing, retail chains and internet sectors, which
drives decision-making with data to improve efficiency.

Multiple corporates with over 10,000 employees reached milestone achievements
through cooperation with Beisen Core HCM. Beisen helped China Traditional
Chinese Medicine Holdings Co. Limited, comprising nearly 100 subsidiaries and
with approximately 17,000 employees, to establish a digital human resources
management and control platform for all levels of the group, covering the entire
lifecycle of employees and accumulated a talent pool of nearly 100 HRIS digital
professionals. Emperor Group achieved digital upgrade of the group’s human
resources through Beisen Core HCM, which improved process efficiency by
50%, empowered HRSSC and cinema operation managers and comprehensively
improved organizational effectiveness.

Note.  The reported ARR percentage did not include ARR of Cool College
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Beisen Al Family, leveraging our self-developed Luban Paa$S platform
and Al/BI technology foundation, combined with generative Al large
model. With over 20 years of experience in the human resources
field with continuous training and refinement, we have created Sen
GPT, an Al large model for workforce management. Integrating this
model into our integrated HCM Saa$ business and data scenarios, we
introduced a range of groundbreaking new products, including Mr. Sen
(5 #1#¥), Al Interviewer (AITE & &), Al Interview Assistant (AITH &
B ) Al Course Assistant (Alfl iR B ), Al Employee Assistant (Al
B I BYF), Al Coaching Assistant (AIBE # B) ) and Al Assessment
(AI:B) §F), based on generative Al technology, further expanding the
range of Beisen’s Al Family products. As of 31 March 2025, we had
over 300 Beisen Al Family customers and the ARR exceeded RMB6
million. Customers achieved cost reduction in human resources and
improvement in business efficiency and talent quality.

Beisen’s Al Interviewer has successfully achieved commercialization, and the
number of contracted customers exceeded 240 as of the end of March 2025. The
application of Al technology in recruitment scenarios is evolving from efficiency
tools to intelligent decision-making. During FY2025, Beisen completed its “Al +
Recruitment” strategic layout and built three major Al products covering the entire
chain of talent selection. “Al Recruitment Assistant” assisted HR in efficiently and
precisely recommending and assessing the resumes. “Al Interview Assistant”
assisted interviewers to implement job requirements and improve interview quality.
“Al Interviewer” simulated real interviewers with digital avatars for raising questions
about resume and work experience and making follow-up enquiries.

The Al Interviewer excels in campus recruitment scenarios, continuously
optimizing candidate experience and enhancing capabilities for blue-collar hiring
such as productivity assessments, ten major physical fitness tests, and three
major behavioral game-based assessments, thereby helping corporates effectively
manage employment risks and accelerate hiring processes. A leading Fortune
Global 500 high-tech manufacturing company has utilized the Al Interviewer in its
campus recruitment process and integrated assessment capabilities by replacing
the traditional three-round interview process with a single round interview with the
assistance of the Al Interviewer, resulting in the reduction in students’ response
time by 83% while enhancing the quality of the recognition of candidates’
capabilities. A leading Fortune Global 500 automotive manufacturer has replaced
initial interviews with Al interviews in its campus recruitment, establishing a tech-
savvy employer brand and improving the candidates’ experience. A leading property
management company has employed the Al Interviewer for blue-collar recruitment,
doubling its recruitment efficiency. To date, Beisen has secured contracts for our
Al Interviewer product with corporations including a leading Fortune Global 500
state-owned enterprise in the energy sector, top cement manufacturers, leading
baijiu producers, leading fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) companies,
premier software service providers, leading oncology-focused biopharmaceutical
companies and renowned banks. A leading automotive manufacturer implemented
Beisen's Al Interviewer for its 2024 fall campus recruitment, successfully
gstablishing a standardized preliminary assessment system to enhance talent
quality. The solution achieved a 95.5% candidate attendance rate, significantly
improving both recruitment quality and candidate experience.
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Al Training Assistant drives significant leaps in employee performance through
real-world scenario simulations and instant feedback. A pharmaceutical company
with 7,000 employees leveraged Beisen’s Al Training Assistant to simulate
four critical scenarios: new product professional knowledge, post-clinic visits,
academic department presentations, and objection handling. Over 1,000 medical
representatives mastered sales skills through the platform, achieving a 300%
increase in training participation.

Al Leadership Coach Mr. Sen is equipped with almost a hundred of highly
realistic management simulations and empowers leaders to transform theoretical
knowledge into actionable behaviors. A leading new energy corporation with
100,000 employees, by deploying Mr. Sen, achieved closed-loop management
for assessment, training, development and evaluation of both newly promoted
managers and high-potential talent.

Al Course Assistant boosts course production efficiency by five times and
addresses corporate knowledge retention challenges. A logistics company has
significantly improved the efficiency of English course production using Al Course
Assistant, which reduced the development time from 5 days to 0.5 days.

Al Employee Assistant is connected to Beisen’s iTalent system and embedded
into IM, which allows employees to conduct business and check data in real time.
Currently, more than 20 leading enterprises, including over 10,000 employees
top-tier food chains and small household appliance manufacturers, have applied
online. For instance, an international smart logistics company achieved a 200%
efficiency improvement in question-and-answer processes by leveraging Al
Employee Assistants to rapidly build up their SSC knowledge base.

In 2024, human resource management of corporates continued to advance digital
transformation. Empowered by Al, we are entering a new intelligent era centered
around employees, where personalized smart experiences are now within reach,
bringing unprecedented work methods and interaction models to employees. Al is
reshaping the future of human resources at an unprecedented pace and scale.

Beisen completed acquisition of Cool College in the first half of 2025,
accelerating its strategic shift from eLearning to Al Learning. As of 31
March 2025, the ARR of eLearning Cloud representing a year-on-year increase of
371%. The acquisition not only achieves comprehensive coverage across large,
medium and small enterprise markets but also deeply integrates Beisen’s over
20 years of people science expertise, Al agent capabilities and Cool College’s
thousands of client resources, which developed an integrated Al Learning corporate
training solution that covers “knowledge delivery, skill training and competency
development” and built a differentiated competitive edge in the talent development
sector.
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During FY2025, Beisen's eLearning Cloud cooperated with a leading national
pharmacy chain to build a digital learning platform for its 50,000 employees.
Through a closed-loop “Learn-Practice-Assess-Apply” system, the company
achieves rapid onboarding for new hires within 6 weeks, with a 91% retention rate.
The leadership development program boosted competency of senior management
by 31%. With coverage across 11,000 retail stores, it effectively supported the
company’s “professionalization + diversification” strategy and set a new benchmark
for talent development in pharmaceutical retail industry.

Digitalization of executives and talents. The digitalization of executives
and talents solutions newly developed by Beisen provides large enterprises with
comprehensive capabilities, including role-specific qualification standards, talent
promotion and evaluation, workforce planning and succession development,
selection and appointment of executives, talent profiling and searching and Al-
powered talent recommendations, which is a must-have for leading enterprises
and addresses three critical talent management challenges, namely, unclear
workforce visibility, difficulty in identifying key talents and lack of a robust talent
pipeline. In FY2025, our solutions have been trusted by top-tier companies in
industries such as smart energy and retail chains. With over 20 years of expertise
in talent management, assessment and development and our experience in serving
70% of China’s Fortune Global 500 companies, along with executives and talent
management software and Al technology, the digitalization of executives and talents
solutions newly developed by Beisen will lead the premium talent management
market for China’s large enterprises and become a business line with huge market
growth potential and distinct competitive advantages for Beisen in the near future.

In FY2025, Beisen’s talent management services hecame more
diversified, enabling innovation in talent management business
services and providing end-to-end human resources consulting
services to clients, thereby enhancing customer value. During the
Reporting Period, we continued to promote talent management business
diversification services. Based on clients’ needs in talent system development,
and leveraging our talent assessment technologies, digital capabilities, and Al
technology, we designed integrated talent management consulting solutions,
covering three major types and two key scenarios. For comprehensive talent
infrastructure planning, we leverage years of talent assessment expertise to extend
our capabilities in holistic talent planning and workforce architecture design.
We provide clients with comprehensive talent system planning while developing
specialized workforce solutions for “technology talent teams” and “performance-
critical position groups”, which deliver premium planning and services for
enterprises to build specialised teams, enhance operational effectiveness, and
provide high quality planning and services. For overall talent nurturing, Beisen
launched an end-to-end talent development system design based on the “Thinking—
Knowledge—Practice—Action” (B — &0 —#R —1T) framework. We provide a
comprehensive suite of talent development solutions, including growth system
design, assessment-training integration, and learning outcome reinforcement
programs, tailored to address diverse organizational needs of different clients
across all growth stages and enable enterprises to achieve rapid talent
transformation during critical business transitions.
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Beisen delivers precision-tailored services for talent selection and deployment,
meticulously aligned with enterprise requirements. We help enterprises construct
an internal talent labelling system and achieve talent visibility and agile team
composition through the “talent label system construction and application”
for business executives in talent matching. We have introduced an integrated
Assessment Center or Development Center evaluation model for senior talent
selection scenarios, enabling enterprises to achieve high-precision talent
recruitment and development.

Leveraging the strengths of our HCM Saa$S platform and Al technology, Beisen
provides clients with comprehensive consulting services. During the clients’
integrated system implementation process, we identify process inefficiencies and
provide clients with targeted process optimization consulting solutions and assist
clients in optimizing business processes during system implementation to achieve
greater operational efficiency. Leveraging our accumulated expertise in talent
management business and combined with our new Al products such as Mr. Sen
Al Interviewer and Al Coach, we provide customized Al consulting services and
customized enterprise-specific Al agents.

Beisen is driven by the dual engines of “open technology + ecosystem
synergy”, accelerating our strategic deployment in Al, global
expansion, and Paa$S ecosystem development

(1) Altechnology empowers ecological innovation

Through strengthened strategic partnerships with leading Al providers
such as Zhipu Al, Tongyi Qianwen, and ERNIE Bot, Beisen has introduced
multiple intelligent HCM SaaS solutions. For example, “Al Interviewer”,
which is based on the self-developed SenGPT human large model, has
been commercialized, covering more than 240 customers, and has been
applied on a large scale in campus recruitment and blue-collar recruitment
scenarios. At the same time, it connects to the DeepSeek-R1/V3 large
model to further upgrade products such as the Al Training Assistant
and Mr. Sen leadership coach to promote the full-process intelligent
transformation of human resource management.

(2)  Global ecological network expansion
Beisen has launched global HCM SaaS solution, cooperating with
globalization service providers such as Alibaba Cloud, Hand, DEEL,

CDP and InteDao to support the needs of corporates in going global and
enhance Beisen’s capabilities in meeting overseas market demands.
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(3)  PaaS ecosystem integration capabilities continue to improve

Regarding the PaaS ecosystem, focusing on the full module scenario of
human resources, we have added nearly 20 new integrated manufacturers
and cooperated with nearly 100 of integrated manufacturers. The solution
now features deeper integrations across multiple workplace scenarios
including OA systems, IM collaboration, employee benefit, travel expenses
control, attendance tracking, administrative management, bank-enterprise
direct linkage, tax processing, e-signature, customer service robot,
recruitment channel, video interviews and employee background checks.
These seamless integrations continuously reduce operational costs while
delivering greater value to clients. The iTalent application is now fully
compatible with Huawei HarmonyOS NEXT and available on Huawei
AppMarket, delivering comprehensive mobile solutions for all-scenario
application needs.

(4)  Beisen has formed a strategic partnership with Hogan Assessments
to launch comprehensive, tiered, and domain-specialized assessment
services. We have made significant progress in building a healthy user
ecosystem, delivering increasingly valuable enterprise services to our
clients.

During FY2025, driven by the dual engines of “open technology + ecosystem
synergy”, Beisen achieved ecosystem evolution from product integration to
strategic merger and acquisition. In the coming three years, we will focus on
three key pillars, which are Al Learning, globalized services and platform-level
partnership, to continuously build an open and collaborative human resources
SaaS ecosystem, empowering enterprises in their digital transformation of human
resources.

Business Outlook

With the continuous implementation of our integrated strategy, in FY2026, we will continue
to launch new products and features, thereby facilitating and creating more opportunities
for cross-selling among different modules. We will further strengthen our competitive
advantage with more new products, greater integration and higher ARR, which are unique
to Beisen’s business model and continuously deepens Beisen’s moat. Beisen has achieved
a CAGR of 19.6% in ARR for the past five years. In particular, the ARR of Core HCM
integration has grown at a CAGR of 41.2%. Furthermore, contributed by the cross-selling
of modules and the rapid growth of Core HCM, Beisen has consistently maintained a
satisfactory level of subscription revenue retention rate at around 106% for the past five
years. In addition, based on PaaS, Beisen's integrated HCM SaaS is able to serve clients
with over 10,000 employees, has laid a solid foundation for Beisen’s strategy of retaining
large customers.
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In FY2026, our business strategy will focus on the following directions:

20

Continue to implement Al-first strategy, fully embrace Al and launch
Al agents that cater to more customer needs. Amidst the transformative
waive of Al technology, we resolutely adopt Al, reimagining human resources
business scenario with Al capabilities and strengthen our pioneering position
in Al application and products of human resources area. In the future, we will
continue to focus on integrating Al into HCM Saa$S unified scenarios and talent
management software unified scenarios, with an emphasis on functional attributes.
We will concentrate on transforming these scenarios and improving efficiency,
continuously enhancing customer experience and differentiated competitiveness,
such as polishing performance reviews, recommending questions for interviewers
and generating and polishing interview summaries. Also, we will integrate human
resources business scenarios to develop standalone applications, combining
content and software to build Beisen’s differentiated competitive advantage in the Al
era, such as Al coaching for both generic and role-specific competencies in critical
positions, Al recruitment assistant and Al learning assistant. Fully integrating and
leveraging Beisen’s over 20 years of expertise in people science, we will introduce
more Al Agents and Al features tailored to the actual needs of our clients across the
entire spectrum of HCM scenarios, including talent recruitment, talent cultivation,
talent development, employee services and performance management, and establish
an innovative talent management system where Al and human capital management
deeply converge and mutually drive each other’s advancement.

Beisen focuses on providing integrated and one-stop products and
comprehensive solutions to mid-sized and large-scale customers. We
are committed to continuously improving the integration of talent management
software and HCM Saa$S software to meet the full range of human resources needs
such as corporate organizational structure, recruitment, assessment, onboarding,
attendance, performance, compensation, training, talent inventory, leadership
development and organizational research, and provide integrated human resources
management cloud suite products with commercial value.

Deepen development in the industry and firmly follow the key account
strategy. Beisen adheres to implementing key account strategy and accumulating
the human resources operation experience of leading enterprises. Especially
in modules such as Core HCM and executive digitalization, we continue to
deepen our capabilities in group-wide and industry-specific human resources
scenarios, meeting the business needs of more corporates with over 10,000
employees. We will fully focus on key target industries such as new energy, high-
tech manufacturing and consumer retail chains, delivering in-depth services to
leading enterprises to establish industry benchmarks. By enhancing customer
acquisition efficiency and market penetration in these sectors, we aim to drive
the growth for HCM Saa$S sector. Promote the enhancement of the group-level
capabilities of HCM SaaS integrated products, comprehensively covering the core
business scenarios of target industries (internet, manufacturing and chain retail)
with multi-business support capabilities at the group level and enable the HCM
Saa$S integrated products to target large-scale customers with 60,000 employees.
Building upon universal features, further explore and develop industry-specific
functionalities for the HCM SaaS integrated software tailored to the internet, large-
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scale manufacturing, and retail chain sectors, enhance the workforce product
offerings for manufacturing and chain retail industries and solidify Beisen’s
differentiated competitive advantages in industry-specific solutions. As of 31
March 2025, nearly 140 large-scale customers with over 10,000 employees have
adopted our Core HCM solutions and performance products. In FY2026, through
cross-selling of various modules, we will further deepen the penetration of Core
HCM solutions among large-scale customers with over 10,000 employees.

Comprehensive Support for the Globalization of Chinese Corporates.
The wave of Chinese corporates venturing into overseas markets has arrived. The
globalization of Chinese corporates is transitioning from exporting products to
exporting production capacity and production chain. Beisen’s globalised HCM
SaaS will continue to apply digitally for overseas institutions, covering talent
acquisition, employee management, labor management, performance evaluation,
and training development, which will empower Chinese corporates to go beyond
borders. We will stay agile in meeting the new demands of Chinese corporates
going global and support more Chinese corporates in their overseas ventures.

Foster stable growth of the sales team and adopt a strategy of
business tiering and customer segmentation for focused efforts. The
sales team is shifting from a regional setup to a more province- and city-oriented
approach. We will develop effective marketing strategies for high-growth and high-
value customers to enhance customer quality and concentration and transfer the
renewal process for software clients with less than 2,000 users to the customer
success team, which enables the sales team to focus more on new customer
acquisition and improving overall sales efficiency. In terms of marketing, we will
continue to implement the Account-Based Marketing methodology to enhance
customer acquisition efficiency and funnel conversion.

In FY2026, Beisen will further diversify talent management business,
provide enterprises with premium and more diversified services and
design “1+2+N” comprehensive service system. We will continue to
provide clients with customized and end-to-end services in business scenarios
such as leadership training and simulation, key talent team development
(performance-driven talent building), specialized services for state-owned
enterprises (talent planning and technology talent team) and comprehensive
consulting (goal alignment and performance management, organizational design
and optimization and talent profiling that address clients’ business scenarios).
Meanwhile, Beisen will continue further explore the integrated service model
combining talent consulting services with HCM SaaS solutions, which is designed
to enhance clients’ operational efficiency. We remain committed to advancing Al-
powered consulting and transforming consulting outcomes into Al solutions and
strive to deliver more effective, high-quality and innovative products and services
for clients’ human resources business scenarios in the Al era.

Digitalization of executives and talents. We will continue to focus on
leading large enterprises and refine the application scenarios for digitalization
of executives and talents. We will continue to develop innovative intelligent Al-
powered role profiling and Al-driven talent selection capabilities and create
benchmark cases for leading enterprises. We will provide large enterprises with
best practices and tailored consulting services for digitalization of executives and
talents, leading the high-end digital talent management market.
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EEENWED T
8. In FY2026, Beisen’s customer success system will conduct in-depth

exploration in three aspects and continue to focus on improving
operational efficiency. By implementing the “Five Observations and Two
Assessments” (1 & "9 £8 &) approach in customer success management, we
aim to further improve overall service effectiveness. Building on the customer
success management team'’s responsibility for renewals in the previous fiscal
year, in FY2026, the customer success management system will be independently
responsible for comprehensive operation of some customers, including customer
service, contract renewal, cross-selling and customer relationship management.
We will continue to build a complete methodology for product crossover in base
product lines. Based on customer profiling, we focus on customers’ operational
requirements to develop methods and procedures that meet customers’ demand
and improve customers’ business value, thereby enhancing customer value and
Service experience.

Financial Review

Revenues

During the Reporting Period, we generated revenues from two sources, namely (i) cloud-
based HCM solutions, and (ii) professional services. Our total revenue was RMB945.1
million in the Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 10.6% (FY2024:
RMB854.7 million). The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues, in absolute
amounts and as percentages of total revenues, for the years indicated.
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For the year ended 31 March

BERINALEE
2025 2024 Change
20255 20245 )

RMB’000 % RMB'000 % %

AR®TT % AREFTT % %

Cloud-based HCM solutions  ZE 5 HCMER 32 75 22 721,826 76.4 632,227 74.0 14.2

Professional services BERY 223,250 23.6 222 514 26.0 0.3

Total A5t 945,076 100.0 854,741 100.0 10.6
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Cloud-based HCM solutions

We offer subscriptions to our cloud-based HCM solutions, and we derive revenues from
subscriptions fees that give customers access to our cloud-based HCM solutions. We
charge our customers fixed subscription fees at different prices for our cloud-based HCM
solutions, based on the size of their workforce and the specific solution that the customer
subscribes for.

Revenues generated from subscriptions to our cloud-based HCM solutions increased
by 14.2% from RMB632.2 million for FY2024 to RMB721.8 million for the Reporting
Period. The increase in revenues was attributable to acquisition of new customers and
increased subscription of our cloud-based HCM solutions by existing customers. We
achieved a subscription revenue retention rate of 106% for the Reporting Period. Our ARR
experienced a growth from RMB756.5 million as of 31 March 2024 to RMB908.3 million as
of 31 March 2025.

We refer to customers who subscribe to our Core HCM Integration along with at least one
of our other cloud-based HCM solutions as Core HCM Integration customers. Core HCM
integration has gained growing popularity among our customers due to its substantial
scalability and synergy benefits. ARR for our Core HCM Integration increased by 29%
from RMB386.9 million as of 31 March 2024 to RMB499.3 million as of 31 March 2025.
As of 31 March 2025, ARR for our Core HCM Integration accounted for 59%"# of our
total ARR. The total number of Core HCM Integration customers increased to nearly 2,300
cumulatively and we achieved a subscription revenue retention rate of 114% for our Core
HCM Integration.

Note:  The reported ARR percentage did not include ARR of Cool College.
Professional services

We generate revenues from providing on-demand professional services to our customers,
which primarily include implementation services and certain value-added services. We
typically charge our customers service fees based on a number of factors, including the
type of services selected by our customers, the number of our technical specialists staffed
on a given project, and the duration of our services.

Professional services revenues increased by 0.3% from RMB222.5 million for FY2024 to
RMB223.3 million for the Reporting Period.

Cost of Revenues

Our cost of revenues was RMB331.5 million for the Reporting Period (FY2024: RMB339.8
million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.4%. The decrease in cost of revenues
was primarily attributable to the decrease of share-based compensation. Our cost of
revenues after excluding the share-based compensation were RMB320.9 million (FY2024:
RMB307.8 million), the percentage of which as a percentage of revenue decreased from
36.0% for FY2024 to 34.0% % for the Reporting Period.
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Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our gross profit by offering type, in absolute
amounts and as percentages of their respective revenues, or gross margins, for the years
indicated.

EFREFE

TREFRARFERREBERBBE B RE
BEZBRANA D LB DWENHEFN AL -

For the year ended 31 March

HEANHLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244F

Gross Profit ~ Gross Margin Gross Profit Gross Margin Change
EX 1] EFfE EA ER=E 23
RMB’000 % RMB'000 % %
AR#®TT % AR®TT % %
Cloud-based HCM solutions 2= i HCMEE 7k 75 28 581,370 80.5 486,533 77.0 19.5
Professional services EERE 32,160 14.4 28,394 12.8 13.3
Total 4Bt 613,530 64.9 514,927 60.2 19.1

Gross margin for our cloud-based HCM solutions is typically higher than that for our
professional services. This is because our HCM solutions are cloud-based, standard
products that generate recurring subscription revenues with limited incremental costs.

Our overall gross profit amounted to RMB514.9 million and RMB613.5 million for FY2024
and the Reporting Period, respectively. Our overall gross margin increased from 60.2% for
FY2024 to 64.9% for the Reporting Period. After excluding the share-based compensation
and amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets, our adjusted gross profit (a non-
IFRS measure) increased from RMB546.9 million for FY2024 to RMB625.4 million for the
Reporting Period and our adjusted gross margin (a non-IFRS measure) increased from
64.0% for FY2024 to 66.2% for the Reporting Period.

Cloud-based HCM solutions. Gross profit for our cloud-based HCM solutions increased
from RMB486.5 million for FY2024 to RMB581.4 million for the Reporting Period. Gross
margin for our cloud-based HCM solutions increased from 77.0% for FY2024 to 80.5%
for the Reporting Period. After excluding the share-based compensation and amortization
of acquisition-related intangible assets, the adjusted gross profit (a non-IFRS measure)
for our cloud-based HCM solutions increased from RMB498.0 million for FY2024 to
RMB587.3 million for the Reporting Period and the adjusted gross margin (a non-IFRS
measure) for our cloud-based HCM solutions increased from 78.8% for FY2024 to 81.4%
for the Reporting Period.
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Professional services. Gross profit for our professional services increased from RMB28.4
million for FY2024 to RMB32.2 million for the Reporting Period. Gross margin for our
professional services increased from 12.8% for FY2024 to 14.4% for the Reporting Period.
After excluding the share-based compensation and amortization of acquisition-related
intangible assets, the adjusted gross profit (a non-IFRS measure) for our professional
services decreased from RMB48.9 million for FY2024 to RMB38.1 million for the
Reporting Period and the adjusted gross margin (a non-IFRS measure) for our professional
services decreased from 22.0% for FY2024 to 17.1% for the Reporting Period, primarily
due to the expansion of customer size, leading to a longer service and revenue recognition
cycle.

Our adjusted overall gross profit and adjusted gross margins for our cloud-based HCM
solutions increased for the Reporting Period primarily because of our efforts in improving
cost-efficiency through focusing on performance management.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses were RMB397.1 million for the Reporting Period
(FY2024: RMB437.8 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 9.3%. The decrease
in selling and marketing expenses was primarily because of the decrease of share-based
compensation. Our selling and marketing expenses after excluding the share-based
compensation were RMB365.7 million (FY2024: RMB344.1 million), the percentage of
which as a percentage of revenue decreased from 40.3% for FY2024 to 38.7% for the
Reporting Period.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses were RMB164.2 million for the Reporting
Period (FY2024: RMB184.9 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 11.2%. The
decrease in general and administrative expenses was primarily because of the decrease
of share-based compensation. Qur general and administrative expenses after excluding
the share-based compensation were RMB127.5 million (FY2024: RMB111.1 million), the
percentage of which as a percentage of revenue increase from 13.0% for FY2024 to 13.5%
for the Reporting Period.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses were RMB287.6 million for the Reporting Period
(FY2024: RMB350.9 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 18.0%. The
decrease in research and development expenses was primarily because of the decrease
of share-based compensation. Qur research and development expenses after excluding
the share-based compensation were RMB249.1 million (FY2024: RMB257.9 million),
the percentage of which as a percentage of revenue decreased from 30.2% for FY2024 to
26.4% for the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets and Contract Assets

Our net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets primarily relate to
impairment on trade receivables and contract assets. We determine the provision for
impairment of trade receivables and contract assets on a forward-looking basis and the
expected lifetime losses are recognized from initial recognition of the assets by credit risks
of our customers in accordance with IFRS 9.

We recorded net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets of RMB3.8
million and RMB5.1 million for FY2024 and the Reporting Period, respectively.

Other Income

Our other income consists primarily of (i) value-added tax refund relating to the sales of
our cloud-based HCM solutions granted by the PRC tax authorities as a way to provide tax
relief for companies; (i) government grants, representing financial assistance from local

governments in the PRC; (iii) additional deductible input tax; and (iv) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our other income for the years indicated.

CHEERSHEEREFRSNH

BN EREERANEEREBRFELIENS
SRR FERANEEREBR - HIIRATE LR
EHEE HRUWHRRANEERMERERE  MBEH
2HBEEARBEERMBHREEINFIRREFPH
SRR R EEETATERR T IARER o

HAIRNAF F R MEPRENEREELRENEE
BEBEFESEFSAREISESETRARKS
BET-

Htir A

TR B AN = 2 B ()P B EHE SRR R
BB YT % T ) £ 5 5 2P R ImHOMAR R 77 SR 48 RE
HIRETRET « ()EUF#B) - 57 Bl 77 BUF B ¢
HORA R B ¢ (i) RSN R FR R E TR R ¢ R (v)EL At o

TREIRPTREE AP E YA RRAD -

For the year ended 31 March

HEIANALEE
2025 2024 Change
2025 20244 b= D)
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
AR%TTT ARETIT %

Value added tax (“VAT") refund EERRB 45,885 42,389 8.2
Government grants IEgiSR G 27,291 27,501 (0.8)
Additional deductible input tax AT HEIER INET IR - 406 (100.0)
Others Hib 382 356 7.3
Total Bt 73,558 70,652 41
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

Other Gains, Net

Our other gains, net consist primarily of (i) net fair value gains on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss relating to our equity investments and investments in
structured deposits and fund management products; (i) net gains/(losses) on disposal of
property, plant and equipment; (iii) net foreign exchange losses; and (iv) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our other gains, net for the years indicated.

H i oy 22 9 #R

BPMEME R FREIZEE0RRMRERE R
ERBUETRRESERBERNREBENRAR
BEFABaNEREE 2 AR BERDFE (i)
HEME - BERRENH K (BE)IFE : (i
PEESIEFEE - R(v)EAb o

TREINA PR FER I E W F R o

For the year ended 31 March

HEIANALERE
2025 2024 Change
20255 20244 bk
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
AR®TT AREETF T %
Net fair value gains on financial assets at BEARnBEIABSNSE
fair value through profit or loss BEZAREBERZFE 24,005 7,562 2174
Net (losses)/gains on disposal of property, EEWE  BERKZELN
plant and equipment (F518),Wak F58 (87) 114 (176.3)
Net foreign exchange losses SNEE B 18 F 58 (2,989) (3,319) (9.9)
Others Hit (498) (2347) (78.8)
Total #Et 20,431 2,010 916.5
Finance Income, Net MBI SRE

Our finance income represents interest income from our bank deposits, and our finance
costs are comprised of interest expenses on our lease liabilities and interest expenses on
loan.

Our finance income, net decreased from RMBG6.5 million for FY2024 to RMB3.2 million for
the Reporting Period, primarily due to the decrease in interest income from bank deposits
of RMB4.0 million and the decrease in interest expenses on lease liabilities of RMBO0.9
million.

Fair Value Changes of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares

Our fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares arise primarily from
the changes in the carrying amount of our redeemable convertible preferred shares in
connection with the Pre-IPO Investments. Prior to the Global Offering, such redeemable
convertible preferred shares have not been traded in an active market and their value at
each respective reporting date is determined using valuation techniques. Our Directors
have used the discounted cash flow method to determine the underlying equity value of
our Company, and adopted equity allocation model to determine the fair value of such
redeemable convertible preferred shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

For FY2024, we had fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares of
RMB2,810.8 million, as a result of changes in the valuation of our Company. After the
completion of the Global Offering, all of such redeemable convertible preferred shares have
been automatically converted to our Shares, and we will no longer recognize any further
change in fair value liabilities in respect of them. The fair value of each of redeemable
convertible preferred share on the conversion date is the offer price in the Global Offering.

Loss before Income Tax

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded loss before income tax of RMB3,194.1 million
and RMB143.3 million for FY2024 and the Reporting Period, respectively.

Income Tax Expense

We recorded income tax expense of RMB4.1 million for the Reporting Period, as compared
to income tax expense of RMB14.5 million for FY2024.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded loss of RMB3,208.6 million and RMB147.4
million for FY2024 and the Reporting Period, respectively.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that are presented in accordance with
IFRS, we also use non-IFRS measures such as adjusted gross profit, adjusted net loss and
adjusted EBITDA as additional financial measures, which are not required by, or presented
in accordance with, IFRS. We believe that these non-IFRS measures facilitates comparisons
of operating performance from period to period and company to company. We believe that
these measures provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and
evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help our
management. However, our presentation of the adjusted gross profit, adjusted net loss and
adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other
companies. The use of the non-IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and
you should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, our results of
operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS.

We define adjusted net loss as loss for the year adjusted by adding back share-based
payments, fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares, amortization of
acquisition-related intangible assets and relevant tax impact. We define adjusted gross
profit as gross profit adjusted by adding back share-based payments included in cost of
revenues and amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets. We define adjusted
EBITDA as loss for the year adjusted by adding back share-based payments, fair value
changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares, depreciation and amortisation charge,
interest expenses, amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets and income tax.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

The following table reconciles our adjusted gross profit (a non-IFRS measure), adjusted
net loss (a non-IFRS measure) and adjusted EBITDA (a non-IFRS measure) for the years
presented to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in
accordance with IFRS, for the years indicated.

TREIRPAIRERENKFHBERN GERIERM B H
SEAGE)  KABBEFECEERMFEREE
A5 E8) R A& S EEEBITDACGE B R 81 7% s &5 E AU FH )
HREERMBRELENFER2INZER AL
B ENHEK -

For the year ended 31 March

HEANALEE
2025 2024 Change
20255 20244F g
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AR®TT ARETR %
Gross profit E7 613,530 514,927 19.1
Add: hn
Share-based payments included in T ASHER AR B AR (D BERRE
cost of revenues E 10,667 31,971 (66.6)
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets Ut B AR B 4 T A AR B 1,180 - -
Adjusted gross profit EARER
(a non-IFRS measure) (EERBHREENFE) 625,377 546,898 143
Loss for the year EREBR (147,406) (3,208,587 (95.4)
Add: hn
Share-based payments PR BERER 3R 117,302 292,380 (59.9)
Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets ~ WIEMRBER EEHE K
and relevant tax impact BERBTE 1,003 - -
Fair value changes of redeemable convertible AEE A ERELRNARER
preferred shares g - 2,810,841 (100.0)
Adjusted net loss BHEEGR2HE
(a non-IFRS measure) (FEBRMBREENHE) (29,101) (105,366) (72.4)
Add: o
Depreciation and amortisation charge FEREHER 52,482 58,562 (10.4)
Interest expenses B 1,250 2,019 (38.1)
Income tax expense FTiERiA X 4,287 14,474 (70.4)
Adjusted EBITDA EAEEBITDAGEE BB R E
(a non-IFRS measure) EREE) 28,918 (30,311) (195.4)
Notes: Btaz
1, Share-based payments relates to the share rewards we offered to our employees, which is 1, VARR 19 7% B8 1) < SR B B P 1) R B 1R R 9 AR 1 82
a non-cash expense. BEM - RIERESER -
2. Fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares arise primarily from 2. AEEABRELRNAAEBEZHETERERK

the changes in the carrying amount of our redeemable convertible preferred shares
in connection with the Pre-IPO Investments. These fair value changes are non-cash
in nature. After the completion of the Global Offering, such redeemable convertible
preferred shares were automatically converted into ordinary shares of our Company and
one-off change in fair value of RMB2,810.8 million was recorded. No further fair value
changes will be recognised thereafter.

ZECNF/I SR CRF FERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have historically funded our cash requirements principally from cash generated from
our business operations and shareholder equity contributions. To manage the liquidity
risk, we monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
our senior management to finance our operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Term Deposits

We had cash and cash equivalents of RMB478.9 million as of 31 March 2025, as
compared to RMB234.1 million as of 31 March 2024, respectively. As of 31 March
2025, we had unutilized banking facilities of RMB70.0 million. Most of the cash and
cash equivalents of the Group were denominated in Renminbi and U.S. dollars. The term
deposits of the Group were denominated in Renminbi.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets and then
multiplying by 100%. As of 31 March 2025, the Group’s gearing ratio was 47.2% as
compared with the gearing ratio of 39.4% as of 31 March 2024. The increase in the
gearing ratio was primarily due to the increase of contract liabilities and the increase of
salary and welfare payable.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the Group operated in China and the majority of the
transactions were settled in Renminbi, which is also the functional currency of the
Company’s primary consolidated affiliated entities. As of 31 March 2025, the Group did
not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations.

The Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policies. The management

of the Company will continue to pay attention to the Group’s foreign exchange exposure
and consider adopting prudent measures as appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2025, we did not have any material contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

We mainly have capital commitments with respect to purchase of fixed assets, intangible
assets and office renovation. Capital expenditure contracted for as of 31 March 2024 and
2025 but not recognized as liabilities were as follows:

BERiE

HMFEI2EBERTEE BEEERNIAE
BT A BB & AR o B R 20244 K 20253 H31H
ERNERMAERASBENEARRAT

As of 31 March

#E3A3A
2025 2024 Change
2025 2004%F ”

RMB’000 RMB'000 %

AR¥TT ARBT T %

Within 1 year 1FR 117 3,455 (96.6)

FINANCIAL RISKS DISCLOSURE & 0 R B 1 5B

Our activities expose us to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk ~ FFINEB AT ZSESBAR : INERK - EER

and liquidity risk. Our overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on our financial
performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by our Board. The management
identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with our operating units.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through transactions with external parties,
which give rise to other payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily HK$ and RMB. The
Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the Reporting Period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the spot rates at the end
of the Reporting Period. Differences resulting from the translation of financial statements of
operation with a functional currency other than RMB into the Group’s presentation currency
are excluded.

TRAMRNEERRERREATAERINEER
Mohz ERFHENCHREEXREMEENER
R\ o RETTHIR - B A b SRR A B R
HiERME - LARKIIR - TEEBEEGUARE
PONHBEE Bt ENM B RRBEEAKEZE
KEHMERE -

At 31 March 2025

#202553A31H
HK$ RMB
#TT AR
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents HehBEeEEY 3,507 1,870
Other payables and accruals HMERIERETER (268) (3,151)
Gross exposure arising from ERREERBGBEEENRRBRE

recognised assets and liabilities 3,239 (1,281)

At 31 March 2024

#2024 3A31H
HK$ RMB
BT ARHE
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 3,199 1,089
Intra-group loan receivable due from a subsidiary FEU —FEIFT B A B SR BIE B 3K - 42,560
Gross exposure arising from EEREERBEELNRER L

recognised assets and liabilities 3,199 43,649

32  Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2024/2025



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss before income
tax that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the Reporting Period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
HK$ and USD would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the
USD against other currencies.

RBEEDH

TRINBRABEMEREREZTE - AEE
REHREERNEMEENEAR R H A EE
RAENABREELENIKESY -skms ER

88 7T BT A 4 FE

EBNEEBNDINEATE -

=
g%E

MEARI2TT 3 E Al

2025 2024
20255 20244

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease)

Increase/ in loss after Increase/ in loss after

(decrease) tax and (decrease) tax and

in foreign accumulated in foreign accumulated

exchange rates losses exchange rates losses

BRR&EGRER R At 12 B 18 S

SPEEE RitEBR SN [ & ZEtEE

E7(FE) 8/, (#d) EACTBE) g/ Chd)

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AR®EF T
HK$ BT 5% (162) 5% (160)
-5% 162 -5% 160
RMB AR 5% 64 5% (2,182)
-5% (64) -5% 2,182

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and accumulated losses
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the end of the Reporting Period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the Reporting Period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk primarily in relation to its cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, term deposits as well as trade receivables, other receivables and contract
assets. The carrying amounts of each class of the above financial assets represent our
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

(i)

(if)

34

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits, we only transact with stated-owned financial institutions in the PRC or
reputable banks and financial institutions having high-credit-quality in the PRC
and Hong Kong. There has been no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions. The expected credit loss is immaterial.

Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets

We have policies in place to ensure that trade receivables with credit terms are
made to counter-parties with an appropriate credit history and the management
performs ongoing credit evaluations of the counterparties. We make periodic
collective assessments or individual assessment as appropriate on the
recoverability of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets based on
historical settlement records, past experience, current conditions and our view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of trade receivables, other receivables
and contract assets. The main exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting dates is
the carrying value of the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as 12-month expected credit losses
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery,
such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with us. Where financial
assets and contracts have been written off, we continue to engage in activities
to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are
recognized in profit or loss.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWEDN

Liquidity risk

We aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, our policy is to regularly monitor our liquidity risk and to maintain
adequate cash and cash equivalents to meet our liquidity requirements.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities (or the earliest date a
financial liability may become payable in the absence of a fixed maturity date) at the
balance sheet date of our financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash

flows:

i gAY

AEBEBINEREHANREMBEEFEY - AR
HEEBAEREE  AEENBRSEMERK

SENRPEZRRYEFTEHNEREE LIRS FE
MARBAEBHNRDHESCHER -

TRIITRAEEEHBEEEREBRAERED
APERBSREBOFHRE HHR (RAEEETEDH
BRERATERBENRENNRFERE)

Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and Over 5
1year 2 years 5 years years Total
DIME 15 2E5E SELLE i
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFR ARBFT AREFTL AREFT
As at 31 March 2024 1#2024%3R318
Trade payables EU AN 2,564 - - - 2,564
Other payables and accruals HERFERETER (TR
(excluding salary and welfare ERMAHEREH - B A
payable, accrual for other taxes) tHE) 13,74 - - - 13,741
Lease liabilities HEBE 22,492 674 80 - 23,246
38,797 674 80 - 39,551
As at 31 March 2025 1#2025%3A 310
Trade payables BV AR 4,823 - - - 4,823
Other payables and accruals EENHERESER (TR
(excluding salary and welfare ERAHESREM  ErE
payable, accrual for other taxes) tHE) 30,886 - - - 30,886
Lease liabilities HEBE 17,089 14,676 5,983 - 37,748
52,798 14,676 5,983 - 73,457
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 March 2025, we did not pledge any of our assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS

As of 31 March 2025, save as disclosed in this report, we did not hold any significant
investments (including any investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more
of the Group’s total assets as of 31 March 2025).

(a)

36

Wealth management products

The financial assets that we invested mainly include investments in wealth
management products. Save for the purchases of the wealth management products
announced by the Company on 20 May 2024, 26 September 2024, 15 October
2024, 9 December 2024, 25 February 2025 and 31 March 2025, the wealth
management products subscribed by the Group during the Reporting Period did
not constitute notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had subscribed for certain wealth
management products. The exact returns on all of these wealth management
products are not guaranteed, hence their contractual cash flow do not qualify for
solely payments of principal and interests. Therefore, they are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. As at 31 March 2025, the aggregated outstanding
principal amount of the Group’s wealth management products was RMB983.7
million, and the wealth management products (measured at fair value through
profit or loss) as a percentage to the Group’s total asset was 49.8%. As at 31
March 2025, the outstanding principal amount of certain wealth management
products subscribed by the Group from Bank of China was RMB260.0 million, and
the fair value of which was RMB261.4 million, accounted for 13.2% of the Group’s
total assets. The expected return rate for these products from Bank of China was
0.65% to 2.57%. As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding principal amount of certain
wealth management products subscribed by the Group from Xiamen International
Bank Co., Ltd was RMB120.0 million, and the fair value of which was RMB120.2
million, accounted for 6.0% of the Group’s total assets. The expected return rate
for these products from Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd was 1.4% t0 2.7%. As
at 31 March 2025, the outstanding principal amount of certain wealth management
products subscribed by the Group from Haitong International Asset Management
(HK) Limited was RMB353.7 million, and the fair value of which was RMB358.7
million, accounted for 18.1% of the Group’s total assets. The expected return rate
at the time of subscriptions for these products from Haitong International Asset
Management (HK) Limited was 3.41% to 4.7%. Save as disclosed above, as at
31 March 2025, there were no other outstanding wealth management products
(in aggregate) subscribed from any single licensed bank that exceed 5% of the
Group’s total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

The following outstanding wealth management products (in aggregate) subscribed
from each of the licensed banks had a percentage of over 5% to the Group’s total

B FE2025F3A3E - ZFFRRITABBRAT
HAREE B ER (B HAKEREE

assets as of 31 March 2025 respectively: 9 LE 51 25 E8 385% -
Fair valug and relative
size o the Group's
Principal amount Expected Hotal assets as of
Subscription Date ~ Maturity Date Name of Product Name of Bank ofsubseription  Type of product and risk rafing refurn rate  Investment scape of product 31 March 2025
BENSEIRIAN
L MREREHR
4 L it ife] ) Engh #freh k828 EREIRARAR fkaE ERREERE FREUEENAE
28-S 4l B Stuced Dt Benk ofChina RBTO.0milion - Principa-quaranteed 11248% - EURUSD exchange e RBT0.3 millon: 36%
Wih guarateed minimum reum
WUEIARE  HBE4AR NRBERERR e NREMEET RERRENE 1H04% BTiETER ARENY
AET:30%
1llor-24 102> B Stucved Depost Benk ofChina RBE0.0 million Principa-quaranteed 07%257% - USDIPN exchange e RVBE0.5 millon; 26%
Wih guarateed minimum reum
WUENEBE  HBENARE NRBERERR LG NREWEET RERRENE 0THRsT £ AEER AR5
BET: 6%
AHar25 180 RV Stuctued Depost Barkof China RNB30.0millonPrincipa-quaranised 065%/2.49% - USDICAD exchange e RNB30.0 mllon; 1.5%
Wih guarateed minimum reum
WBEIRNA ABENANA AREEENER RERN ARENEER RERSE4E 065%04% ETANTEX AR
BET 15
-5 B8 AV Stuctued Depost Barkof China RSO0 millionPrincipa-quaranised 085%/256% - USDICHF exchenge e RSO0 millon; 25%
Wi queranteed minimum etum
WHERTE NHEAXRA AREEENER RERN ARENEER RERSENE 06505 ETARTABER AR
BET 5%
gt fFe-26 AV Structued Depost Barkof China RMBG0.0 millon  Principal-quaranteed OTER4/242% - EURNUSD exchange rele RMBG0.0 milion; 3.0%
Wi queranteed minimum fetum
WBEIRBE WKEIASA ARESENER RERN AREEER RERSENE 004 ETiETEX AR
BET 30
W-anh Brhor2h Corporate tuctre Depost Poduct Xiemen nermafonelBankCo, —~ RMB200 milon  Princpal-guarened T4%245%  EURIUSD exchange rele RNB20.1 o 10%
(Tyoe Ao rea-ntevals pagged L Wi queranteed minimum fetum 255%
Bichange rae)
WHEIARE  ABEIABA DAEELERER(BNE ERERRORGER ARMNIEER RAREENE 10046 EiEnER ARED
EZERRL) " 255% BET 10
Piatigh) §lay-25 Corporate Stuctre Depost Product Xiamen ntemafonel Bk RMBS0.0 millon  Principal-quaranteed 14%24%  EURUSD exchange rfp RNBE0.1 milion; 25%
(Tyoe Ao rea-ntevals pagged (o, Lto Withguareteed minimum reum 25
Bichange ra)
WSEL AR WsEARA DAEENERER(BNE ERERRORGER ARMNIEER RAREENE 1R5% ETiETES NRER
EZERRL) 27 BET 5
WMlar-25 IHun-2 Corporate Stuctre Depost Product  Xiamen ntematonel Bk RMBS0.0 millon  Principal-quaranteed T4%24%  EURUSD exchange rfp RNB50.0 milion; 25%
(Tyoe Ao rea-rtevals pagged (o, Lto Wihguareteed minimum rgum T
Bichange ra)
WSEIABA ABESRYA DAEELERER(BNE ERERRORGER ARMNIEER REREENE 1R BTiETES ARE0
EZERRL) 27 BET 5%
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Fair valug and relative
size o the Group's
Principal amount Expected fotal assets as of
Subscription Date ~ Maturity Date Name of Product Name of Bank of ubscription  Type of product and risk afing refum rate  Investment scope of product 31 March 2025
BENSEIRYAN
1 MRERRHR
AL it EREh e 008 EREIRERER flhaE ERREEE FRAURENAE
-4 redeematte fistbusiness  Hatong Gash Management Fund 1. P, Haltong rematone Assl RBB43millon Non-prncial 345% - Ivest nshor-em bonds, cashand deposisand —— RMBBG.3 millon; 4%
Gayofech month (Class AUSD) Menagement (H) Limied Queranieedwith variabe reum ofher cash management nsruments inlucing
C2sh management funds
s HNERE-REEAE HigCh NagementFind | SREBAEEE(FH) AREMIEET HREZEMG 3% RENEEES BEERNRAME AEE$3
6AA o SPNEZTT) ERAA SERIE BERSERES RET A%
15004 redeem ak any usines day Hatong US Dol Money Merket Fund  Haltong rematone Assl B35 I millon Non-prncial AT0% - Ivest nshor-em deposts and igh-Qualy VB3G5 millon; 19%
(ClessBUSD) Meragement () Limied Quataneed with vrgble reum morey maret insruments, including ut ot
(e o bonds,notes and cetifcals of epost
enominaed or setedin USD with a mimum
melurty of 397 days (2 years forgovernment
f0nds or ofher public bonds)
W WMEEEZREE  SRETENTRES BRARAZEE(RE) \RBKGEET #RLEEME % RERESFIREEEETAIA N3R5
10A15A (BET) ARAT PERTRANETHESEENE BB 1%
5 ZEREE SRERAWK
Firddb AR BE)
16004 redeemat e fistbusness Hatong Gash Management Fund | . P, Hallong rematonel Assl RBT1 8 millon Non-prncipal 341% - Ivest nshort-em bonds, cashand deposisand —— RMBTLT millon;37%
Gayofeach month (Class AUSD) Menagement (H) Limied Queranteed vt variable reum Ofher cash management nsruments incluing
cash management unds
M HEAE-BEXAR talgCuhMegmertingl  EREREEER (%) \RENIEET FRIFAME M RENEEES RLERRRAMR AEET
104168 g SPNEETT) ARAT SENIA AERCERES BER 3T
$Dec-24 redeem ttefistbusness Hatong Gash Management Fund | . P, Hatong remafonel Asst R0 8 millon Non-prncial 341%  Ivest nshor-em bonds, cashand deposisand —— RMBS1 S millon;46%
Gayofach month (Cless AUSD) Management (H) Limied Queranteedwith variabe reum ofher cash management nsruments including
ash margement unds
e NEAE-BEZAR talooCuhMergement gl EREREEER (%) \RENSEET FRIFEME M RENERES RLERRRAMR MR8
12498 o SPNEETT) ERAE SENIA AERCERES BET 6%
13Dec-4 redeem ttefistbusness Haftong Gash Menagement Fund | . P, Hatong rematonel Asset RBTO8millon Non-prncial 341%  Ivest nshor-em honds, cashand deposisand —— RMBT1 A millon; 36%
Gayofach month (Cless AUSD) Management (H) Limied Queanteed vt variabe reum e cash management insruments ncluding
cash management funds
W RNERE-REER i Nenpmentiind] SR ELAEEHE(57) MR FREEENE M RENEEE: ALERIRELR ARENS
1ANKA L SPNEETT) BRAT N8BET SERIA AEREERES BET 6%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

The Company's investment strategy related to these wealth management products
focuses on minimizing the financial risks by reasonably and conservatively
matching the maturities of the investment portfolio to anticipated operating
cash needs, while generating desirable investment returns for the benefits of
the Company. In order to effectively manage the idle cash of the Company, the
Company will invest in short-term wealth management products that can provide
better return than that of current saving or fixed deposit of comparable maturity
period generally offered by commercial banks in the PRC, with the view to gain a
more attractive return. The risk profiles of these wealth management products are
low in nature, typically comprise underlying assets with high liquidity and market
credit rating, including gold, sovereign bonds, inter-bank deposits, bond funds and
other money market instruments denominated in RMB/USD/HKD or other major
foreign currencies. The minimum holding periods of these wealth management
products range from redeemable on demand to 12 months.

The Board has authorised the purchase of wealth management products with
medium-low risk or below. The characteristics of such products mean the
probability of capital loss should be relatively low and returns are generally stable.
During the Reporting Period, all the products subscribed by the Group aligned with
the Company’s risk tolerance and investment objectives as approved by the Board.

The Company has also established a set of internal risk management policies to
monitor and control the investment risks associated with these wealth management
products. The Company primarily invests in wealth management products issued
and/or guaranteed by reputable licensed banks or financial institutions with
relatively low risks. The finance department, headed by the chief financial officer,
is responsible for overseeing the Group’s investment portfolio. It will (i) keep
track of the maturity date of each wealth management product and the Company’s
maximum exposure with each issuer of the wealth management products on an
on-going basis to achieve risk diversification; and (ii) request account statements
from the issuers on a quarterly basis at least to monitor the return of such wealth
management products.

The Company will make investment decisions related to wealth management
products on a case-by-case basis after thoroughly considering a number of
factors, including but not limited to macro-economic environment, general
market conditions, risk control and credit rating of the issuers, its own working
capital conditions, and the expected profit or potential loss of such investments.
Specifically, the finance department will identify potential investment targets
based on, among other things, (i) the balance of the Company’s cash surplus, (ii)
short-to-medium term working capital needs, and (iii) recommendations from
the Company’s relationship and account managers at reputable banks or financial
institutions. The Company may early redeem or decide not to renew the investment
if there is risk of over-concentration, or when the level of return is lower than the
expected level.
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(b)  Acquisition of Kuxuan (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 14 January
2025, 5 February 2025, 22 April 2025 and 15 May 2025 (the “Announcements”).
Unless otherwise specified, capitalized terms used herein shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Announcements. On 14 January 2025, the
Onshore Holdco, Kuxuan (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd.* (B8 (4t ) Rl %
& BR 2 7)) (the “Target Company”) and the Vendors entered into the Equity
Transfer Agreement, pursuant to which the Onshore Holdco has conditionally
agreed to acquire and the Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell the
entire equity interest in the Target Company at an aggregate consideration of
RMB180,000,000. For details, please refer to the Announcements. On the same
day, the Company and the Share Exchange Vendors entered into the BVI Share
Subscription Agreement and the Offshore Share Purchase Agreement (both of
which were amended on 22 April 2025). Pursuant to the agreements, the Share
Exchange Vendors will first subscribe 99% (on as-diluted basis) of the share
capital of the BVI Company at the aggregate consideration of RMB127,583,905 and
then the Company will purchase 99% of the share capital of the BVI Company from
the Share Exchange Vendors by allotting and issuing a maximum of 34,761,638
Shares to the Share Exchange Vendors (the “Concurrent Share Transaction”).
Since 22 January 2025, the Target Company is wholly-owned by the Group and its
financial results are consolidated in the Company’s financial accounts. As of the
date of this report, the Concurrent Share Transaction has not yet been completed.
The Share Exchange Vendors are expected to obtain the ODI Approval by the end of
October 2025. Save as disclosed, there were no material acquisitions, disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As of 31 March 2025, the Group did not have plans for material investments and capital
assets.

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 March 2025, we had 1,898 (31 March 2024: 1,854) employees in total. For
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s total staff costs amounted to approximately
RMB958.2 million, including salaries, wages, bonuses, share-based compensation,
pension costs, other social security costs, housing benefits and other employee benefits.
The Group continued to optimize the incentive-based system in line with business
development needs and implemented remuneration policies with competitiveness.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and incentivize qualified personnel.
We provide various incentives and benefits for our employees. We offer competitive
salaries, bonuses and share-based compensation to our employees, especially key
employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFNWEDN

The Group believes that it is vital to attract, recruit and retain quality employees. To
maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of the Group’s workforce, the Group
provides the employees with periodic training, including introductory training for new
employees, technical training, professional and management training and health and safety
training. The Group believes that it maintains a good relationship with its employees and
the Group did not experience any significant labor disputes or any difficulty in recruiting
staff for its operations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 22 April 2025, the Company, HRTech Holding Limited and the Share Exchange Vendors
(as defined in the Announcements) entered into a supplemental BVI share subscription
agreement and a supplemental offshare share purchase agreement (together, the
“Supplemental Share Exchange Agreements”) to enable the Company to exercise
control over the Target Company through equity ownership. On 24 April 2025, the transfer
of the entire equity interests in the Target Company to Tianjin Beisen Cloud Information
Technology Co., Ltd* (K2 4L FRE 15 B £ i1 B R 2 7) and the business
registration process as required under the applicable PRC laws has been completed. The
second instalment of the Cash Consideration (as defined in the Announcements) was paid
by the Company on 25 April 2025. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 22 April 2025 and 15 May 2025.

Save as disclosed above, The Company is not aware of any material subsequent events
after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFHEEREER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Zhaohui (E S/ 0E)

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (& #88%), aged 50, the co-founder of our Group, has been serving as
an executive Director and the chairman of the Board of our Company since 6 April 2018.
He is primarily responsible for overall strategic planning and presiding over the Board
affairs. Concurrently, Mr. Wang holds various directorships and management positions
in our subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entity and details are set out in the table
below:

EF
RITES
EmEE

TR A - 505k  ARBE A AIIE A - 8201854
HORBEEARBARTESERESTSLIFE T8
BEEREBRIANIFEZTSES - TRENM
BRAGAMBERRTIZEAEEBHE L EER
i FBEHN TR

Name of our Subsidiary and
Consolidated Affiliated Entity

Directorship and/or
Management Position

Date of Appointment

MELARRGAHREEREE EENER REERM =EAH
Onshore Holdco Manager 5 November 2020
HRIERR A A FEgES 202011 A5H
Chairman of the board of directors 5 January 2011
BEEEXE 201141 A5H
Beijing WFOE Executive director and manager 5 November 2020
RN ERE HITESRLE 2020F 11 A5H
Chengdu WFOE Executive director and manager 19 November 2020
EREINEBERE HITESHRKE 202011 A198

Mr. Wang has nearly 22 years of experience in the HCM industry and corporate
management in China. Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Wang served as the general
manager in Beijing Beisen Shengshi Technology Development Co., Ltd. (3t 7 3k #R &%
7} 5 %% & 5 IR 2 7)) (“Beisen Shengshi”), a company primarily engaged in
talent evaluation, where he was responsible for the overall management of the company,
from March 2002 to April 2005. Beisen Shengshi was subsequently deregistered on 30
June 2006 and was solvent at the time of its deregistration. He also served in Beisen
Shengya, a former subsidiary of the Group which is primarily engaged in career solution
for universities, as the general manager from July 2016 to June 2021 and an executive
director from April 2009 to September 2021, where he was responsible for the overall
management of the company.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering from North China Institute
of Technology (Z£4t T 2B, currently known as North University of China (7 46 X £2))
in the PRC in July 1997.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEHSREEE

Mr. Ji Weiguo ({2 £ )

Mr. Ji Weiguo (4212 E), aged 51, the co-founder of our Group, has been serving as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of our Company since 6 April 2018. He
is primarily responsible for overall strategic planning, as well as the overall research and
development of our Company. Mr. Ji has served as the executive director of Chengdu
WFOE from 3 January 2019 to 18 November 2020. Concurrently, Mr. Ji holds various
directorships and management positions in our subsidiaries and Gonsolidated Affiliated
Entity, and details are set out in the table below:

iCEEEE

MERLAE 5K ASEBS AR A - 8201854
A6ERETARARNITESRITRER  =Z8
EANFEEEMAEUREBMETIE - LEE
72019451 B3H Z20204-11 B 188 &I X oM i 38 &
TENRITER - LEERWBRRARGEABEE
RRIZEESHEREERM  FHEAN TR

Name of our Subsidiary and Consolidated Directorship and/or

Affiliated Entity Management Position Date of Appointment
MEARRGEAREERSE EERER HEERM =AM

Onshore Holdco Executive director 17 May 2005
BRER AT WITEE 20055 /31785
Sendou Shanghai Executive director 3 July 2019
RELE WITES 201957 A3H

Mr. Ji has nearly 22 years of experience in the HCM industry in China. Prior to founding
our Group, Mr. Ji has worked together with Mr. Wang, our Co-founder, at Beisen Shengshi
from December 2002 to April 2005, where he served as the product manager and was
responsible for management of product research and development.

Mr. Ji obtained his bachelor’s degree in mechanical design and manufacturing in
Zhengzhou College of Light Industry (25N % T 22 E2B5T, currently known as Zhengzhou
University of Light Industry (/N &% T 2% X £2)) in the PRC in July 1997 and received
a master's degree of business administration in international management from Shanghai
International MBA program, which was offered through a partnership between Tongji
University (/]2 A £2) in the PRC and Ecole nationale des ponts et chaussées in France
in October 2004.
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Ms. Liu Xianna (21 & %)

Ms. Liu Xianna (£ 2 #F), aged 51, has been serving as an executive Director and
the chief financial officer of our Company since 31 December 2021 and 1 May 2021,
respectively. She was appointed as a joint company secretary on 31 December 2021,
Ms. Liu joined our Group on 1 November 2018 as the vice president of finance of the
Onshore Holdco. Concurrently, Ms. Liu has been serving as an executive director of
Onshore Holdco since 18 June 2021. She is primarily responsible for the financial, legal,
commercial and government affairs of the Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Liu served as the financial manager in Emerson Process
Management (Tianjin) Valves Co., Ltd. (X BA A BREEIE (K 2) WPIER A 7)),
a company primarily focusing on automation solution with highly reliable flow control
technologies, where she was responsible for the overall management of the factory's
financial affairs, until October 2009. From November 2009 to June 2012, she served as
the financial manager in Cabot Chemical (Tianjin) Company Ltd. (R 45k T (X
) A R A 7)), a company primarily engaged in specialty chemicals and performance
materials manufacturing, where she was responsible for the overall financial affairs in
Tianjin Factory. After that, she worked in Cabot (China) Co., Ltd. (R 1845 (Fh ) 3% &
A PR /2 |)) as the financial director in Greater China, a company headquartered in Boston
primarily engaged in overall management of all specialty chemicals and performance
materials manufacturing sites and trading companies in mainland China, where she was
responsible for the overall financial affairs in Mainland China and Hong Kong as a director
of Greater China. From March 2015 to October 2018, she served as the financial director
in Amazon (China) Holding Company Limited (32 B #% (P Bl) & & BR A 7)), a
company primarily engaged in online shopping and AWS business in China, where she
took in charge of the financial affairs of logistics division of Amazon in China. She has
been serving as the visiting professor of Tianjin University of Finance & Economics (X
VB 48 K E2) since May 2014 and the off campus advisor of University of International
Business and Economics (¥ 4N K 75 B 5 K £2) since September 2019.

Ms. Liu received a bachelor's degree in accounting from Tianjin University of Commerce
(R % A E) in the PRC in July 1997 and received a master's degree of business
administration from California American University in the United States in July 2002. She
was admitted as a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in the United Kingdom, Institute of Public Accountants in the Australia and Institute of
Financial Accountants in the United Kingdom in March 2010, January 2017 and January
2017 respectively. She was qualified to act as the independent non-executive director of
companies listed on The Science and Technology Innovation Board and Main Board by
Shanghai Stock Exchange (= /& 35 %7 22 5 FfT) and Shenzhen Stock Exchange (% 3l 75
%22 % FT) in July 2019. She was evaluated as the Senior Financial Management Talent
(B 75 & 12 = ) A A7) by Enterprise Financial Management Association of China (1
B {b 2 B 75 B 32 1% 2) in October 2020. She has been admitted as an internal affiliate
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (& /& & &t Al 2 &) on 23
February 2022.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Du Kui (1)

Mr. Du Kui (£ 2%), aged 61, has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company on 30 March 2023. He is primarily responsible for supervising
and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Du served as the president in Beijing Renzhongren
Expansion Training Co., Ltd. (3t ;2 A R A Fa & 5 Bk & R 2 &), a nationwide
training enterprise focusing on experiential learning technology, where he was responsible
for management and business operation of the company, since December 2000. He then
served as the general director in China Youth Association for Economic development (4
EFEIERE D), an institution primarily engaged in promoting the development
of the market economy and the progress of youth, and an authorized principal of legal
representative in Ying Charity Foundation (& A 2 £ € &), an institution primarily
engaged in supporting youth entrepreneurship, since January 2013. Currently, he has been
serving as the chief counsel in Renhezhengdao Management Consulting (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
(ABEBEEFER (UL R) BBR A a]), aconsulting firm primarily engaged in
corporation training, where he was responsible for strategy planning and clients training,
since September 2013. He was a non-executive Director in Keen Offshore Engineering Co.,
Ltd. (B S MR8+ T2 A% 1D B BR /A 71), a marine engineering company engaged
in integrating research, development, design, manufacturing and offshore construction,
from May 2016 to December 2024.

Mr. Du received a bachelor's degree in education from Beijing Normal University (1t
7 AN 3 K 22) in the PRC in June 1985. He also received a master's degree of public
administration and management from University of Antwerp in the Kingdom of Belgium in
October 1994.

Mr. Zhao Honggiang (#8 %= 58)
Mr. Zhao Hongqiang (if& 7= 5&), aged 48, has been appointed as an independent non-

executive Director of our Company on 30 March 2023. He is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.
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Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhao worked in KPMG LLP, a global accounting firm
providing audit, tax and advisory services, in the United States from August 2001 to
February 2009, with the most recent position being Audit Manager. He also previously held
the position of assistant chief auditor at the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board,
a regulatory oversight agency under the SEC. Mr. Zhao also served as vice president
of finance at SouFun Holdings Limited (currently known as Fang Holdings Limited), a
leading real estate internet portal in China listed on New York Stock Exchange (stock code:
SFUN) from May 2013 to August 2014. Moreover, he served as the chief financial officer
of Beijing Branch of Lede Technology Co., Ltd (2475 &H AR A &1, currently known as
NetEase Lede Technology Co., Ltd (48 5 €415 £ A R 2 7)), a company primarily
engaged in online virtual trading, from October 2014 to October 2015. He also served as
the chief financial officer and executive director of Bairong Inc. (& &k 2 &), a leading
independent Al-powered technology platform in China serving the financial services
industry listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 6608), from June 2018 to May
2023, where he was responsible for financial strategy, financial management and investor
relations. Mr. Zhao currently holds several directorships in several public companies,
including:

o HUYA Inc., a leading China-based game live streaming company listed on New
York Stock Exchange (stock code: HUYA), where he has served as its independent
director since May 2018;

° Li Auto, Inc. (F2 28 /3 =), an innovator in China's new energy vehicle market
listed on Nasdag Stock Exchange (stock code: LI) and Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2015), where he has served as its independent director and is
responsible for providing independent opinion and judgement to the board of
directors since July 2020;

o Gogox Holdings Limited (R 93T B 42 §% A BR 22 &), a major online intra-city
logistics platform in Asia listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2246),
where he has served as its independent non-executive director and is responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgment to the board of directors since
June 2022. He was appointed as an independent non-gxecutive director at a board
meeting of Gogox Holdings Limited held on 13 August 2021, and the appointment
took effect from 24 June 2022; and

o YSB Inc. (%% Rl & A% 15 5 BR /2 7)), a digital pharmaceutical platform serving
businesses outside of hospitals in China listed on the Hong Kang Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9885), where he has served as its independent non-executive director
and is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the
board of directors and serving as chairman and/or members of certain committees
of the board of directors since June 2023.

Mr. Zhao received a bachelor's degree in accounting from Tsinghua University (/5 2= K 22)
in the PRC in July 1999 and a master's degree in accountancy from George Washington
University in the United States in July 2001.
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Mr. Ge Ke (B 1)

Mr. Ge Ke (& ), aged 52, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company 30 March 2023. He is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ge served several positions in Kingsoft Group, which
refers to Kingsoft Corporation Limited (< 1L #X 4 & BR /2 7)), a leading software and
internet service company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 3888), and
its subsidiaries, where he served as the assistant to the chief executive officer since 1999,
and then successively served as the chief officer in the distribution department, a vice
president and a senior vice president in charge of overall office software business. Mr. Ge
has served as an executive director in Zhuhai Kingsoft Office Software Co., Ltd. (2k/& &
LU 9% N B2 45 A PR A &)) from 2011 to 2021. He has currently served as the chairman
of the board of directars of Beijing Kingsoft Office Software, Inc. (At 52 4 LU 3% A k4
f% 17 75 BR 72 &)), a China-based leading office software and service provider listed on
the Science and Technology Innovation Board of Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
688111), since July 2016, and also holds several positions in other members of Kingsoft
Group. Mr. Ge has been serving as an executive director in Beijing Qiwen Yiwei Investment
Co., Utd. (b & X E#E 1% E B R & £ 2 7)), an investment company, where he
was responsible for overall management and business operation since October 2015. He
has also been serving as a director in Ray Tower Limited (#2% 45 [R /A &) where he was
responsible for overall management and business operation since July 2015.

Mr. Ge received a bachelor's degree in engineering from Nanjing University (R 2= A £2)
inJuly 1995.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management team comprises of Mr. Ji Weiguo and Ms. Liu Xianna, each of
whom is an executive Director of our Company. See their biographies above. Our senior
management is responsible for the day-to-day management and operation of our business.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Our platform iTalentX delivers cloud-native SaaS products, namely our cloud-based
HCM solutions, for enterprises to recruit, evaluate, manage, develop and retain talents
efficiently. We offer integrated cloud-based HCM solutions that synchronize use cases and
the underlying employee data for our customers. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this report. Please refer to note 37 to the consolidated financial statements on page 240 for
details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group on pages 128 to 242 of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2025.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on Thursday, 18 September 2025. A notice convening the said AGM
will be published and provided to the Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Monday, 15 September 2025 to Thursday, 18 September
2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
17121716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 12 September 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued Shares during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2025
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As of 31 March 2025, the Company did not have any distributable reserves.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 13 April 2023. A summary of the results
and of the assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial information and financial statements, is set out on
pages 5 to 6 of this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had no bank loans or other borrowings.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on the information available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company’s public float complies with the requirements
of Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws
of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders
by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 13 April 2023. Our
Company received net proceeds (after deduction of underwriting fees and commissions
and expenses payable by us) in connection with the Global Offering in the amount of
approximately HK$155.0 million. Such net proceeds have been and will be applied in
accordance with the purposes as set out in the Prospectus by the Company. The details
of intended application of net praceeds from the Global Offering and the actual use of net
proceeds as at 31 March 2025 are set out as follows:

ERAEMERFBFHEAE

RRA RN B PR2023F4 A13E R R T E MR 7 ©
RRRIFLEIREE WD PSFRFRE (BB
FEMNNBHEERLME A RFAXR) 4731508
BT - AR D RRAKRBEREEZMEAA
BERREMEFIEEE - AR B EMSHE
FRERTE ARG RBENBFIANEMERIBFEE
BRAZHFBEHINET

Unutilized net Nt proceeds from Unutilized net

proceeds fromthe  the Global Offering  proceeds fromthe  Expected timeline of full
Approximate % of  Netproceedsfrom  Global Offering asat ufilized duringthe ~ Global Offeringasat  utilization of the unutilized net

Item total net proceeds  the Global Offering

1April 2024 Reporting Period® 31 March 2025 proceeds

BENMFIRIE  GENMEBR BEABEIANA
HRRRRARE RUIEHART KDARBRER  RHUAEFRR RDARBIER BRDRXDRAFARASH

L] HENEM B8 ARERG p 1 BRESE HRNERR"
(HKS millon) (HKS millon) (HKS millon) (HKS millon)
(BE#T) (&%) (B&%T) (5%
Further upgrade our integrated cloud-hased HCM solutions
E-SHB-RUSGHNBALR
(&) Integrate more seamlessly our cloud-based HOM solutions 15% AR 27 48 179 Before 31 December 2028
() ENESEEEEHMERAR ABEIANABE
(b) Enhance the functionality and features of our Core-HR Solutions 15% %83 A4 12 142 Before 31 December 2028
() HECoetRE R ERNNE R ABERENER
(c) Upgrade our other HOM solutions 5% 18 54 54 - Notapplicable
() AREGHMERAE T#R
Continue to enhance our technology development capabilities
ERRRRTRRED
(&) Upgrade our PaaS infrastructure 0% 30 04 26 218 Before 31 December 2026
() FripaSERRIE ABEIANIEH
(o) Expand R&D teams with enhanced R&D efficiency 10% 155 148 22 126 Before 31 December 2028
b BAWEEH REREME BERAYBH
Strengthen our sales and marketing efforts
MAHERERIH
(&) Expand our sales force nationwide % 109 - - - Not applicable
() EzEHEAEAKERM @R
b) Expand and diversiy our sales and markefing channels 5% 18 - - - Not applicable
) AEREEHERSEEE @R
(c)  Improve our seles and markefing fechnologies 3% iy 43 43 - Mot applicable
() MEHEREBHRE @R
Enhance our customer success and services capabilities 10% 155 55 55 - Mot applicable
REERHMRBHEN el
Working capital and other general corporate purposes 10% 152 28 28 - NotApplicable
BERERAM-RORAR TR
Total 1000 150 1073 348 725
4
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Notes:

(1) The expected timeline is based on the best estimation made by the Group on future
market condition and may change with the current market condition and future
development.

2) The amount is calculated based on the exchange rate of HK$1.00 to RMB0.92.

(3) The figures in the table are approximate figures.

The Company will use the remaining proceeds for the purpose as disclosed in the
Prospectus.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview and Performance of the Year

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s
financial performance and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report. These discussions form part of this report. Events
affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period is set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Events after the Reporting
Period” in this report.

Key Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including employees, customers,
suppliers and other business associates are key to the Group’s success. The Group strives
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong
relationships with them.

The Group believes that it is vital to attract, recruit and retain quality employees. To
maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of the Group’s workforce, the Group
provides the employees with periodic training, including introductory training for new
employees, technical training, professional and management training and health and safety
training. The Group believes that it maintains a good relationship with its employees and
the Group did not experience any significant labor disputes or any difficulty in recruiting
staff for its operations.

We believe our focus on customer success and service is critical to onboarding new
customers and retaining our existing customers and growing our business. We have
invested heavily in the quality and training of our customer success and service teams to
ensure that they could maintain a consistently high level of our services. Our large and
growing customer base has also provided us with valuable insights into industry best
practices that enable us to better understand customer needs to continuously refine our
offerings and improve customer experience.
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Details of an account of the Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers,
suppliers and other business associates that have a significant impact on the Company are
set out in the environmental, social and governance report of the Company which will be
disclosed as a separate report and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company together with the publication of this annual report.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES, ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits
and development, protecting the environment and giving back to community and achieving
sustainable growth. In June 2024, the Group made donation in the amount of RMB120,000
to Beijing Yixin Care Charity Foundation (3t 5= — /0 B8 & 22 & & € &) in support
of Love Kitchen Project, and RMB60,000 to Xining Xingguang Special Children Service
Institution (7828 11 £ Yt 4575k 52 Z AR 75 ##8) in support of the daily life and study of
autistic children with the institution. In December 2024, the Group donated RMB100,000
to Shanghai Yongda Foundation (= /& 5k #£ £ € &) to support assistance for poor
children. The environmental, social and governance report of the Company will be
disclosed as a separate report and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company together with the publication of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate our business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the CG Code contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the Reporting Period, the Company has complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Directors will periodically
review on the Company’s corporate governance policies and will propose any amendment,
if necessary, to ensure compliance with the code provisions from time to time.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as

its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions since the Listing Date.

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that
he or she had complied with the requirements as set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company, are also subject to the Model Code. No incident of non-
compliance with the Model Code by the employees was noted by the Company during the
Reporting Period.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

There are certain key risks and uncertainties involved in our operations, some of which are
beyond our control.

Set out below are the material risks and uncertainties that we face:

o our ability to upgrade, enhance and expand our technology and solutions or
provide successful enhancements, new features and applications to suit our
customers’ evolving needs;

o our ability to maintain and grow our customer base;

o our financial position;

o our ability to effectively manage our technology infrastructure and continue
innovating and keeping pace with technological developments;

o our ability to maintain stable relationships with our third-party cloud-based
infrastructure providers; and

° breaches of our security measures and unauthorized access to customer data.
However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make their own

judgment or consult their own investment advisors before making any investment in the
Shares.
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PROSPECTS

A description of the future development in the Company’s future business is provided in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report are as follows:
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (Chairman)
Mr. Ji Weiguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Xianna (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Du Kui
Mr. Zhao Honggiang
Mr. Ge Ke

In accordance with Article 26.1 of the Articles of Association, subject to the provisions of
the Articles of Association and the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint any person to be a Director,
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.

In accordance with Articles 26.3, the Directors may appoint any person to be a Director,
either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Director provided that the appointment does
not cause the number of Directors to exceed any number fixed by or in accordance with
the Articles as the maximum number of Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after such Director’s
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

In accordance with Article 26.4 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. Wang Zhaohui and Mr. Zhao Honggiang shall retire from office by
rotation at the AGM. All of the retired directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM are set out in the circular
to Shareholders to be dispatched in due course in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules.
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CHANGES TO INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES

Mr. Du Kui had ceased to be a non-executive Director in Keen Offshore Engineering Co.,
Ltd. (B SR A5 808 F T2 A% 10 A BR 2 A1) since December 2024.

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out
on pages 42 to 47 of this report. Save as disclosed in this report and as at the date of this
report, there are no other changes to the Directors™ or chief executive's information as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules
since the publication of the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30
September 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND APPOINTMENT
LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for
an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term. Each of our
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023 and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than two months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

None of the Directors proposed for re-glection at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract or appointment letter which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

We have received from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Du
Kui, Mr. Zhao Honggiang and Mr. Ge Ke, the confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has duly reviewed the
confirmation of independence of each of these Directors. We consider that our independent
non-executive Directors have been independent throughout the year ended 31 March 2025
and remain so as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As far as the Company is aware, as at 31 March 2025, the interests and/or short positions
(as applicable) of our Directors and chief executive in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of our Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO, which were required (a) to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or
short positions (as applicable) which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFQ); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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Number of Shares percentage of
Name of Director or Chief Executive Capacity/Nature of interest interested™ shareholding®
EFSEETRARKR S Eaug HaEnRHBAE" BHERE S e
(%)
Mr. Wang Zhaohui (“Mr. Wang") ® Beneficiary of a trust 81,054,370 (L) 11.22
THEEE((EEEDNO FErEZmA
Interest in controlled corporation 29,748,690 (L) 412
REEBE MR
Interest of Spouse 2,060,570 (L) 0.29
fic B HE =
Beneficial interest 1,754,200 (L) 0.24
BExER
Mr. Ji Weiguo (“Mr. Ji") @ Beneficiary of a trust 80,644,370 (L) 1117
wERSE ((HREED FErEZmA
Beneficial interest 1,749,600 (L) 0.24
BEiER
Ms. Liu Xianna (“Ms. Liu") © Beneficiary of a trust 1,730,990 (L) 0.24
ZEMz+ ([@&E)O FErEZmA
Beneficial interest 1,227,360 (L) 017

e S g e
EniEn
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The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.
As at 31 March 2025, there were 722,171,851 Shares in issue.

Zhaosen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xiasen
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr.
Wang and (ii) Huisen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the
BVI wholly owned by Sen Talent Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Wang and his family. As such,
each of Mr. Wang, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Talent Holdings Limited and Huisen
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in 81,054,370 Shares owned by Zhaosen
Holding Limited under the SFO.

Senyan International L. P. is our employee shareholding platform incorporated in the BVI
with limited liability on 16 July 2019 with Xiasen Limited serving as its general partner.
Xiasen Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wang. Senyan International L. P. was established
to reflect the total award shares granted to the eligible employees of our Onshore Holdco
held by Beijing Beisen Zongheng Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership)
(b RIERAEIEEE RSO (BRAE ) (‘Beisen Zongheng”), prior to the
Reorganization. See “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure” in the Prospectus
for details. As such, each of Mr. Wang and Xiasen Limited is deemed to be interested in
29,748,690 Shares owned by Senyan International L. P. under the SFO.

Ms. Zhou Dan (J& 1), Mr. Wang’ spouse, was granted, taking into account of the Share
Subdivision, (i) 783,410 options on 1 January 2019 pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan, which were all exercised and 783,410 Shares were issued pursuant to
the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan immediately after the completion of the Global Offering
and the Share Subdivision, and (ii) 1,277,160 options on 1 March 2023, which were
not vested. For details, please see “Directors’ Report — Pre-IPO Share Option Plan —
Outstanding share options granted” in this annual report. As such, Mr. Wang is deemed
to be interested in 2,060,570 Shares that Ms. Zhou Dan is interested in under the SFQ.
Ms. Zhou Dan is also deemed to be interested in the Shares that Mr. Wang is interested
in under the SFO.

On 1 March 2023, Mr. Wang was granted 1,500,000 options pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan, and details of which are set out in “Directors’ Report — Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan — Outstanding share options granted” in this annual report. In addition, as
at 31 March 2025, Mr. Wang directly holds 254,200 shares.
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(4) Weisen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xisen (4)
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr. Ji
and (i) Guosen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the BVI
wholly owned by Sen Platform Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established
by Mr. Ji (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Ji and his family. As such,
each of Mr. Ji, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Platform Holdings Limited and Guosen
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in 80,644,370 Shares owned by Weisen
Holding Limited under the SFO. On 1 March 2023, Mr. Ji was granted 1,500,000 options
pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan.

For details, please see “Directors’ Report — Pre-IPO Share Option Plan — Qutstanding
share options granted” in this annual report.

(5) Ms. Liu has been granted 2,843,150 options, including (i) 1,730,990 Options granted (5)
on 1 November 2018, 1 April 2020 and 1 April 2021 which have been exercised and
1,730,990 Shares were issued pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan immediately
after the completion of the Global Offering and the Share Subdivision; and (ii) 1,112,160
options granted on 1 March 2023 of which were not vested.

For details, please see “Directors’ Report — Pre-IPO Share Option Plan — Qutstanding
share options granted” in this annual report.
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Number
of shares
interested in Approximate
Name of Director or Name of associated associated percentage of
Chief Executive corporation Nature of Interest corporation interests
EEm A B E B B
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(%)
Mr. Wang® Onshore Holdco Beneficial interest 21,274,997 (L) 38.12
FHEAO AR /NGl EmEmn
Interest in controlled corporation 8,205,658 (L) 14.70
REEENER
Interests held jointly with another person 21,272,996 (L) 38.12
BE—BATHERBOER
Mr. Ji® Onshore Holdco Beneficial interest 21,272,996 (L) 38.12
4050 SR /NGl EmEmn
Interest in controlled corporation 8,205,658 (L) 14.70
REEENER
Interests held jointly with another person 21,274,997 (L) 38.12
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Notes:

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the Onshore Holdco.

As at 31 March 2025, there were 55,805,203 shares of the Onshore Holdco in issue.

Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji are the limited partners holding approximately 64.07% and
35.92% partnership interests in Beisen Zongheng, a Registered Shareholder and
a limited partnership established in the PRC, which holds 8,000,658 shares of the
Onshare Holdco. Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji are the limited partners holding approximately
98.33% and 1.36% partnership interests respectively in Beijing Beisen Investment
Management Center (Limited Partnership) (it RiLFRILE EIER O (AR A E)
(“Beisen Investment”), a Registered Shareholder and a limited partnership established
in the PRC, which holds 205,000 shares of the Onshore Holdco. Beijing Beisen Asset
Management Co., Ltd. (3t RibFRE EE B R A 7)) (‘Beisen Asset”), a limited
liability company established in the PRC, is the general partner of Beisen Zongheng and
Beisen Investment, which is owned as to 50% by Mr. Wang and 50% Mr. Ji. Under the
Onshore Acting-in-concert Agreement, each of Mr. Wang, Mr. Ji, Beisen Zongheng and
Beisen Investment held in aggregate 90.95% in the registered capital in the Onshore
Holdco. Under the SFO, Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Onshore Holdco held by Beisen Zongheng, Beisen Investment and Mr. Ji, while Mr. Ji is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Onshore Holdco held by Beisen Zongheng,
Beisen Investment and Mr. Wang. For details, please refer to the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of our Directors, none of the Directors
or chief executive of our Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 March 2025.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSON’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the persons, other than our Directors or the chief executive of our
Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

FER B H Mt A LB {5 R AR BR {7
MERRRE

R202553A3 A WA RBIREE S KB KIS
BEMFEZERLMANLZE U TAL(RARE
EHRBTBRABRIN RO RE@EROPHES
RIERE 5 MBS G0 SEXVE D F2 K35 B IR XA
RABHBENERIAR

Name of substantial shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest

Number of Shares Approximate percentage
interested ™ of shareholding

FERRME B8

L2 F-1 3

BRERKERHEHAO

HFEESL
(%)

Zhaosen Holding Limited®
Huisen Holding Limited®

Sen Talent Holdings Limited®
Weisen Holding Limited®
Guosen Holding Limited®

Sen Platform Holdings Limited®
Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd.©)®

Ms. Zhou Dan (J& /)@
B2z

Eastern Bell Capital VIII Investment Limited

BRERTHIREBRAA
Tsing Young Holding Limited®

GC HCM Holdings Limited®
YSZ Holdings Limited®

JVF Holdings Limited®

Beneficial Interest

BExiEn

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ER

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ER
Beneficial Interest

BExiEn

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ER

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ER

Trustee

ZEEA

Beneficiary of a trust
FrEEmA

Interest of Spouse

B B

Beneficial Interest

BamlEm

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ER

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ER
Beneficial Interest

BExiEn

Beneficial Interest

ExEn

Beneficial Interest

VRN
EmEs

81,054,370 (L)
81,054,370 (L)
81,054,370 (L)
80,644,370 (L)
80,644,370 (L)
80,644,370 (L)
161,698,740 (L)
81,837,780 (L)
31,502,890 (L)
1,277,160 ()
63,252,000 (L)
71,274,760 (L)
2,052,060 (L)
23,588,888 (L)

45,633,812 (L)

11.22

11.22

11.22

1117

1117

1117

22.39

11.33

4.36

0.18

8.76

9.87

0.28

3.27

6.32

60 Beisen Holding Limited

Annual Report 2024/2025



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEEHS

Name of substantial shareholder

TERRME B8

Capacity/Nature of Interest
S HaMtHE

Number of Shares Approximate percentage

interested
HEREankRmsBAY

of shareholding
Hiskastt
(%)

Gaocheng Fund I, L.P. ©
Gaocheng Fund II, L.P. ®
Gaocheng Holdings GP, Ltd®
Gaocheng Holdings GP I, Ltd®
Ms. Hong Jing®

HIEZ 10

Genesis Capital | LP®

Genesis Capital Ltd®

Yuan Capital Ltd®

Mr. Peng Zhijian®
TEBELEO

SCGC Capital Holding Company Limited®

Shenzhen Capital (Hong Kong) Company Limited®

BT E AR (BE) BRAFD
Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd.?)

RYNTEFHIRERB AR AR

SVF Il Bandicoot (DE) LLC®

SVF Il Investment Holdings (Subco) LLC®

SVF Il Investment Holdings LLC®
SVF Il Holdings (DE) LLC®

SVF Il Aggregator (Jersey) L.P.®
SVF 11 GP (Jersey) Limited®

SoftBank Vision Fund II-2 L.P.®

SB Global Advisers Capital Markets Limited®

Interest in controlled corporation
RIEEE O ER

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ER

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE N ER

Interest in controlled corporation
RIEEE N ES

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE N ER
Beneficial Interest

BEanfs

Interest in controlled corporation
RIEEE N ES

Interest in controlled corporation
RIEEE N ES

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R
Beneficial Interest

BEanfs

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R
Beneficial Interest

BEanfs

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE NS

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE N ERS

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ES

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ES

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ES

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ERS

Interest in controlled corporation
LB ERS

25,640,948 (L)
45,633,812 (L)
25,640,948 (L)
45,633,812 (L)
71,274,760 (L)
47,059,400 (L)
47,059,400 (L)
47,059,400 (L)
47,059,400 (L)
44,869,630 (L)
44,869,630 (L)
44,869,630 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)

41,041,130 (L)

3.55

6.32

3.55

6.32

9.87

6.52

6.52

6.52

6.52

6.21

6.21

6.21

568

568

568

568

568

568

568

568

ZECNF/I SR CRF FERE
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Name of substantial shareholder
FTERFEEE BB

Capacity/Nature of Interest
S HaHH

Number of Shares Approximate percentage
interested ™ of shareholding
EHERMRHABAY BihisRraSL
(%)

SB Global Advisers Limited®
SoftBank Group Overseas GK®
SoftBank Group Corp.®

Matrix Partners China V, L.P.®
Matrix Partners China V-A, L.P.®
Matrix China Management V, L.P.©

Matrix China V GP GP, Ltd.®

Interest in controlled corporation
ZEEBENER

Interest in controlled corporation
ZEEBENER

Interest in controlled corporation
ZEEBEMER
Beneficial Interest

BEnER

Beneficial Interest

BEiER

Interest in controlled corporation
ZEEBENER

Interest in controlled corporation
ZEEBENER

41,041,130 (L) 5.68
41,041,130 (L) 5.68
41,041,130 (L) 5.68
32,892,050 (L) 4.55

3,420,660 (L) 0.47
36,312,710 (L) 5.03

36,312,710 (L) 5.03

Notes:

1) The letter “L” denotes the person’

s long position in the Shares.

2) As at 31 March 2025, there were 722,171,851 Shares in issue.

(3) Zhaosen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xiasen
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr.
Wang and (ii) Huisen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the
BVI wholly owned by Sen Talent Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Wang and his family. As such,
each of Mr. Wang, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Talent Holdings Limited and Huisen
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in 81,054,370 Shares owned by Zhaosen

Holding Limited under the SFO.
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Ms. Zhou Dan, Mr. Wang' spouse, was granted, taking into account of the Share
Subdivision, (i) 783,410 options on 1 January 2019 pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan, which were all exercised and 783,410 Shares were issued pursuant to the
Pre-IPO Share Option Plan immediately after the completion of the Global Offering and
the Share Subdivision, and (ii) 1,277,160 options on 1 March 2023, which were not
vested. The issued 783,410 Shares are held by Chunsen Holding Limited, one of the
employee shareholding platforms incorporated in the BVI wholly owned by Futu Trustee
Limited under the Sen Talent Trust, and Ms. Zhou Dan is one of the beneficiaries. For
details, see “Directors’ Report — Pre-IPO Share Option Plan — Qutstanding share options
granted” in this annual report. Ms. Zhou Dan is also deemed to be interested in the
Shares Mr. Wang is interested in under the SFO.

Weisen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xisen
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr. Ji
and (i) Guosen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the BVI
wholly owned by Sen Platform Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Ji (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Ji and his family. As such, each of
Mr. Ji, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Platform Holdings Limited and Guosen Holding
Limited is deemed to be interested in 80,644,370 Shares owned by Weisen Holding
Limited under the SFO.

Gaocheng Holdings GP, Ltd is the general partner of Gaocheng Fund I, L. P., which
wholly owns GC HCM Holdings Limited and YSZ Holdings Limited, both of which are
companies established in the Cayman Islands. Gaocheng Holdings GP II, Ltd is the
general partner of Gaocheng Fund II, L. P., which wholly owns JVF Holdings Limited, a
company established in the Cayman Islands. Gaocheng Holdings GP, Ltd and Gaocheng
Holdings GP I, Ltd are both wholly owned by Tsing Young Holding Limited, which
in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Hong Jing. As such, Ms. Hong Jing is deemed to be
interested in 71,274,760 Shares collectively held by GC HCM Holdings Limited, YSZ
Holdings Limited and JVF Holdings Limited.

Genesis Capital | LP (“Genesis Capital”), an exempted limited partnership established
in the Cayman Islands in July 2015, of which the general partner is Genesis Capital Ltd.,
which is wholly owned by Yuan Capital Ltd. and thus in turn wholly owned by Mr. Peng
Zhijian. As such, each of Genesis Capital Ltd., Yuan Capital Ltd. and Mr. Peng Zhijian is
deemed to be interested in 47,059,400 Shares held by Genesis Capital.

ZECNF/I SR CRF FERE

FRAENRBEANZL (BEZERMHIFM) ()742019
FIAIEBRBE R ARAEEMBERETESERT
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F& fE 5T &1 8 17783, 410A% BR 1 - R (ii)720234F3 A1H
R TF127716010 BERR M - M ARBF B - xS B BT
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SCGC Capital Holding Company Limited (“SCGC”) is a company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI, which is owned as to 93.83% by Shenzhen Capital (Hong Kong)
Company Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd. (7
I8l #71% & £ E AR A 7], “Shenzhen Capital”). As such, each of Shenzhen
Capital (Hong Kong) Company Limited and Shenzhen Capital is deemed to be interested
in 50,165,430 Shares held by SCGC.

SVF Il Bandicoot (DE) LLC (“SVF Bandicoot”) is a company incorporated in Delaware,
United States, which is directly owned by SVF Il Investment Holdings (Subco) LLC.
The sole member of SVF Il Investment Holdings (Subco) LLC is SVF Il Investment
Holdings LLC, which is controlled by SVF Il Holdings (DE) LLC. The sole member of
SVF Il Holdings (DE) LLC is SVF Il Aggregator (Jersey) L. P., whose general partner is
SVF I GP (Jersey) Limited and sole limited partner is SoftBank Vision Fund II-2 L. P.,
both of which are in turn ultimately wholly owned by SoftBank Group Corp., a company
listed on Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 9984). As such, each of SVF II Investment
Holdings (Subco) LLC, SVF II Investment Holdings LLC, SVF I Holdings (DE) LLC, SVF
Il Aggregator (Jersey) L. P., SVF Il GP (Jersey) Limited, SoftBank Vision Fund II-2 L.
P., SB Global Advisers Capital Markets Limited, SB Global Advisers Limited, SoftBank
Group Overseas GK and SoftBank Group Corp. is deemed to be interested in 41,041,130
Shares held by SVF Bandicoot.

Matrix China V GP GP, Ltd. is the general partner of Matrix China Management V, L.
P., which is the general partner of both Matrix Partners China V, L. P. (“Matrix V")
and Matrix Partners China V-A, L. P. (“Matrix V-A"). As such, each of Matrix China
V GP GP, Ltd. and Matrix China Management V, L. P. is deemed to be interested in
36,312,710 Shares collectively held by Matrix V and Matrix V-A under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of our Directors, as at 31 March 2025,
we were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or the chief executive of
our Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFQ, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corparate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouse
or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, each of the Directors confirms that during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report, he/she did not have any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our business and
requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules. From time to time our non-
executive Directors may serve on the boards of both private and public companies
within the broader information technology and software industries. However, as these
independent non-executive Directors are not members of our executive management team,
we do not believe that their interests in such companies as directors would render us
incapable of carrying on our business independently from the other companies in which
these Directors may hold directorships from time to time.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS BETWEEN THE GROUP AND THE
SINGLE LARGEST GROUP OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received the annual confirmation from the Single Largest Group of
Shareholders in respect of the conflict of interests between the Group and the Single
Largest Group of Shareholders, and the Single Largest Group of Shareholders confirmed
that there was no conflict of interests between the Group and the Single Largest Group
of Shareholders during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report. The
independent non-executive Directors also reviewed whether there was any conflict
of interests between the Group and the Single Largest Group of Shareholders. The
independent non-executive Directors confirmed that there was no conflict of interests
between the Group and the Single Largest Group of Shareholders during the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES 13.20, 13.21 AND 13.22
OF THE LISTING RULES

There was no information required for disclosure by the Company under Rules 13.20,
13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions constitute connected transaction, or continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules and are required to
be disclosed in this report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. Details of
related party transactions carried out in the normal course of business are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed below and payments of
remuneration to certain Directors, which constitute continuing connected transactions fully
exempt from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.92 or Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules, no related party transactions disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements constitutes a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company
has fully complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Please see below the information required to be disclosed in compliance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements
Reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements

The operation of a cloud-based unified Paa$ infrastructure to serve as the technology
bedrock of all of the Group’s solutions and services, including the cloud-based HCM
solutions and the professional services business by the Onshore Holdco is subject to
the restrictions under PRC regulations relating to the value-added telecommunication
services. To comply with PRC laws and regulations and the Listing Rules, we determined
that it was not viable for our Company to hold the Consolidated Affiliated Entity directly
through equity ownership. Instead, we decided that, in line with common practice in
industries subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC, through the Contractual
Arrangements amongst (1) Beijing WFQE, (2) the Onshore Holdco, and (3) the Registered
Shareholders, we would be able to (i) gain effective control over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity; (ii) all of the economic benefits generated by the businesses currently operated
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entity going forward; and (iii) have an exclusive option to
purchase all or part of the equity interest in or all or part of the assets of or inject registered
capital into the Onshore Holdco when and to the extent permitted by PRC law.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations and the Listing Rules, while availing
ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control over all of our
operations, the Contractual Arrangements were entered into on 25 September 2018 and
were restated and amended on 13 August 2020, 9 April 2021 and 27 December 2021,
whereby Beijing WFOE will acquire effective control over the financial and operational
policies of Onshore Holdco, and will become entitled to all the economic benefits derived
from its operations.
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Contractual Arrangements.

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the Contractual
Arrangements entered into by and among Beijing WFOE, Onshore Holdco, and the
Registered Shareholders is set out below.

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Under the exclusive business cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement”), Onshore Holdco appoints Beijing WFOE as its exclusive
services provider to provide Onshore Holdco the following services during the term of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement:

(1) the use of any relevant software legally owned by the Beijing WFOE;

(2)  development, maintenance and updating of software in respect of the businesses of
the Onshore Holdco;

(3)  design, installation, daily management, maintenance and updating of network
systems, hardware and database;

(4)  providing technical support and professional training services to relevant staff of
the Onshore Holdco;

(5)  providing assistance in consultancy and research of relevant technology; and

(6)  other services negotiated and specified from time to time, based on the actual
business requirements of the Onshore Holdco and the services capacity of the
Beijing WFOE, to the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations.

In consideration of the services provided by Beijing WFOE, Onshore Holdco shall pay
Beijing WFOE monthly fees, which shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with the
scope and nature of the services, and shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated
profit of Onshore Holdco, after deduction of any accumulated deficit of Onshore Holdco
in the preceding financial year(s), working capital, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contributions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Beijing WFOE may adjust the scope and
amount of service fees according to PRC tax law and tax practices, and Onshore Holdco
shall accept such adjustments. Beijing WFOE shall calculate the service fees on a monthly
basis and issue a corresponding value-added tax invoice to the Onshore Holdco, at the
tax rate stipulated by current PRC laws regarding value-added tax. Notwithstanding the
payment agreements in the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, Beijing WFOE
may adjust the payment time and payment method, and the Onshore Holdco shall accept
any such adjustment.
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Loan Agreements

Pursuant to the loan agreements (the “Loan Agreements”), Beijing WFOE provided
Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji, being shareholders of Onshore Holdco with a loan in the aggregate
amount of RMB351,286,200 to fund business activities and other uses (including
acquiring shares in the Onshore Holdco held by its other then shareholders) as permitted
by Beijing WFOE. Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji agreed that the proceeds from the transfer of any
and/or all of the shares they hold in Onshore Holdco, pursuant to the exercise of the right
to acquire such shares by Beijing WFOE under the Exclusive Option Agreement (defined
below), shall only be used by Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji to repay the loan to the extent permitted
under the PRC law. The Loan Agreements will remain effective until 10 years after the
actual remittance date of such loan, which is extendable upon agreement by the parties
to the Loan Agreements. During the term of the Loan Agreements, Beijing WFOE has the
right, at its sole and absolute discretion, to accelerate maturity of loan at any time upon the
occurrence of certain circumstances.

Exclusive Option Agreement

Under the exclusive option agreement entered into among Beijing WFOE, the Registered
Shareholders, and Onshore Holdco (the “Exclusive Option Agreement’), Beijing
WFOQE have a right to require the Registered Shareholders to transfer any and all of the
shares of Onshore Holdco they hold to Beijing WFQOE and/or a third party designated by
it, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, for a nominal price, at the lowest
purchase price that permitted by the PRC laws or, for Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji, at the price
equivalent to the aggregate amount of the loan provided to them by Beijing WFOE under
the Loan Agreements.

Share Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the share pledge agreement (the “Share Pledge Agreement’), each
Registered Shareholder, has pledged all of such shareholder’s shares in Onshore Holdco
as a security interest, as applicable, to respectively guarantee Onshore Holdco and the
Registered Shareholders’ performance of their obligations under the relevant contractual
arrangement, which include the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, Exclusive
Option Agreement, Proxy Agreement and the Loan Agreements. If Onshore Holdco or
any of the Registered Shareholder breaches their contractual obligations under these
agreements, Beijing WFOE, as pledgee, will be entitled to certain rights regarding the
pledged shares. In the event of such breaches, upon giving written notice to the Registered
Shareholders, Beijing WFOE to the extent permitted by PRC laws may exercise the right
to enforce the pledge, which is being paid in priority with the shares of Onshore Holdco
from the proceeds from auction or sale of the shares and request the amount owed by
Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji under the Loan Agreements be repaid immediately. Each of the
Registered Shareholders agrees that, during the term of the Share Pledge Agreement, such
Registered Shareholder shall not transfer the shares, place or permit the existence of any
security interest or other encumbrance on the shares or any portion thereof, without the
prior written consent of Beijing WFQE. The Registered Shareholders may receive dividends
distributed on the shares only with prior consent of Beijing WFOE.
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Proxy Agreement

Under the proxy agreement entered into among Beijing WFOE, the Registered Shareholders,
and Onshore Holdco (the “Proxy Agreement’), the Registered Shareholders has
irrevocably undertaken to appoint Beijing WFOE or its designated persons (including but
not limited to directors and their successors and liquidators replacing but excluding those
non-independent or who may give rise to conflict of interests) to exercise certain rights
relating to all shares held by the Registered Shareholders during the term of the Proxy
Agreement to act on behalf of such Registered Shareholder as his/its exclusive agent and as
his/its attorney-in-fact to exercise such Registered Shareholder’s rights in Onshore Holdco
according to the articles of association of Onshore Holdco.

Confirmations from the Registered Shareholders

Each of Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji has confirmed to the effect that (i) his interests do not fall
within the scope of communal properties, and his spouse does not have the right to claim
any interests in the Onshore Holdco (together with any other interests therein) or exert
influence on the day-to-day management and voting matters of the Onshore Holdco; and
(ii) in the event of his death, disappearance, incapacity, divorce, marriage or any other
event which causes his inability to exercise his rights as a shareholder of the Onshore
Holdco, his successors (including his spouse) will not take any actions that would affect
his obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

Spouse undertakings

The spouse of each of Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji, has signed undertakings to the effect that
(i) she undertakes not to make any assertions in connection with the shares of Onshore
Holdco held by Mr. Wang or Mr. Ji; (i) she confirms that the performance, amendments
and termination of the Contractual Arrangements do not require her further authorization or
consents; (iii) she undertakes to execute all necessary documents and to take all necessary
actions to ensure the proper performance of the Contractual Arrangements; (iv) in the event
that she obtains any shares in Onshore Holdco, she shall be bound by the Contractual
Arrangements and comply with the obligations thereunder as a shareholder of Onshore
Holdco, and upon Beijing WFOE's request, she shall sign any document in the form and
content substantially same as the Contractual Arrangements; (v) she further undertakes
that she will not take any action that may violate the purpose or intention of the Contractual
Arrangements under any circumstances; and (vi) any undertaking, confirmation, consent
and authorization she makes shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of her loss of or restriction on capacity, death, divorce or other similar
gvents.

For details of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the sub-
section headed “Contractual Arrangements — Summary of the material terms of the
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus of the Company dated 30 March 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, during the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted, and none of the Contractual Arrangements has been unwound as none of the
restrictions that led to the adoption of Contractual Arrangements has been removed.
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Restrictions under the FITE Regulations

On 7 April 2022, the State Council of the PRC issued the Decision to Amend and
Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations, which makes amendments to the 2016 FITE
Regulations. As compared to the 2016 FITE Regulations, the 2022 FITE Regulations
amends the concept of “foreign invested telecommunication enterprises” to “the enterprise
which is legally formed by foreign investors within the territory of the PRC and is engaged
in provision of telecommunications services”, being connected to the concept of “foreign-
invested enterprises” under the Foreign Investment Law. The 2022 FITE Regulations adds
“except as otherwise provided for by the State” to Article 6 of the 2016 FITE Regulations,
demonstrating that there may be exceptions of foreign investors’ shareholding ratio
in telecommunications sectors under relevant provisions. The 2022 FITE Regulations
also removes the qualification requirements (i.e., a good track record and experience in
operating value-added telecommunications business) for foreign investors that hold equity
interest in PRC companies conducting value-added telecommunication business as set out
in the 2016 FITE Regulations and streamlines application process of telecommunication
business operation permit and shorten the review time period.

Particulars of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity

Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, namely, Beijing Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd.,
or our Onshore Holdco, is a limited liability company established in Beijing, the PRC
on 17 May 2005, which is principally engaged in operation of cloud-based unified
Paa$S infrastructure to serve as the technology bedrock of all of the Group’s solutions
and services, including the cloud-based HCM solutions and the professional services
business.

As at 31 March 2025, the beneficial interest of Beijing Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd.
was held as to 47.67% by Mr. Wang, and 43.28% by Mr. Ji.

For the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of
“connected person”, the Consolidated Affiliated Entity will be treated as our Company’s
subsidiary, and the directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity and their respective associates will
be treated as our Company’s “connected persons”. As such, transactions between these
connected persons and our Group (including for this purpose the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity) other than those under the Contractual Arrangements shall comply with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company.
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Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue of Onshore Holdco, subject to the
Contractual Arrangements, was RMB164.6 million, accounting for approximately 17.4% of
the consolidated revenue of the Group.

As at 31 March 2025, the total assets of Onshore Holdco, subject to the Contractual
Arrangements, was RMB431.8 million, accounting for approximately 21.8% of the total
assets of the Group.

Review of the Transactions Carried Out under the Contractual Arrangements
during the Reporting Period

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements
and confirmed that: (i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 March 2025
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, have been operated so that the revenue generated by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity has been substantially retained by Beijing WFOE, (ii) no dividends or
other distributions have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to the holders of
its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our
Group; and (iii) any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between our Group
and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity during the year ended 31 March 2025 are on normal
commercial terms or on terms more favourable to our Group in the ordinary and usual
course of our Group’s business, fair and reasonable, or advantageous, o far as our Group is
concerned and in the interests of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board had reviewed the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Group'’s auditor has carried out procedures in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants on the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and have provided a
letter to our Directors stating that (a) nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Company’s board of directors; (b) nothing has come to their attention
that causes the auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and
(c) with respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions with Onshore Holdco
under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that dividends or other distributions have been made by Onshore
Holdco to the holders of the equity interests of Onshore Holdco which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and Actions taken by the
Company to Mitigate the Risks

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual Arrangement. Further
details of these risks are set out on pages 63 to 68 in the Prospectus.

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure
for operating our businesses in China do not comply with applicable PRC laws
and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations change in the
future, we could be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification
of the contractual arrangements and the relinquishment of our interest in our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

° Our contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing operational
control as direct ownership. Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity or their shareholders
may fail to perform their obligations under our contractual arrangements.

o The shareholders of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity may have conflicts of interest
with us, which may materially and adversely affect our business.

o If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to
certain limitations and substantial costs.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our Consolidated Affiliated
Entity that are material to our business operations if our Consolidated Affiliated
Entity declare bankruptcy or become subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

° Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and implementation
of the Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact the viability of our current
corporate structure, corporate governance and business operations.

o Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax

authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could substantially reduce
our consolidated profit and the value of your investment.
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Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation of our Group’s
businesses with the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and our compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements, including:

° major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence
basis;

° our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

° our Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements in our annual reports; and

o our Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional advisors,
if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Beijing WOFE and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entity to deal with specific issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.

DIRECTORS’ AND THE SINGLE LARGEST GROUP OF
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director or an entity connected with a Director or a
member of the Single Largest Group of Shareholders was materially interested, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract which is significant in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of significance was entered into between the
Company, or one of its subsidiary companies and its controlling shareholders or any of
their subsidiaries (as applicable) for the year ended 31 March 2025.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this report between the Company and a person
other than a Director or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Company shall indemnify out of the assets of
the Company, any Director against any liability, action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs,
damages or expenses, including legal expenses, whatsoever which he/she may incur as a
result of any act or failure to act in carrying out his/her functions other than such liability
(if any) that he/she may incur by reason of his/her own actual fraud or wilful default. No
Director shall be liable to the Company for any loss or damage incurred by the Company
as a result (whether direct or indirect) of the carrying out of his/her functions unless that
liability arises through the actual fraud or wilful default of such Director. No person shall
be found to have committed actual fraud or wilful default under the Articles of Association
unless or until a court of competent jurisdiction shall have made a finding to that effect.
As of the date of this report, the Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors.

STAFF, REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

As at 31 March 2025, we had 1,898 employees (as at 31 March 2024: 1,854 employees).
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s total staff costs amounted to approximately
RMB958.2 million, including salaries, wages, bonuses, share-based compensation,
pension costs, other social security costs, housing benefits and other employee benefits.
The Group continued to optimize the incentive-based system in line with business
development needs and implemented remuneration policies with competitiveness.

Our Directors receive compensation in the form of fees, salaries, bonuses, other
allowances, benefits in kind, contribution to the pension scheme and other share-based
compensation. We determine the compensation of our Directors based on each Director’s
responsibilities, qualification, position and seniority.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining, with the delegated
responsibility from the Board, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management of the Group, or making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management of the Group,
which will be approved by the Board. The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the Reporting Period are set out in note 34
to the consolidated financial statements. No amount was paid to any Director or any of the
five highest paid individuals disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company or as a compensation for loss of
office. In addition, there was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration.
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SHARE SCHEMES

We adopted the Pre-IPQ Share Option Plan on 15 July 2019, which was amended on 23
April 2020, 26 September 2021 and 31 December 2021. We have also adopted the RSU
Plan on 31 December 2021.

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION PLAN

The Pre-IPQO Share Option Plan of our Company was adopted by the Board on 15 July
2019, and amended on 23 April 2020, 26 September 2021 and 31 December 2021.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan. The
terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules as it does not involve any grant of options by our Company to subscribe
for new Shares after Listing.

Summary of Terms
Purposes

The purposes of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentives to the Directors, employees and consultants of
the Company, and to promote the success of the Company’s business.

Participants

We may grant options (the “Options”) to employees, consultants and directors of the
Company and/or related entity(ies), which include, among others, the Onshore Holdco,
Beijing WFOE and Chengdu WFQE.

Maximum Number of Shares

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued pursuant to all Options
shall not exceed 79,728,830 Shares (proportionally adjusted to reflect any share dividends,
share splits, or similar transactions).

Prior to the Listing, the Company had granted Options to subscribe for an aggregate of
79,725,600 Shares to Directars, senior management and employees of the Group, of which
Options to subscribe for 23,761,790 Shares had been exercised prior to the Listing Date.

The total number of new Shares available for issue under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan as
at the date of this annual report is 39,966,726, which represents approximately 5.53% of
the total issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Our Company will not grant any further Options under the Pre-IPQ Share Option Plan upon
Listing.
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Administration

The Pre-IPO Share Option Plan shall be administered by the Board or a committee
designated by the Board (the “Administrator”) in accordance with any applicable laws,
regulations, rules of any jurisdiction applicable to the Options and the memorandum and
the then effective articles of association of the Company. Once appointed, such committee
shall continue to serve in its designated capacity until otherwise directed by the Board. The
Board may authorize one or more officers or directors to grant the Awards and may limit
such authority as the Board determines from time to time.

The Administrator determines and approves, among other things, the participants eligible
to receive Options, the number of Options to be granted to each eligible participant, the
forms of award agreements for use under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan, and the terms
and conditions of each Options granted including, but not limited to, the vesting schedule,
repurchase provisions, rights of first refusal, forfeiture provisions, form of payment (cash,
Shares, or other consideration) upon settlement of the Options, payment contingencies,
and satisfaction of any applicable performance criteria.

Maximum Entitlement of a Participant

There are no restrictions on the maximum entitlement of a participant under the terms of
the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan.

Exercise period

Subject to applicable laws, any Option granted shall be exercisable at such times and
under such conditions as determined by the administrator under the terms of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan and specified in the award agreement.

An Option shall be deemed to be exercised when written notice of such exercise has been
given to the Company in accordance with the terms of the Option by the person entitled
to exercise the Option and full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is
exercised.

Vesting Schedule

The Awards to be issued to any grantee under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan shall be
subject to the vesting schedule as specified in the award agreement of such grantee. The
Administrator shall have the right to adjust the vesting schedule of the Options granted to
the Grantees.
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Acceptance of Options
No consideration is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of the Option.
Exercise Price or Consideration

The exercise or purchase price, if any, for an Option shall be determined by the
Administrator. In addition, subject to the applicable laws, the consideration to be paid
for the Shares to be issued upon exercise or purchase of an Option under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan including the method of payment, shall also be determined by the
Administrator.

Terms, remaining life and conditions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan

Unless terminated earlier, the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan has a term of ten (10) years
after the date of adoption on 15 July 2019. In general, the term of each Option shall be
the term stated in the award agreement. Subject to the applicable laws, the Awards shall
be transferable (i) by will and by the laws of descent and distribution and (i) during the
lifetime of the grantee, only to the extent and in the manner approved by the Administrator.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the grantee may designate one or more benegficiaries of
the grantee’s Options in the event of the grantee’s death on a beneficiary designation form
provided by the Administrator.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan was about
four years and one month.

Termination

The Board may at any time amend, suspend or terminate the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan;
provided, however, that no such amendment shall be made without the approval of the
Company’s shareholders to the extent such approval is required by applicable laws.
No Option may be granted during any suspension of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan or
after termination of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan. Unless otherwise determined by the
Administrator in good faith, the suspension or termination of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Plan shall not materially adversely affect any rights under Options already granted to a
grantee.
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Outstanding share options granted

As of 31 March 2025, (i) share options to subscribe for an aggregate of 79,725,600 Shares
had been granted to Directors, senior management and employees of the Group, of which
(1) share options to subscribe for 23,761,790 Shares had been exercised and issued
immediately after the completion of the Global Offering, (2) share options to subscribe for
3,817,431 Shares had been exercised and issued during the Reporting Period, (3) options
to subscribe for 3,738,454 Shares were lapsed during the Reporting Period, and (4) share
options to subscribe for 41,557,265 Shares were outstanding and held by grantees. No
further Options will be granted after Listing.

Details of the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan as at 31 March

2025 are set out below:

B A RTEMmRE

B ZE2025F3A31E - () ES  AEERARTERER
& B B2 XA RE S $£79,725 600X A 1 &Y B AX #E -
H A (1)R] R HE23,761,790A% i 1 B0 8 A 1 B 1T R
ERERERREETKRIEIT - (7 RE3,817,431
IR BB B I s I 1T R 31T - QR
RERIA - AT RRRE3, 738 454 AR 1D O BB AR B RN -
Ko (4)R] 32 B 41,557 2655 AR 17 9 8 AR 4 18 R T (£ 30
HARARE - EHRHTTROEMBRE -

BE02BF3ANE - RIFEH R DB EABRE
R HEBBRENFBAOT

Weighted
Share average
closing price share
immediately ~ closing price
Granted  Exercised Cancelled Lapsed heforethe  immediately
Outstanding ~ Duringthe ~ during the during the during the - Outstanding as date of grant hefore the
Name or category asal  Reporting  Reporting Reporting Reporting  at 31 March Date of Exercise Vesting Exercise of share exercise
of grantee 1 April 2024 Period Period Period Period 2025 Grant Price Period Period options dates
RERH  DEOE
R2%E BREER  BEEZ
ROUFIR  BEMR  BEER HERRN BERR 3A31A HZRE METYRG
ARARASERN 1ERKTE ERH B 53] B&H RATE EHAY iR BEY fTEs bR L
Directors (including former directors), Senior Management and their Associates
EF(BFHER) ROTEERRANEA
ir. Wang 1,500,000 0 0 0 0 1,500,000 1 March 2023 0.00001 48 months o) NAMoz4) NA
T4k ABFIAIA 482 A (W) TREBMWRY) iR
M. Ji 1,500,000 0 0 0 0 1,500,000 1 March 2023 0.00001 48 months o) NAMoz4) NA
RrE ABEIAIA WEAR (d3) TER) MER
s. Liu 112160 0 0 0 0 112160 1 March 203 0.00001 48 months (oe3) — Nikote4) NA
Bt ABFIA1A 4B A (#3) TR TER
Thou Dan (%) (Mot 1) 1207160 0 0 0 0 1277160 1 March 2023 0.00001 48 months Moted) N Moz 4) N/A
AR W) ABFIAIA 482 A (Wit3) TRBWRY) R
Subtotal 5,380,320 0 0 0 0 5369320
it
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EEERE
Weighted
Share average
tlosing price share
immediately ~ closing price
Granted  Exercised Gancelled Lapsed hefore the  immediately
Quistanding ~ Duringthe  during the during the during the  Outstanding as date of grant hefore the
Name or category asal  Reporting  Reporting Reporting Reporting ~at 31 March Date of Exercise Vesting Exercise of share exercise
of grantee 1 April 2024 Period Period Period Period 2025 Grant Price Period Period options dates
RERY  DEOE
R2025E fRiEER AEZ
RAUEIR  @EHA  BEEA  #EHA BENER 3B%1A HiZRe mEFYRH
ARARREERH 1BR&TE Bt BfifE 553} BN REfTE L LEL fgid BES TES g | L
Former Consultant of the Group
SSEARM
Xu Hao (£ 8) Mote ) 143750 0 0 0 0 143750 30 December 2019 000001 Vested at the (oe3) — NiAfote4) A
date of grant
) M9ERANA RER (lis) TER (W) TER
AHEE
Subtotal 143,750 0 0 0 0 143,750
it
Employee Participants of the Group
sEERRASEE
Other employees 43,580,080 0 3817431 0 3738 454 36004195 1 January 2009~ 0.00001-0.487 il or 48 months o) NAMoz4) NA
1 March 2023
EtEE 43,560,080 0 N0YE1ATA- 000001-0487  Z5idefA (Wd3) TaE ) TER
ABFIAIA
Subtotal 43,580,080 0 381743 0 3738454 36,004,195
It
Total 49,113,150 0 381743 0 3736454 41,557,265
it
Notes: Kzt
(1) Ms. Zhou Dan is the spouse of Mr. Wang, an executive Director and chairman of the (1) BERAZTAETILEFRTEEFRESTER)OE

Board.

(2) Mr. Xu Hao has served as a consultant of the Group from November 2018 to March
2020, details of which are set out in the “Waivers and Exemption — Waiver and
Exemption in Relation to the Pre-IPQ Share Option Plan” of the Prospectus.

(3) Five years from the date of grant.

(4) Such Options were granted before the Listing Date and therefore the share closing price
immediately before the date of grant of the Options is not applicable.

(5) The Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are subject to fulfillment of
the key performance index (“KPI") of such year, meaning the KPI of the grantee for the
applicable year duly determined by the Company.

(6) None of the grant to any participant was in excess of 1% individual limit.

(7) Details of the valuation of the Options, including the accounting standard and policy

adopted for the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan, are set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RSU Plan

The Company has conditionally adopted the RSU Plan by Shareholders’ resolutions
dated 31 December 2021 (as amended by further resolutions of the Shareholders on 23
March 2023, with effect from the Listing Date). The RSU Plan will comply with amended
provision in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which became effective from 1 January 2023.
The Company may appoint a trustee (the “RSU Trustee”) to administer the RSU Plan
with respect to the grant of any Award (as define below), by way of restricted share unit(s)
(the “RSU(s)”"), which may vest in the form of Shares (the “Award Shares”) or the actual
selling price of the Award Shares in cash in accordance with the RSU Plan.

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of RSUs granted under the RSU
Plan (which includes Awards to be satisfied by new shares and/or treasury shares) during
the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the Reporting Period was 0.55%.

On 19 June 2025, the Board has resolved to amend the RSU Plan to allow the use of
treasury shares to satisfy the Award(s) granted.

Eligible Persons to the RSU Plan

Any individual, being an employee (the “Employee(s)”), Director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) or a person
(other than an employee, a Director or a Director of any member of the Group or any
affiliate of the Group, solely with respect to rendering services in such persons’ capacity
as an employee or director of any member of the Group or any affiliate) who provide
services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are in the interests of the long-term growth of the Group (the “Service
Provider(s)") of any member of the Group or any affiliate (including nominees and/
or trustees of any employee benefit trust established for them but excluding “investee
companies”) (an “Eligible Person” and, collectively “Eligible Persons”) who the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group
or any affiliate is eligible to receive an award granted by the Board (an “Award"), by way of
RSUs, which may vest in the form of Award Shares or the actual selling price of the Award
Shares of RSUs in cash in accordance with the RSU Plan.

Purpose of the RSU Plan

The purpose of the RSU Plan is to align the interests of Eligible Persons with those of our
Group through ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares
and/or the increase in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain Eligible Persons to
make contributions to the long-term growth and profits of our Group.
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Awards

An Award gives a selected participant a conditional right, when the RSU vests, to obtain
the Award Share or, if in the absolute discretion of the Board, it is not practicable for the
selected participant to receive the Award in Shares, the cash equivalent from the sale of
the Award Shares. For the avoidance of doubt, the Board at its discretion may from time
to time determine that any dividends declared and paid by our Company in relation to the
Award Shares be paid to the selected participant even though the Award Shares have not
yet vested.

Grant of Award

(i

Making the Grant

The Board may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion, select any
Eligible Person to be a selected participant (the “Selected Participant”) and
grant an Award to a Selected Participant by way of an award letter (the “Award
Letter”). The Award Letter will specify the grant date, the number of Award
Shares underlying the Award, the vesting criteria and conditions (including the
Performance Target(s)), the vesting date and such other details as the Board
may consider necessary. Subject to the determination of the Board otherwise, no
amount is payable by the grantee on the acceptance of an Award, and no purchase
price is payable by the grantee on vesting of an Award.

Each grant of an Award to any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of our Company, or any of their respective associates shall be subject to the prior
approval of the Independent Non-Executive Directors of our Company (excluding
any independent non-executive Director who is a proposed recipient of an Award).
Our Company will comply with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules for any grant of Shares to connected persons of our Company.
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(i)

82

Restrictions on Grant and Timing of Grants

The Board may not grant any Award to any selected participant in any of the
following circumstances:

A

Beisen Holding Limited

where any requisite approval from any applicable regulatory authorities has
not been granted;

where any member of our Group will be required under applicable
securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a Prospectus or other offer
documents in respect of such Award or the RSU Plan, unless the Board
determines otherwise;

where such Award would result in a breach by any member of our Group
or its directors of any applicable securities laws, rules or regulations in any
jurisdiction;

but for the relevant waivers from the Stock Exchange or approval of
Shareholders or independent Shareholders, where such grant of Award
would result in a breach of the RSU Plan Limit (as defined below), the
Individual Limit (as defined below), Service Providers Limit (as defined
below) and the Director, Substantial Shareholder Limit and Chief Executive
Limit (as defined below) or the 25% minimum public float requirement as
required under the Listing Rules (or such other percentage as approved or
agreed by the Stock Exchange), or would otherwise cause our Company
to issue Shares in excess of the permitted amount approved by the
Shareholders;

where an Award is to be satisfied by way of issue of new Shares to the
RSU Trustee, in any circumstances that cause the total Shares issued or
allotted to connected persons to be in excess of the amount approved by
the Shareholders;

after inside information has become to our Company’s knowledge until

(and including) the trading day after our Company has announced the
information;
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G. during the period commencing one month immediately before the earlier
of:

1. the date of the Board meeting (as such date is first notified to the
Stock Exchange under the Listing Rules) for approving the results
of the Company for any year, half-year, quarterly or any other
interim period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules);
and

2. the deadline for the Company to announce its results for any year or
half-year under the Listing Rules, or quarterly or any other interim
period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules), and
ending on (and including) the date of the results announcement. No
Award shall be granted during any period of delay in publishing a
results announcement;

H. during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication of the
annual results of our Company or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant financial year up to the publication date of the results; and

during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the publication date of
the quarterly (if any) or half-yearly results or, if shorter, the period from the
end of the relevant quarterly or half-year period up to the publication of the
results.
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Maximum Number of Shares to be granted

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to the RSU Plan
(excluding Award which have been lapsed in accordance with the RSU Plan) will not
exceed 6% of the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of approval of the
RSU Plan (being 68,349,127 Shares prior to the Share Subdivision), and subsequently
adjusted to 683,491,270 Shares following the Share Subdivision without Shareholders’
approval (the “RSU Plan Limit"), i.e. 41,009,476 Shares. The Company may seek (i) to
refresh the RSU Plan Limit once every three years with Shareholders’ approval by way of an
ordinary resolution, or (ii) to refresh the RSU Plan Limit within the aforementioned three-
year period with independent Shareholders’ approval by way of an ordinary resolution, in
accordance with the Listing Rules. For the avoidance of doubts, unless otherwise waived
by the Stock Exchange, the RSU Plan Limit shall not exceed 10% Shares of issued Shares
at the relevant time.

As of the date of this report, grant of 5,120,000 Awards have been made pursuant to
the RSU Plan. The total number of shares available for issue under the RSU Plan were
40,631,976, which represented approximately 5.80% of the Company’s total number of
issued shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this report. For the purpose
of Rule 17.09(3) of the Listing Rules, 40,631,976 was calculated by the number of RSUs
available for grant under the RSU Plan (41,009,476) minus the number of vested/cancelled
RSUs (377,500) as of the date of this report.

Save as the RSU Plan Limit or as otherwise approved by Shareholders by way of an
ordinary resolution in accordance with the Listing Rules, for any 12-month period, the
aggregate number of Shares granted to any Selected Participant shall not exceed 1%
of the total number of the issued Shares at the relevant time (the “Individual Limit”)
without Shareholders’ approval by way of an ordinary resolution in accordance with Rule
17.03D(1) of the Listing Rules.

Subject to the RSU Plan Limit or as otherwise approved by the Shareholders by ordinary
resolution in accordance with the Listing Rules, the maximum aggregate number of Shares
which may be issued upon the vesting or exercise of the Awards to be granted to Service
Providers pursuant to the RSU Plan shall not exceed 0.5% (the “Service Providers
Limit") of the issued Shares at the relevant time without Shareholders’ approval by way of
an ordinary resolution.

Subject to the Individual Limit, if the grant of Awards to a Director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group or any affiliate of the
Group, a substantial Shareholder or the chief executive of the Company would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all Awards granted to such person in any
12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the total number of the issued Shares at the relevant
time, such grant of Awards must be approved by the independent Shareholders by way of
an ordinary resolution in accordance with Rule 17.04(4) of the Listing Rules.
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Rights attached to the Award

Save that the Board at its discretion may from time to time determine that any dividends
declared and paid by our Company in relation to the Award Shares be paid to the selected
participants even though the RSUs have not yet vested, the selected participant only has
a contingent interest in the Award underlying an Award unless and until such Award are
actually transferred to the selected participant, nor does he/she have any rights to any
related income until the RSUs are vested.

The Award Letter may require the selected participant to grant a power of attorney to the
Board or any Person designated by the Board to exercise the voting rights with respect to
the Shares and the Company may require the selected participant exercising such Award to
acknowledge and agree to be bound by the provisions of the currently effective Articles, the
Shareholders Agreements and other documents of the Gompany in relation to the Shares (if
any), as if the Selected Participant is a holder of Ordinary Shares thereunder.

The RSU Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any Award Shares which
are held under the Trust that have not yet vested.

Issue of Shares and/or transfer of funds to the RSU Trustee

The Company shall, within a reasonable period as determined by the Board (or its duly
appointed administrator), from the Grant Date, (i) issue and allot Shares (or transfer
treasury shares) to the RSU Trustee and/or (ii) transfer to the RSU Trustee the necessary
funds and instruct the RSU Trustee to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at
the prevailing market price, o as to satisfy the Awards.

The Company shall not issue or allot Award Shares (or transfer treasury shares) nor
instruct the RSU Trustee to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the prevailing
market price, where such action (as applicable) is prohibited under the Listing Rules, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance or other applicable laws from time to time. Where such
a prohibition causes the prescribed timing imposed by the RSU Plan Rules or the trust
deed to be missed, such prescribed timing shall be treated as extended until as soon as
reasonably practicable after the first business day on which the prohibition no longer
prevents the relevant action.

Assignment of Awards

Unless express written consent is obtained from the Board, any Award granted under the
RSU Plan but not yet vested are personal to the selected participants to whom they are
granted and cannot be assigned or transferred. A selected participant shall not in any
way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in favor of any other
person over or in relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to do so, unless a
waiver is granted by the Stock Exchange to allow a transfer of Awards to a vehicle (including
a trust or a private company) for the benefit of the Selected Participant and his/her family
member (e.g. for estate planning or tax planning purposes), provided such transfer would
continue to meet the purpose of the RSU Plan and other requirements under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.
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Vesting of Awards

The Board may from time to time while the RSU Plan is in force and subject to all
applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Award to
be vested. The vesting period of any Award granted under the RSU Plan, and as specified
in the relevant Award Letter, should not be less than 12 months, unless a shorter vesting
period is approved by the Board.

Within a reasonable time period as agreed between the RSU Trustee and the Board from
time to time prior to any vesting date, the Board will send a vesting notice to the relevant
selected participant and instruct the RSU Trustee the extent to which the Award Shares held
in the trust shall be transferred and released from the trust to the selected participant or
be sold as soon as practicable from the vesting date. Subject to the receipt of the vesting
notice and notification from the Board, the RSU Trustee will transfer and release the
relevant Award in the manner as determined by the Board or sell the relevant Award Shares
and pay the actual selling price to the selected participant within a reasonable time period (in
both cases with the related income, if any).

If there is an event of change in control of the Company by way of a merger, a privatization
of the Company by way of a scheme or by way of an offer, all Awards will become vested
and exercisable immediately and no longer be subject to forfeiture or repurchase right
of the Company, according to the terms of the RSU Plan at such times and under such
conditions as determined by the Board and set forth in the letter containing the offer or
grant of the relevant Awards unless the Board determines otherwise.

Consolidation, subdivision, bonus issue and other distribution

In the event the Company undertakes a subdivision or consolidation of the Shares,
corresponding changes will be made to the number of outstanding RSUs that have
been granted provided that the adjustments shall be made in such manner as the Board
determines to be fair and reasonable in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the
benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the RSU Plan for the
selected participants. All fractional shares (if any) arising out of such consolidation or
subdivision in respect of the Award Shares of a selected participant shall be deemed as
returned shares and shall not be transferred to the relevant selected participant on the
relevant Vesting Date. The RSU Trustee shall hold returned shares to be applied towards
future Awards in accordance with the provisions of the RSU Plan rules for the purpose of
the RSU Plan.

In the event of an issue of Shares by the Company credited as fully paid to the holders
of the Shares by way of capitalization of profits or reserves (including share premium
account), the Shares attributable to any Award Shares held by the RSU Trustee shall be
deemed to be an accretion to such Award Shares and shall be held by the RSU Trustee as
if they were Award Shares purchased by the RSU Trustee hereunder and all the provisions
hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to such additional Shares.
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In the event of any non-cash distribution or other events not referred to above by reason
of which the Board considers an adjustment to an outstanding Award to be fair and
reasonable, an adjustment shall be made to the number of outstanding RSUs of each
selected participant as the Board shall consider as fair and reasonable, in order to prevent
difution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available
under the RSU Plan for the selected participants. The Company shall provide such funds,
or such directions on application of the returned shares or returned trust funds, as may be
required to enable the RSU Trustee to purchase Shares on-market at the prevailing market
price to satisfy the additional Award.

In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made by the Company not
otherwise referred to in the RSU Plan rules in respect of the Shares held upon trust, the
RSU Trustee shall sell such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be deemed
as related income of the Award Shares or returned trust funds of the returned Shares held
upon trust as the case may be.

Termination of Continuous Service

Except as otherwise determined by the Board at the time of the grant of the Award or
thereafter, upon termination of an employee’s continuous service the applicable restriction
period, all Awards that are at that time unvested shall lapse or repurchased in accordance
with the Award Letter; provided, however, that the Board may (a) provide in any Award
Letter that restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to Awards will be
waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes,
and (b) in other cases waive in whole or in part restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase
conditions relating to Awards.

If a selected participant ceases to be an Eligible Person for reasons other than those stated
in the above paragraph, any outstanding RSUs and related income not yet vested in the
form of Award Shares shall be immediately lapsed and forfeited, unless the board or its
delegate(s) determines otherwise at their absolute discretion.
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Alteration of the RSU Plan and the Awards

The RSU Plan may be altered in any respect (save for the RSU Plan Limit) by a resolution
of the Board provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect adversely any
subsisting rights of any selected participant unless otherwise provided for in the rules of
the RSU Plan, except:

(if)

(i)

with the consent in writing of selected participants amounting to three-fourths in
nominal value of all RSUs held by the RSU Trustee on that date;

with the sanction of a special resolution that is passed at a meeting of the selected
participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal value of all RSUs held by the
RSU Trustee on that date; or

as required by the Listing Rules or other applicable laws and/or regulations.

Termination and remaining life

The RSU Plan shall terminate on the earlier of:

(1)

(if)

the end of the period of ten years commencing on the date on which this scheme
is adopted except in respect of any non-vested RSUs granted hereunder prior to
the expiration of the RSU Plan, for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting in the
form of Award Shares of such RSUs or otherwise as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the RSU Plan; and

such date of early termination as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any selected participant under
the rules of the RSU Plan, provided further that for the avoidance of doubt, the
change in the subsisting rights of a selected participant in this paragraph refers
solely to any change in the rights in respect of the RSUs already granted to a
selected participant.

As such, as of the date of this report, the remaining life of the RSU Plan is approximately
six years and six months.

Administration of the RSU Plan

The RSU Plan shall be subject to the administration of the Board in accordance with the
RSU Plan and, where applicable, the trustee deed. The authority to administer the scheme
may be delegated by the Board to a committee of the Board or any person(s) as deemed
appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board.
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Outstanding RSUs granted

During the Reporting Period:

(1)

(i)

on 22 April 2024, the Board resolved to grant a total of 270,000 RSUs to 7
grantees, being the employees of the Group, to subscribe for a total of 270,000
Shares pursuant to the RSU Plan and all of the offers of RSUs were accepted.
The RSUs granted are subject to, amongst others, a vesting schedule in tranches
and fulfilment of performance targets. The Group will evaluate the employees’
performance and their contribution to the Group. The number of RSUs that will vest
in each anniversary of the Grant Date shall be determined based on the performance
ranking of the employee participants of the relevant year. The performance ranking
is linked to the performance of the employee participants (and in some cases, the
departments of the employee participants) for the relevant year, as assessed by
the Group. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 22
April 2024;

on 1 August 2024, the Board resolved to grant a total of 2,550,000 RSUs to 79
grantees, being the employees of the Group, to subscribe for a total of 2,550,000
Shares pursuant to the RSU Plan and all of the offers of RSUs were accepted.
The RSUs granted are subject to, amongst others, a vesting schedule in tranches
and fulfilment of performance targets. The Group will evaluate the employees’
performance and their contribution to the Group. The number of RSUs that will vest
in each anniversary of the Grant Date shall be determined based on the performance
ranking of the employee participants of the relevant year. The performance ranking
is linked to the performance of the employee participants (and in some cases, the
departments of the employee participants) for the relevant year, as assessed by
the Group. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 1
August 2024;

on 10 October 2024, the Board resolved to grant a total of 580,000 RSUs to 8
grantees, being the employees of the Group, to subscribe for a total of 580,000
Shares pursuant to the RSU Plan and all of the offers of RSUs were accepted.
The RSUs granted are subject to, amongst others, a vesting schedule in tranches
and fulfilment of performance targets. The Group will evaluate the employees’
performance and their contribution to the Group. The number of RSUs that will vest
in each anniversary of the Grant Date shall be determined based on the performance
ranking of the employee participants of the relevant year. The performance ranking
is linked to the performance of the employee participants (and in some cases, the
departments of the employee participants) for the relevant year, as assessed by
the Group. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 10
QOctober 2024; and
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(iv)

on 16 January 2025, the Board resolved to grant a total of 862,500 RSUs to 8
grantees, being the employees of the Group, to subscribe for a total of 862,500
Shares pursuant to the RSU Plan and all of the offers of RSUs were accepted.
The RSUs granted are subject to, amongst others, a vesting schedule in tranches
and fulfilment of performance targets. The Group will evaluate the employees’
performance and their contribution to the Group. The number of RSUs that will vest
in each anniversary of the Grant Date shall be determined based on the performance
ranking of the employee participants of the relevant year. The performance ranking
is linked to the performance of the employee participants (and in some cases, the
departments of the employee participants) for the relevant year, as assessed by
the Group. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 16
January 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, save for the aforesaid grant of RSUs, no other RSUs had been
granted or agreed to be granted by the Company under the RSU Plan during the Reporting
Period. Accordingly, the total number of RSUs available for grant under the scheme
mandate of the RSU Plan were 39,589,476 and 35,624,476, respectively and the number of
RSUs available for grant under the Service Providers Limit were 3,417,456 and 3,417,456
as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025. Details of movement in RSUs under the RSU Plan
during the Reporting Period pursuant to Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules are set out below.
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Notes:

(1) The RSUs granted shall be vested over one to four years from the dates of grant.

(2) The RSUs granted under the RSU Plan are subject to fulfilment of the KPI of such year,
meaning the KPI of the grantee for the applicable year duly determined by the Company.

(3) Since the adoption of the RSU Plan, no awards had been made to (i) any Director, chief
executive, substantial shareholder or their respective associates; or (ii) related entity
participant or service provider. In addition, there is no participant with options and
awards granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit.

(4) The RSUs granted will first be satisfied by the Shares held by the RSU Trustee in
accordance with the sequence in which they are granted. After all Shares held by the
RSU Trustee have been used, the RSUs granted will then be satisfied by new Shares
issued by the Company and/or transfer of treasury shares held by the Company. As
such, the grants on 1 August 2024 and after will be satisfied by new Shares issued by
the Company and/or transfer of treasury shares held by the Company.

(5) Details of the valuation of the share awards of the Company during the Reporting Period,
including the accounting standard and policy adopted for the share schemes, are set out
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

(6) The purchase price of all RSUs mentioned in the table above is nil.
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Plan” and “RSU Plan”
above and the Concurrent Share Transaction disclosed in the section headed "Management
Discussion and Analysis" of this report, there was no equity-linked agreement entered into
by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of our Directors, their associates or any of our shareholders (who or which to the
knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of our issued share capital) had any
interest in any of our five largest suppliers or our five largest customers for the year ended
31 March 2025.
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GENERAL MANDATE TO REPURCHASE SHARES

Our Directors have been granted a general unconditional mandate to exercise all the
powers of our Company to repurchase our own securities with a total number of up to 10%
of the aggregate number of issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares) at
the date of passing of the shareholder resolution (i.e. on 20 September 2024).

The repurchase mandate only relates to repurchases of our Shares made on the Stock
Exchange, or on any other stock exchange on which our Shares are listed (and which
are recognized by the SFC and the Stock Exchange for this purpose), subject to and in
accordance with all applicable laws and the Listing Rules.

This general mandate to repurchase Shares will expire at the earliest of:

(@  the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(b)  the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by any applicable laws or the Articles of Association to be
held; or

(c)  the revocation or variation of the authority given under the shareholder resolution

by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting
of the Company.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company repurchased a total of 22,091,200 Shares
(the “Shares Repurchased”) on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
(excluding transaction cost) of HK$98,259,972. All of the Shares Repurchased were held
as treasury shares. The Company intends to use the treasury shares as awards for the
participant(s) in the RSU Plan and/or for other purposes in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The repurchase was effected because the Board considered that a share repurchase
in the then conditions demonstrates the Company’s confidence in its own business outlook
and prospects and would, in the long term, benefit the Company and create value to the
Shareholders. Particulars of the Shares Repurchased for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
as follows:

RME HEBROFELF LHES

HE025FIANAILFE AR RBRMELNS
$£22,091,2008 B £ ([FRAREIBR 4R 1) - (KB4 (1
BERXRHRA) 798,259,972 7T o T #E @ B {0 #5 1E
BIFR ) o AR RS B A E R BB B
g2 BmENRB L FEMTE ETRANNA
B-EFERA AWERNKABERD 8
ARRHEGEBNRERASAAEFL 4R
AR aY RRRAEEE - AEHRBER -
BE025FIANBIEFE - FABEROFBET

No. of Shares Highest price Lowest price Aggregate

Month of repurchase repurchased paid per Share paid per Share consideration
BE A 3 IO $E SEREFESE SKRENRER K {E#E
(HK$) (HK$) (HKS)

(#7T) (#7T) (#&7T)

June 2024 202446 A 12,820,800 5.25 3.74 62,546,644
July 2024 202447 A 2,340,200 4.50 3.73 9,559,328
August 2024 202448 A 2,024,000 3.80 3.48 7,386,380
September 2024 202449 A 2,890,200 3.70 3.08 9,904,608
October 2024 202410 A 1,040,000 3.81 3.46 3,762,242
January 2025 202551 A 193,000 4.75 4.61 907,304
February 2025 202552 A 162,600 4.73 4.71 769,020
March 2025 202543 A 620,400 5.77 5.20 3,424,446
Total st 22,091,200 98,259,972

During the Reporting Period, the trustee of the RSU Plan has purchased 79,000 Shares
on the Stock Exchange, at a consideration ranging from HK$3.92 to HK$4.64 per share,
representing an aggregate of approximately HK$0.35 million (including commission and
transaction cost). The Shares purchased during such period will be used as awards for the
participant(s) in the RSU Plan.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of the treasury shares)
for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

In June 2024, the Group made donation in the amount of RMB120,000 to Beijing Yixin
Care Charity Foundation (3t 7R — 0 B8 & 2& & & & &) in support of Love Kitchen
Project, and RMB60,000 to Xining Xingguang Special Children Service Institution (75 %
T2 YRR 52 Z AR IS4 H8) in support of the daily life and study of autistic children
with the institution.

In December 2024, the Group donated RMB100,000 to Shanghai Yongda Foundation (=
Y8 5K 3E B £ 2) to support assistance for poor children.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board is of the opinion that the
Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 96 to 119 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
have been audited by KPMG. KPMG shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-
appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, PricewaterhouseCoopers has resigned as the
auditor of the Company on 29 February 2024 and KPMG was appointed as the auditor of
the Company on 18 March 2024. Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the
auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

By order of the Board of Directors
Beisen Holding Limited

Mr. Wang Zhaohui

Chairman

Chengdu, the PRC, 19 June 2025

—=F
—=

TNF/—ERF FERE

HER™

204568 - AEBAE R - LHAEREES RN
ARBE1200007T - AXHBEOEREBRE - ARAA
ETE NIRRT E RTS8 A R %60,000T -
RARXFHZEBEERERENRFERRESE -

014F12F  AREER LB KEESTERBARE
100,000T AR ERN ZEEHKIER -

BFERERTA

ARRBIBFSKFHOEEER  AREBERR
Mg RADFEE RIEEERS - ARFER
MEEBERTAERERGNEET AT - BHE
05F3ANALEFE  EFE@RRAARCETE
ZEERSTAIPTE AT T RIS -

ARBRMNEEEQRBRFBENNREEE
MIEMBEREARS

% BBl

AREBEZ2025FIANAILFENGEE U BRED
RESHRGTMEHEAER - RHEHGEEBAR
ERE  ATAEBERTREERET  HERER
BRERERRBFAE LIER

HE2024F3A3BILFE - BER KBS ER
FTE R2024F2B20B BH IR AR 26 £E5HE
TN B RS FTTA2024E3 B 18 B EER T AR R B 208D -
B EXFREEN  ARATZYMNBE=FE
] E o

AEEEGW

Beisen Holding Limited
FEEEE

B2

FREIRK D - 202556 198

LHRZERERAT 95



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIHRE

CORPORATE CULTURE

“To create talents through the means of technology and to help Chinese enterprises to
equip themselves with world-leading talent management capabilities” is the mission of the
Company.

The Company is a leading company engaged in human resources technology in China.
Through the use of innovative integrated HR SaaS and talent management platforms,
we provide Chinese enterprises with end-to-end total solutions for all technologies
and products in human resource management scenarios, including HR software, talent
management methodology, employee service ecosystems and low-code platforms. We
help enterprises to achieve digital management covering the entire employee lifecycle
including recruitment, onboarding, management and offboarding, so as to quickly improve
their efficiency for human resource management, to improve their talent management
capabilities and help the employees to achieve rapid growth, so as to achieve smart
decision making. The vision of the Company is to become one of the most reliable human
resources technology companies to clients.

The Company is firmly committed to a high level of corporate governance and adherence
to the governance principles and practices emphasising transparency, independence,
accountability, responsibility and fairness. These principles and practices are reviewed
and revised regularly as appropriate to reflect the ever-changing regulatory requirements
and corporate governance development. The Board believes that the high standards
of corporate governance is the essential core for sustaining the Group’s long term
performance and value creation for our Shareholders, the investing public and the other
stakeholders.

The Company also recognises the importance of integrity, ethical conduct, and responsible
business practices, which are instilled and continually reinforced across the Group. It
strives to foster a culture of compliance, good corporate governance, and ethical behaviour
with its stakeholders to build trust and credibility.

The Board has established the Company’s purpose, values, and strategy, and has satisfied
itself that the Company’s culture is aligned. By acting with integrity and leading by
example, the Directors will further and continue to promote the desired culture within the
Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate our business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the CG Code contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the Reporting Period, the Company has complied
with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Directors will periodically
review on the Company’s corporate governance policies and will propose any amendment,
if necessary, to ensure compliance with the code provisions from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions since the Listing
Date. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed
that he or she has complied with the requirements as set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance and makes decisions objectively in the best interests
of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a Director to perform his/
her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending sufficient time
performing such responsibilities.

—=F
—=

TNF/—ERF FERE

ERELER
EFGHNERRINLEDAREE -

EEgRERINEEXEAREHARAMSEN
A SRERAIMESR - WRER RN - RABREE
) TE SE 7 SRAE RBOR - s (LB AR RE A S o

AR £ R BB ERC1 X B IR <P RIFTH 6 /R
AR SFRMEX - ERARRBEEERTROER -

EERA RBEERN - FRAEBTOLEEAT
BIFFBLAD T PRI - BB EHBHAA AL
$EBIUR  MVERELET  UWRRHATHZ
FRIEX o

EFETESFXS

BT AR - AR R E AR L AR A SRC3FT B
ZIBEFA ERADRNERRTESRHZBT
TR EAEREEELABSHE  REEHR
EEAREAS SEFORBRSCETRET
BUFTERE -

EEE

EERBHEIELF  EEAREEY  BEOAR
RER  TRBELFARRARERENORE -

EXgRTHRNEZRITELSATREMTER
NEEERERARASGHETHRE -

LHRZERERAT 97



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEER®RSE

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of three executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (Chairman)

Mr. Ji Weiguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Xianna (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Du Kui

Mr. Zhao Honggiang

Mr. Ge Ke

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management — Directors” on pages 42 to 47 of this report.

Save as disclosed in this report, to the best knowledge of the Board, there has been no
other financial, business, family, or other material/relevant relationships among members
of the Board.

In terms of gender diversity, while there has already been one female Director on the Board
as at the date of this annual report, the Company and the Nomination Committee recognise
the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and are committed to
continue to identify female candidates and ensure at least one member of the Board and
the Nomination Committee shall be female.

As at 31 March 2025, our workforce (including the senior management) consisted of 975
male employees and 923 female employees, representing approximately 51.4% and 48.6%
of the total workforce, respectively. The Company will continue to take gender diversity
into consideration during recruitment and increase the minority gender proportion at
all levels over time with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity. In recognizing the
particular importance of gender diversity and that gender diversity at the Board level and
our management level can be improved, we are using our best endeavours to ensure the
principles of board and gender diversity are integrated into our recruitment process for
staff at a mid to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of potential employees (including
senior management) and successors to our Board and engage more resources in training
staff (particularly female staff) who have extensive and relevant experience in our business,
with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or directorship of our Group.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

Cade provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the board should meet regularly
and board meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals involving active participation, either in person or through electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code requires the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other directors.

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at least four times
a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of no less than fourteen days are
given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend
and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the Board held
four Board meetings to review, among others, the Group’s overall strategy, business
prospect, financial and operating performance, review of the Group’s annual and interim
results announcements and reports, regulatory compliance, corporate governance, the
forthcoming annual general meeting, reappoint external auditors and Board members and
other significant matters. The Company will comply with Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG
Code to convene Board meetings at least four times a year at approximately quarterly.

For other Board meetings and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
Board committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings.
When Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views
known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the joint
company secretaries of the Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are recorded in sufficient
detail about the matters considered by the Board and the Board committees and the
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each
Board meeting and Board committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board
meetings are open for inspection by the Directors.

The AGM is scheduled to be held on 18 September 2025. For details, please refer to the
circular for the AGM.
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The attendance of each Director at the Board and Board committee meetings and the
annual general meeting of the Company during the Reporting Period is set out below:

BERR ZEFHEARFAEZTEER EFZ
SERLBRBAFARSBEREIMOT

=

Attendance/Number of Meetings

ERHERE FERE
Annual
Audit  Remuneration Nomination general
Board Committee Committee Committee meeting
Name of Director BEE E¥Fe ZUZRE FHMZERE REZAE RFEBEXE
Executive Directors: BTEE:
Mr. Wang Zhaohui TEELE 44 - - 1 il
Mr. Ji Weiguo REELE 414 - 17 - "
Ms. Liu Xianna Bt 44 - - - 7"
Independent
Non-Executive Directors: BIFkRTES:
Mr. Du Kui HERE 4/4 212 1 n 1
Mr. Zhao Honggiang HREEE 44 212 - - 17
Mr. Ge Ke B &AE 4/4 212 n 1 1
In addition to the regular Board meetings, during the year ended 31 March 2025, the M EE=& FHA & #0 » B Z202543 7318 LFE -

Chairman also held a meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the
attendance of other Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are held by Mr.
Wang Zhaohui and Mr. Ji Weiguo, respectively. The Chairman focuses on the Board's
work related to the operation and management of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer
provides overall strategic planning and business direction of the Group and management
of the Company. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period to the date of this report, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

We have received from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Du
Kui, Mr. Zhao Honggiang and Mr. Ge Ke, the confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has duly reviewed the
confirmation of independence of each of these Directors. We consider that our independent
non-executive Directors have been independent for the Reporting Period and remain so as
at the date of this report.
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Mechanisms to Ensure Independent Views

The Company ensures independent views and input are available to the Board via the
below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors should be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis,
in particular the portion of the independent non-executive Directors and the
independence of the independent non-executive director who has served for more
than nine years.

2. Awritten confirmation was received by the Company under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors in relation to his/ner
independence to the Company. The Company considers all its independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid conflict of
interests, the Directors who are also directors and/or senior management of the
Company’s controlling shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries of the controlling
shareholders, would abstain from voting in the relevant Board resolutions in
relation to the transactions with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates.

4, The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent non-executive Directors at
least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent professional advice when
necessary to perform their responsibilities in accordance with the company policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent views and input are
available to the Board on an annual basis, whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and their contribution and access
to external independent professional advice.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023, which may be terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than two months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term. The appointments
of Directors are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
Articles of Association.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not three or multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include any Director who wishes
to retire and not offer himself for re-election. The Articles of Association also provides
that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-glection.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and
Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is
collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides direction to
the management by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors
the Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities
relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

The Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to
effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive induction on the
first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of a Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
shall be supplemented by regular meetings with senior management of the Group to
understand the Group’s businesses, governance policies and regulatory environment.

The Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors are continually provided with
information relating to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime and the
business and market environments to facilitate the execution of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefings and professional development for the Directors were arranged by the
Company and its professional advisers.
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The training records of the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 are summarized
as follows:

BE2025F3A3N A L FENERZIEEMIIMT

Participated in

continuous

professional

development "¢

2HBE

Directors EF BEERRE

Executive Directors BITEE

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (Chairman) TR R L (FE) 4

Mr. Ji Weiguo (Chief Executive Officer) WEBLE (TTBEAZ) v

Ms. Liu Xianna (Chief Financial Officer) AEMLx (HEHAFEE) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFRITES

Mr. Du Kui MBS A v

Mr. Zhao Honggiang AR S v

Mr. Ge Ke BILE v

Note:  Attended training/seminar/conference arranged by the Company or other external
parties or read relevant materials

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authorities and duties, and
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are
posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set out under the section
headed “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhao Honggiang, Mr. Ge Ke and Mr. Du Kui. Mr. Zhao Honggiang, who has
financial management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules, serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee include, but not limited to, the following:

° making recommendation to the Board on the appointment or change of external
auditors to our Board, and monitoring the independence of external auditors
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards;

° examining the financial information of our Company and reviewing financial
reports and statements of our Company;

o overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures;
o dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board or involved in relevant

laws and regulations; and

° to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings to review the
interim financial results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, and relevant scope of works and,
connected transactions and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 31 March 2025 have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee on 19 June 2025. The Audit Committee considers that the annual
financial results for the year ended 31 March 2025 are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures have been
duly made. The Group’s internal control and risk management systems were reviewed
regularly by the management of the Company. With the view of enhancing the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems, during the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group had its internal audit function to review the Group’s internal control system
and recommend actions to improve the Group’s internal controls. Based on the review,
the Audit Committee is of the view that the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems were generally effective and adequate and in compliance with the requirements of
the CG Code D.2.1 for the year ended 31 March 2025 in all material respects.
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Remuneration Committee

We have established a Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ge
Ke and Mr. Du Kui and one executive Director, namely Mr. Ji Weiguo. Mr. Ge Ke serves as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but not limited to, the following:

o making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

o reviewing and approving management’'s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's goals and objectives;

o reviewing and approving the compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment and
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct;

o reviewing and/or approving matters relating to shares schemes under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules; and

° dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model as described in code provision
E.1.2(c) (i) of the CG Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management, including salaries,
bonuses, pension rights, compensation payments and benefits in kind.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management.
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The remuneration payable to the senior management"*# of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2025 is shown in the following table by band:

NREFB 2025438318 IEFEERIARR R =R
EREMX NS SHE

Annual Remuneration

Number of individual(s)

FEME AB
RMB8,000,001 to RMB8,500,000 1
A R #8,000,001 70 = A K #8,500,0007C

RMB9,500,001 to RMB10,000,000 1
AR #9,500,0017C & A KR %10,000,0007T

Total 2
Mt

Note: Qur senior management team comprises of Mr. Ji Weiguo and Ms. Liu Xianna.

Further details of the remuneration payable to the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in notes 34 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.

Nomination Committee

We have established a Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. On 19 June 2025,
Mr. Wang Zhaohui ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee while Ms. Liu
Xianna has been appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ge
Ke and Mr. Du Kui and one executive Director, namely Ms. Liu Xianna. Mr. Du Kui serves
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee include, but not limited to, the following:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) required of the Board annually, assisting the Board in
maintaining a board skills matrix, and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o making recommendation to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors in particular the chairman and
the chief executive;
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o evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board
before appointments are made by the Board and formulating, or assisting the
Board to formulate, a board diversity policy and a workforce (including senior
management) diversity policy for the Company;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and selecting or
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorship;

° assessing and reviewing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

° dealing with other matters that are authorized by our Board.

The Nomination Committee should seek independent professional advice to perform its
responsibilities, when necessary, at the Company’s expense.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into account
various aspects as well as factors concerning board diversity as set out in the Company’s
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee considered an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Nomination Policy
Director Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a nomination policy in compliance with the CG Code with
effect from the Listing Date, which establishes written guidelines to Nomination
Committee to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships
with reference to the formulated criteria. The Nomination Committee shall propose suitable
candidates to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to the Shareholders
for appointment as directors of the Company at general meetings. The Board, through the
delegation of its authority to the Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure
that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge in business, finance and management skills critical to the Group’s business to
enable the Board to make sound and well considered decisions. Collectively, they have
competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall identify director candidates with appropriate
qualifications in accordance with the provisions under the Listing Rules, the Articles of
Association and applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the
qualifications, skills, experience and gender diversity that add to and complement the
range of skills, experience and background of existing Directors by considering the
highest personal and professional ethics and integrity of the director candidates, proven
achievement and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment, skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board, the ability
to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the Company’s
success and such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company
and its Shareholders. The Company shall review and reassess the nomination policy and
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the Board has been
created or is expected on a regular basis or as required. The Nomination Committee
utilises various methods for identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search firms. All director candidates,
including incumbents and candidates nominated by Shareholders are evaluated by the
Nomination Committee based upon the director qualifications. While director candidates
will be evaluated on the same criteria through review of resume, personal interview and
performance of background checks. The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to
establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
skill sets, age, gender and experiences of the collective Board rather than on the individual
candidate for the purpose of diversity perspectives appropriate to the requirement of the
Company’s business.
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Board Diversity Policy

We are committed to promoting the culture of diversity in the Company. We have strived to
promote diversity to the extent practicable by taking into consideration a number of factors
in our corporate governance structure.

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of
our Board. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, cultural background, educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
knowledge and experience in the areas of business administration, education, development
policy, accounting and engineering. Our Board Diversity Policy is well implemented as
evidenced by the fact that there are both male and female Directors ranging from 48 years
old to 61 years old with different nationalities and experience from different industries and
sectors. After due consideration, our Board believes that based on our existing business
model and specific needs, and the background of our Directors, the composition of our
Board satisfies the principles under the Board Diversity Policy.

We will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of our Company,
including but not limited to our Board and the senior management levels. In particular,
given that one out of six of our Directors is female, our Board will, taking into account
the business needs of our Group and changing circumstances from time to time that
may affect our Group’s business plans, use its best endeavors to actively identify female
individuals suitably qualified to become our Board members (keeping in mind the
importance of management continuity and the timeline for retirement and reappointment of
Directors under the Articles). We will also continue to ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in due time to ensure gender diversity
of our Board. Qur Group will continue to emphasize training of female talent and providing
long-term development opportunities for our female staff. During the process, we may face
the issue of whether the supply of personnel of a particular gender in the human resources
market matches the required qualifications, experience and skills required for positions
within the Company. Despite these challenges, we will endeavour to maintain gender
balance in the workforce.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of our Board
members. Our Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and we will disclose in our
corporate governance report about the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy on an
annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Functions

Our Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance with a
view to safeguarding the interests of our Shareholders, by complying with the CG Code
and the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board and the Audit Committee had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management of the Group, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

We have devoted ourselves to establishing and maintaining risk management and internal
control systems consisting of policies and procedures that we consider to be appropriate
for our business operations, and we are dedicated to continuously improving these
systems. We have adopted and implemented comprehensive risk management policies
in various aspects of our business operations, such as information system, regulatory
compliance, human resources and financial reporting. The Group’s system of internal
control is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems
and fulfillment of the business objectives. The internal control system is reviewed on
an ongoing basis by the Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing
reasonable assurance in relation to protection of material assets and the Shareholders’
interests.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify, assess and
manage different types of risks. As the first line of defence, business units are responsible
for identifying, assessing and monitoring risk associated with each business or
transaction. The management, as the second line of defence, defines rule sets and models,
provides technical support, develops new system and oversees portfolio management. It
ensures that risks are within acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective. As
the final line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Audit Committee to review
the first and second lines of defence.

Our Board is responsible and has the general power to supervise the operations of our
business, and is in charge of managing the overall risks of our Company. It is responsible
for considering, reviewing and approving any significant business decision involving
material risk exposures. Our Board will monitor the ongoing implementation of our risk
management policies and corporate governance measures. The Audit Committee under
our Board comprises three members, namely Mr. Zhao Honggiang, Mr. Ge Ke and Mr.
Du Kui, with Mr. Zhao Honggiang (being our independent non-executive director with the
appropriate professional qualifications) as chairman of the Audit Committee.

—=F
—=

TNF/—ERF FERE

EERETAMEE

AR R)EEE T R EA ST R K& £ AR R $xC3pT
BEMBTAESETESFIZNEESTR BN
EREKFHREER - MRERRF R -

HENB5FIANAILFE - EF@REREZERD
EHARANECEELRRRLER EERAKH
BREEENEIRGEERER  ARRETE
REEEATNBRIER - RETANETER
ARARRARETEEERTRRAEEEGREN
BEEWN

8 B 2B e 9 B4l

APIBD 10 R 7 B A s L TR L R A U IR
HP R MR REE RMNXFELNBERRIER
TENTHREZFHE RACEEERRER &
EAR ANBRARMBRESEBFLENEE
FERBLMITEENERERBRE AEBRIL
AR EEHE s EEERBRBULIIBRIZHASIE
BIIBE 2 RE - UREER IR EERFRE
RAREEMEBER2RAR - EESRHERT A
BRI AEREEREEEEERRERRE
SO EERTERMARZ BERE

AREBRB=RRARERTEAZD - FHERER
TRBHZER - EF —ENK XBENAER
A HEREFRESEXBIX S BRZAR - F
RE_BHG ERERERNES KB - 2
Bz #s - SIEMBIERERAAERE  WHEERR
SHEAEXBEARE —ENRTIER - A&
‘—Bh% > REESAFIBHEZZEEENSE
—EBREZEPIR -

EEg AR R REERMEBNZEARAERE
BARRNEERR EFENAEER FER
HEEMSREARBNEERRRR -EFEH
EERREERRNERE QBN EERBN
EXeETHERZEem=UKEMAK  BI#BZR
SRITAE  BWEARMELE  MBEZRBEE (B
BEEEXERNBIIFNTES) REXEZRE
HERE °

LHzERERA7 111



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEER®RSE

Information System Risk Management

We pay close attention to risk management relating to our information system as sufficient
maintenance, storage and protection of user data and other related information is critical to
our success. We have designed and adopted strict internal procedures to ensure that our
data is protected and that leakage and loss of such data are avoided.

Regulatory Compliance Risk Management

In order to effectively manage our regulatory compliance and legal risk exposures, we have
adopted strict internal procedures to ensure the compliance of our business operations
with the applicable rules and regulations. In accordance with these procedures, our in-
house legal department performs the basic function of reviewing and updating the form
of contracts we enter into with our customers, suppliers and other business partners. Our
legal department examines the contract terms and reviews all relevant documents for our
business operations, including licenses and permits obtained by the counterparties to
perform their obligations under our business contracts and all the necessary underlying
due diligence materials, before we enter into any contract or business arrangements.

Our in-house legal department is responsible for obtaining any requisite governmental
pre-approvals or consents, including preparing and submitting all necessary documents
for filing with relevant government authorities, within the prescribed regulatory timelines.
We continuously improve our internal policies according to changes in laws, regulations
and industry standards, and update internal templates for legal documents. We undertake
compliance management over various aspects of our operations and employee activities.
We have also established an accountability system in respect of employees’ violations
of laws, regulations and internal policies. In addition, we continually review the
implementation of our risk management policies and measures to ensure our policies
and implementation are effective and sufficient. We have an employee code of conducts
in place, which contains internal rules and guidelines regarding basic working rules,
work ethics, confidentiality, negligence, anti-bribery and anti-corruption. We provide our
employees with regular training and resources to explain the guidelines contained in the
employee code of conducts.
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Human Resources Risk Management

We have established internal control policies covering various aspects of human resources
management such as recruiting, training, work ethics and legal compliance. The demand
in our industry for qualified talent is intense and we may be adversely affected by the
departure of any key employees. Each of our executive officers and key employees has
entered into with us an employment agreement containing confidentiality, intellectual
property and non-compete provisions.

We also require our employees to conform to high ethical standards. We have in place an
employee handbook and a code of conduct which is distributed to all our employees. The
handbook contains internal rules and guidelines regarding work ethics, fraud prevention
mechanisms, negligence and anti-corruption. In particular, our code of conduct explicitly
requires that all employees comply with any applicable anti-corruption laws, regulations
and policies, and they are prohibited from making illegal or improper payments to any
government official, either on their own or via third parties. Additionally, our employees
and their family members are not allowed to solicit or accept gifts, travel, hospitality or
anything of value to the extent such favors or advantages may influence their professional
judgments. Under our firm-wide whistleblowing policy, we make our internal reporting
channel open and available for our employees to report, on an anonymous basis, any non-
compliance incidents and acts, including bribery and corruption.

We provide employees with regular training, as well as resources to explain the guidelines
contained in the employee handbook. We also provide regular and specialized training
tailored to the needs of our employees in different departments, through which we enable
our employees to better comply with applicable laws and regulations in the course of
conducting business.

Financial Reporting Risk Management

We have a complete set of accounting policies and procedures in connection with our
financial reporting risk management, such as financial reporting management, internal
control, investment management and budget management. Our financial department
reviews our management accounts and internal control procedures based on such policies
and procedures. In addition, we provide regular training to our financial department staff
to ensure they understand our accounting policies and procedures and implement them in
our daily operations.

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems for the year ended 31 March
2025, covering the material financial, operational and compliance controls, which are
considered effective and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience, training and budget of the accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions on an annual basis.
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INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be announced immediately when it is
the subject of a decision.

The Company has put in place an internal policy for the handling and disclosure of inside
information in compliance with the SFO. The internal policy sets out the procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely
manner and provides the Directors, senior management, and relevant employees of
the Company a general guide in monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited. The procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

o the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;

o the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure by
pursuing broad, non-gxclusive distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public announcements and its website; and

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or inside
information.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has regularly reviewed and enhanced its risk
management, internal control systems and inside information disclosure policy. We
believe that our Directors and members of our senior management possess the necessary
knowledge and experience in providing good corporate governance oversight in connection
with risk management and internal control. The Board has conducted an annual review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems and considers these
systems effective and adequate in general.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 120 to 127.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the independent auditor of the Company, KPMG, in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:
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Audit services ZE RS 3,700
Non-audit services FEIZ BN AR 75 380
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Liu Xianna, our executive Director, is one of our
joint company secretaries of the Company and is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that Board policy and procedures, and
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. She was appointed as a joint company
secretary since 31 December 2021.

During the Reporting Period, in order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also
appointed Ms. Au Wai Ching, a senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited (a corporate services provider), who possesses the qualifications as
required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, as another joint company secretary of the
Company to assist Ms. Liu Xianna to discharge her duties as company secretary of the
Company. She was appointed as the other joint company secretary since 31 December
2021. Ms. Liu Xianna is Ms. Au Wai Ching’s primary contact person in the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, each of Ms. Liu Xianna and Ms. Au Wai Ching has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a policy on payment of dividends (the “Dividend Policy”) in
compliance with F.1.1 of the CG Code with effect from the Listing Date, which establishes
an appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company.

The Board considers sustainable returns to Shareholders whilst retaining adequate
reserve for the Group’s future development to be an objective. Under the Dividend Policy,
dividends may be declared from time to time and be paid to Shareholders provided that the
Group is profitable and without affecting the normal operations of the Group. In summary,
the declaration of dividends and the dividend amount shall be determined at the sole and
absolute discretion of the Board, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable,
taking into account the following factors:

° general business conditions of the Company;

° financial results of the Company;

o capital requirements of the Company;

° interests of the Shareholders; and

o any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.
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The Company will continue to periodically re-evaluate the dividend policy in light of the
financial position and the prevailing economic climate. The determination to pay dividends
will be made at the discretion of the Board and will be based upon the earnings, cash flow,
financial conditions, capital requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements of the Group
and any other conditions that the Directors deem relevant.

As at 31 March 2025, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the shareholders of
the Company waived or agreed to waive their dividends.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with the Shareholders through various communication channels.
To enable Shareholders and other stakeholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner based on a good understanding of the Group’s operations, businesses and
financial information, the Company adopted the shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring equal, timely, effective, transparent, accurate and open
communications with the Shareholders. The policy also sets out a number of ways to
ensure effective and efficient communication strategies with Shareholders and other
stakeholders are achieved, including but not limited to corporate communications (in
both English and Chinese, to facilitate Shareholders understanding), posting of relevant
information on the corporate website and Shareholders meetings.

To safeguard Shareholders interests and rights, separate resolution should be proposed
for each substantially separate issue at general meetings of the Company, including
the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings of
the Company will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
announcement will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

General meetings provide an opportunity for constructive communication between the
Company and the Shareholders. For Shareholders to communicate their views on various
matters affecting the Company and the Company to solicit and understand the views of
shareholders and other stakeholders, the Company adopts a number of mechanisms,
including encouraging Shareholders to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meetings.
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Convening Extraordinary General Meetings and Putting Forward
Proposals

Pursuant to Article 17 of the Articles of Association, the Directors shall on a members’
requisition forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.
A members’ requisition is a requisition of one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the voting rights, on a one vote per share
basis, of the issued shares which as at that date carry the right to vote at general meetings
of the Company. The members’ requisition must state the objects and the resolutions
to be added to the agenda of the meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists
and deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company, and
may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.
If there are no Directors as at the date of the deposit of the members’ requisition or if the
Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the members’ requisition
duly proceed to convene a general meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all the requisitionists, may themselves convene a general meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall be held no later than the day which falls three months after the expiration of
the said 21 day period. A general meeting convened by requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which general meetings are to be
convened by the Directors.

Holding Annual General Meetings

The Company must hold an annual general meeting of the Company every financial year
other than the financial year of the Company’s adoption of the Articles of Association
and such annual general meeting must hold within six (6) months after the end of the
Company’s financial year, unless a longer period would not infringe the Listing Rules, if
any. A meeting of members or any class thereof may be held by means of such telephone,
electronic or other communication facilities and participation in such a meeting shall
constitute presence at such meeting.

To facilitate communication between the Company, Shareholders and the investor
community, the corporate website has been adopted as the designated hub for publication
of the corporate information, such as principal business activities and latest development
of the Company and the Group. Also, it provides information on corporate governance
of the Group as well as the compositions and functions of the Board and the Board
committees.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

The Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the
following:

Address: 18th Floor Huarui Mansion, Xiaoyunli South Street No. 9 Courtyard,
Chaoyang District, Beijing
Email: ir@beisen.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders” information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meetings, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are
available to mest Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The AGM is scheduled to be held on 18 September 2025. For details, please refer to the
circular for the AGM.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy during the Reporting Period. The Board conducted such review from
various angles, including whether the policy provided sufficient channels to shareholders
to access to the Company, and the availability and quality of the two-way dialogue with
shareholders through channels such as investor meetings.

The Board considered that the Company was able to carry out effective two-way
communication with its investors and shareholders by way of regular meetings and
timely updates of the Company’s financial results and developments in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Board considered the policy to be
effective and adequate.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B3 BN 3R &

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Beisen Holding Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beisen Holding Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 128 to 242, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, the consolidated statement of changes
in (deficits)/equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)
(“IESBA Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Key audit matter

Key audit matter are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

MEFr =R

FRETFESRERMNERALE - RAH A
HEMBHRERNEITRAEZNER GLFERI
ERMBFEEBS OV BHRAME AR REEITRE
B BZATEHELFTREHEBNER

Revenue recognition
U A R

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.21.

FH2HGA M BRR PO ORI E221hEFETBUR -

The Key Audit Matter
REEHER

The Group mainly derives revenue separately or in combination from cloud-
based human capital management (“HCM”) solutions and professional
SEIvices.

EXEEFENSEESASHNH AT mANERELE (THCM )
R R M BHEREREFWA -

Cloud-based HCM solution revenues mainly include subscriptions for
unlimited access to, or limited number of usages of, the Group’s cloud-
based HCM solutions over the contract term. Revenue is generally recognised
over the contract term under unlimited access subscription model and is
recognised upon the later of virtual items consumption and expiration under
limited number of usage subscription model. Professional service revenues
mainly include revenues generated from the implementation services and
value-added services associated with the cloud-based HCM solutions.
Implementation service revenues are recognised over the service periods;
value-added service revenues are primarily recognised at a point in time when
the services are completed and acknowledged by customers.
EumHCOMAE R 5 R AW A £ ZBIER & 4 B A £ R b 57 [
S PR il 52 A3 IR B 5T BE & o (B ) B ik HOMAR IR 75 2 - fE R [R
B EERTBIER T - A =R E A EIARRER - mERR
ERREMETBEERT @ BEERE R E B R ER -
HERBWMAEZEBREEZHHCMAR R 75 2187 A B MRS &
EERBEENKA - Bt RFBAERBEHNER : 1EE
BR 7S UL 3 ZFRR 7% S Ak N 15 %5 = SR AT Y e R B FE AR o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEfmEmAEEER

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition included the following:
BB ARRNEAEFREATAR

° assessing, with the assistance of our IT specialists, the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of management’s key
internal controls over:

o EBMTERO BT - 77k 5 IR B 7852 A 362 il &9
REt - BEEREZBRME - B

- the general IT controls of the relevant information technology
systems;

— EEGEERMRSH —MRITIER]

= IT application controls over the completeness and accuracy
of revenue transaction details contained within the relevant IT
systems;

— [MERAEFHHEBTERSREEHNRARSIFE
B T8 1 R EREME A P )

° assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted in
revenue recognition by inspecting the main terms and conditions in
selected contracts;

o BBRREETES AT EZERRREME - FEEKRARE
REPRAHETBRAEE M

—TOoMFE/—ToRF FEHRE tHRERERAT 121



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZBERE ()

Key audit matter (continued)

MR EHNGE)

Revenue recognition
U A w2

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.21.

F2 MR AP EHRR P O EO R E2 21 R FETBOR -

The Key Audit Matter
RRBEHNFER

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s revenues from cloud-
based HCM solutions and professional services were RMB721.83 million and
RMB223.25 million, respectively.

B E2025F3H3N B L E - B E KB EwmHOMBBR 77 R &
FERBHWAD B AARBI18BEBE TR ARE23258
=T °

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because revenue is
one of the key performance indicators of the Group and is, therefore, subject
to possible manipulation by management to meet targets or expectations.
BMERARRHN S —BEERESEE BRAKRARE
SENBERERIER s — AMAEEEEERANESR
BHiRSTEHE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B Et M EE SR

° recalculating the cloud-based HCM solution revenues under limited
number of usage subscription model with the assistance of computer-
assisted audit techniques using data extracted from relevant IT
systems;

. BB RMOEDT  EREERTREGE
SR - FER G RREMFIBEEXN TENAEE
smHOMEE R 75 2 A

° comparing the cash receipts recorded in the general ledger to bank
transaction records, on a sample basis; and

J 1 48 B F EC 8 AV IR & WUIR R SR 1T A2 5 A SR 1T MBS EE
8 R

° testing the cloud-based HCM solution revenues under unlimited
access subscription model and professional service revenues, on a
sample basis, by inspecting the key terms of revenue contracts with
customers and in addition, for completed professional services,
completion report acknowledged by customers. Recalculating the
revenue recognised for selected samples.

o ABREET PRI IS KR BRI O
B & IR &1 55 R 89 5T B AE =0 T &) EmHCMER R 75 2= Uk
ARBZERBGWA - N HRETHROEZERS
ARBREREPRAMNTRRE - EMTEETEEAR
B2 R UA ©
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Key audit matter (continued)

MEE =R GE)

Assessment of the valuation of intangible assets acquired in relation to the acquisition of Cool College (Beijing)

Technology Ltd

WEECLR) BRAR AT R Ea M\ B EL (& EF S

Refer to Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
B2 E WIS RE T AT S -

The Key Audit Matter
RRTENER

The Group acquired Cool College (Beijing) Technology Ltd. (“Cool College”)
in January 2025.

&R B R2025F1 A WHE T BE (b ) BHERAR A A ([E 2
Bel) e

Management engaged an external valuer to value the assets and liabilities
acquired in the acquisition. The valuation, amongst others, involved the
identification and valuation of intangible assets including copyrights and
technologies, non-competition agreement and trademark. As a result of the
valuation, intangible assets amounted to RMB60.80 million were recognized.
BB F N AT AN A RS R PR B E R B EETRT
it HEIES R BT EE (BREREERM - 3ERF 1
EAER) BB AGE - KR BRREREEAAR
#60.808 & T ©

The valuation of intangible assets is based on discounted cash flow
forecasts of the future performance of the operations in sales of corporate
training software and provision of training courses. This involves significant
management judgement and estimation including future revenue growth rate,
gross margins and the discount rate applied.

& BE Rk (B T E R 8 & 1 5 HI B A AR AR 15 B R AR
B RS BRI S MIA - P REREE 2 H &
MG - BERROBRAERE - EFXMNMERNTRE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMESNMERER

Our audit procedures in response to assessment of the valuation of intangible
assets acquired in relation to the acquisition of Coll College mainly included
the following:

B AP o Ui B s 22 B B P B 0 AR T B 2 O (i (B AT il PTERER Y
EBEEFETEBREUATRR :

° gvaluating the design and implementation of key controls over the
valuation of assets and liabilities acquired;

o AT {5 P RS B EE RN B (B A ik EE T R SR R Y R
MBS

° obtaining and inspecting the relevant contracts related to the
acquisition and obtaining understanding on external valuer’'s
process to identify intangible assets;

o BRI ESEWEEBOBBESR - I T #INEET
il D 53k 51 A 2 28 EE MO M AR

° assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
management’s external valuers;
o HRHERBITEARNAE  RNEBHM

° obtaining the valuation reports and, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, discussing with the external valuer
on the valuation approach selected by the management and key
assumptions used:;

J BEHERS  WEANBHEZKEOHBE T - EI)
G ERD A R E IR B R RN (A E S AR RR

—TOMF/ToRF FERE  LHRERERAT 123



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZBERE ()

Key audit matter (continued)

MR EHNGE)

Assessment of the valuation of intangible assets acquired in relation to the acquisition of Cool College (Beijing)

Technology Ltd
BBEEGER) HEFRAFMEBENERRIENMGETR

Refer to Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
B2HRE ISR A AT EESS o

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
REEFEER EMENAEEER

We identified the assessment of the valuation of intangible assets acquired in @
relation to the acquisition of Cool College as a key audit matter because of the
significance of the acquisition and the management estimates and judgements
involved in the valuation of intangible assets acquired.

BN EEERERN R EEAEN AER A —IE
BRENTEE DEZBECEZEMUARERELMKE o
| R EMEMY Rz et A2 E o

involving our internal valuation specialists to evaluate the
appropriateness of the valuation methodologies with reference to
the prevailing accounting standards and the reasonableness of
the discount rate applied by benchmarking to other comparable
companies in the same industry;
FERMOATEEZER2ER T LR EEE
TEREE M - I3 38 R R 17 55 B R Eb R Rl T H
L - REAFTERA M IR R A S R

assessing the reasonableness of revenue growth rate and gross
margins applied by management by comparing them with commercial
contracts and historical information.
BREAFELSRRELERETLR  FHBEEEM
AR REREFENS B -
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
all the information included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit
gvidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYRBEERE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Yeung Ka Chun.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

19 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

FEREBRE

for the year ended 31 March 2025

HE20255F3ANBILFE
Year ended 31 March
HEIANHLER
2025 2024
2025%F 20245
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AER®TT ARBT T
Revenues from contracts with customers BREE WA 6 945,076 854,741
Cost of revenues $HE AR 9 (331,546) (339,814)
Gross profit EX 613,530 514,927
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAX 9 (397,064) (437,773)
General and administrative expenses —MRITERFAZ 9 (164,185) (184,889)
Research and development expenses e 9 (287,606) (350,870)
Net impairment losses on financial assets ERMEEREGNEERMERE
and contract assets Pt 31 (5,132) (3,779)
Other income E Al A 73,558 70,652
Other gains, net H Aoz F 58 20,431 2,010
Operatingloss ®®®&®W (146.468) (389,722)
Finance income B 7 U A 4,422 8,469
Finance costs U I N (1,250) (2,019)
Finance income, net HM#&WAS&®E 1 L. 6.450_
Fair value changes of redeemable convertible B A EREERNAREE
preferred shares & 29 = (2,810,841)
Loss before income tax FrFrSIRAIEE (143,296) (3,194,113)
Income tax expense Frisfif > 12 (4,110) (14,474)
Loss for the year FAEBR (147,406) (3,208,587)

The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (CONTINUED)

METHEEBER (&)
for the year ended 31 March 2025
HE2025F3ANHILFE

Year ended 31 March

B EIANHLER
2025 2024
2025%F 20245
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AE®TT AREET T
Loss is attributable to: UTEERESE -
— Owners of the Company S VNEIEZEPN (147,406) (3,208,587)
— Non-controlling interests — IR RE RS - -
(147,406) (3,208,587)
Loss per share for loss attributable to the FOAFEERESHAEGSED
ordinary equity holders of the Company BERER(USERARBTIIR)
(expressed in RMB per share)
—Basic and diluted —EARREE 13 (0.20) (4.48)
A LG e LLEABR EA6105) (3,208,567)
Other comprehensive income: Htt2ZEKA -
lterm that may be reclassified to profit or loss A&7 R B i E H
— Currency translation differences —EknE = (24,974) (92,475)
ltem that may not be reclassified to profit or loss TRIEF HEE R HHE
— Currency translation differences —ERE =R 30,786 119,782
Other comprehensive income for the year, HERRAEHEARGMEZE
net of tax A 5,812 27,307
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZEGRESE (141,594) (3,181,280)
Total comprehensive loss is atiributable to: LI T&BEEE2EHIEEE :
— Owners of the Company . WNCIE Z =N (141,594) (3,181,280)
— Non-controlling interests — IR R 2 - -
(141,594) (3,181,280)

The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REMBERAER

at 31 March 2025

#A20254E3 A31 B
As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
72025%3A31H 7202493 H31H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E AER®TT AREETF T
ASSETS aE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B NEE 14 22,727 35,809
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 39,699 25,293
Intangible assets EREE 15 60,539 1180
Goodwill EES 16 169,186 -
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSTREE 26 34,598 4,668
Other receivables and prepayments H At & W 5k IE R TR A FRIR 21 15,391 1,940
Contract acquisition costs B HEE AR 6 30,189 29,716
Financial assets at fair value through profitor loss & AR BEFABZHNE@MEE 19 7,709 5,420
Term deposits EHTFR 22 20,681 -
Restricted cash PR R & 22 - 1,030
Tofal non-currentassets ~~~~ #abh@=Ee® 0000000000 40079 105,056
Current assets MENEE
Contract acquisition costs A HEB A 6 23,829 23,567
Contract assets EHNEE 6 4,268 3,025
Trade receivables =Y ¢/ 20 26,704 31,161
Other receivables and prepayments H th & W 5k I8 K TR A FIR 21 50,450 28,692
Financial assets at fair value through profitor loss & AR BEGFABZN S REE 19 990,911 1,129,980
Term deposits TE HATE 3K 22 - 350,756
Restricted cash ZPRHIIRE 22 1,342 52
Cash and cash equivalents HERREeEEY 22 478,936 234,101
Total current assets mEEESRE 1,576,440 1,801,334
Total assets BEHRE 1,977,159 1,906,390
EQUITY e
Share capital A& A 23 50 49
Share premium f& 1 & B 23 13,189,684 13,146,247
Reserves (E] 24 (949,485) (943,493)
Accumulated losses 2FrEE (11,195,341) (11,047,935)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AAEEE AELER 1,044,908 1,154,868
Non-controlling interests FEPERRAE 2 - -
Total equity HEaweE 1,044,908 1,154,868

The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements. F16E 22 B MM R ZET BHREN—ID -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e MR R (&)

at 31 March 2025

120253 A31H
As at As at
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
12025538310 720243 A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
b= AR®FT ARBTT
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERDAR
Lease liabilities HEARE 17 19,967 738
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMSHAE 26 1,136 -
Contract liabilities AHaE 6 71,862 55,202
Total non-current liabilities ~~ #&BRfER&\ 92965 .. 55,340
Current liabilities mENRE
Trade payables B SRS RIE 27 4,823 2,564
Other payables and accruals H M RIERERER 28 268,753 210,079
Contract liabilities EHaE 6 549,506 460,936
Lease liabilities HESE 17 16,204 22,003
Total current liabilities mBREEE 839,286 695,582
Total liabilities AfEER 932,251 751,522
Total equity and liabilities EoRAREE 1,977,159 1,906,390
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 19 June 2025. EE 22025568198 I R -

Ji Weiguo
iEE
Director
EE

Liu Xianna
2=
Director
EE

The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN (DEFICITS)/EQUITY
e (6N Eagsx

for the year ended 31 March 2025

BE2025F3ANB IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAHE AE
Non- Total
Share Share Accumulated controlling (deficits)/
capital premium Reserves losses Sub-total interests equity
8 (B4,

BA REE R ZAEER NEH FREBE L s
Note RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
W ARBTL ARBTL ARBTT ARBTL ARBTT ARSTT ARETT

Balance at 1 April 2023 R2023E4B1HEHE
[ 15 623064 (1164304) (7815314) (3356629) - (8356,629)
Comprehensive loss: 2GR
Loss for the year FREE = = - (3208587) (3,208587) - (3208587
Currency translation differences ERBmEEE - = 27,307 - 27,307 - 27,307
Total comprehensive loss FRZEEREE
for the year - - 27307 (3208587)  (3181.260) - (3181280)
Transactions with owners in HEFAUREEA
their capacity as owners: SIRETHRS
Conversion of redeemable convertible 7] & [0 A B2 A (8 S5 ik
preferred shares to ordinary shares AR 23,2429 32 12,206,083 24,034 (24,034) 12,206,115 - 12,206,115
Issuance of ordinary shares relating BEANREEEH
to initial public offering, net of VEmARELT M
underwriting commissions and other BB SRS R E b
issuance costs BATRAR 1 198,903 - - 198,904 - 198,904
Share-based payments DD ABERNNR 5 - - 292,380 - 292,380 = 292,380
Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO share 1R B & X AR & AT
option plan R AT
i in 1 118,617 (114,466) = 4152 - 4152
Purchase of own shares EEEERR - - (8,774) - (8,774) = (8,774)
Cancellation of shares TR D - (420) 420 = - - -
Total transactions with ownersin ~ EEFALUEEEA
their capacity as owners SETHRS
#E 34 12523183 193,594 (24.034) 12,692,777 - 12692777
Balance at 31 March 2024 R2024E3R 310
fe 49 13,146,247 (943,493) (11,047,935) 1,154,868 - 1,154,868
The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements. F16E 22 BE MM R ZET BHREN—3D -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN (DEFICITS)/EQUITY (CONTINUED)
e (B4 ER2E xR (E)

for the year ended 31 March 2025

BE0HFIANAIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
e NG E-PNE
Non-
Share Share Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  Reserves losses  Sub-total interests equity
Bx BRHER fim RiER it ERRES EHER
Nott  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
izt ARBTE ARRTR ARBTT ARRTR ARRTT ARRTRE ARRTT
Balance at 1 April 2024 R20245F4B181Y
. . 4913, M0.247 (M34%) (11,047,933 1154966 " = 1154868
Comprehensive loss: 2EEHE:
Loss for the year FRER - - - (147,406)  (147,406) - (147,406)
Currency translation differences ERBREESE - - 5,812 - 5,812 - 5,812
Total comprehensive loss FRAREEREHE
for the year - - 5812  (147,406) (141,594) - (141,594)

Transactions with owners in HEFALEEEA

their capacity as owners: SIRETHRS
Share-based payments DBRMABERNNTR 5 - - 117,302 - 117,302 - 117,302
Issuance of shares under BEEXAFREER
Pre-IPQ share option plan B BT
B in 1 43,437 (38,901) - 4,537 - 4,537
Purchase of own shares BEBARN - - (90,205) - (90,205) - (90,205)

Total fransactions with ownersin =~ BEHALIEEFA

their capacity as owners SRETHRS
#E 1 43,437 (11,804) - 31,634 - 31,634
Balance at 31 March 2025 R202553A31HKY
e 50 13,180,684  (949,485) (11,195,341) 1,044,908 - 1,044,908
The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements. F16E 22 E M R ZET BRI —ID -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HeRBERRER

for the year ended 31 March 2025

HE20255F3ANBILFE
2025 2024
20255 20245
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E AER®TT ARET T
Cash flows from operating activities BETHEEMNTRQRE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations CEES(FTA)MIRE 72,730 (87,311)
Interest received BURF B 4,199 4,842
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating BEIHEEMRAEREA (FHH)
ates o BR LXZ R (E2.459)
Cash flows from investing activities BREITHELEMRQRE
Payments for property, plant and equipment MWE - BE REE R (17,935) (15,075)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE KKEMSRIE
equipment 139 259
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired I EEHT B AR (IR EWIBRS) 35 (156,454) =
Payments for intangible assets MEFEEMNK (143) (964)
Payments for financial assets at fair value through MR AR EBEFABENS R
profit or loss BEMR 3.3(a) (3,215,901) (2,491,085)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair HERARBETABENESRE
value through profit or loss BEMBHE 3.3(a) 3,380,595 2,413,352
Purchase of term deposits BEEHER (20,581) (374,965)
Proceeds from maturities of term deposits TEBTF R BB TS k08 350,124 219,059
Placement of restricted cash FHRERHIE S (1,318) (52)
Withdrawals of restricted cash IREVE R #I38 & 1,082 175
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing REZHEEMREREA (FHH)
B . S — o8 (49299
The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements. FI1BE Z2M BB ZENBRERN—EH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FERERER(B)

for the year ended 31 March 2025

B E22DHFIANBUEFE
2025 2024
20255 20244F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T AE®TT AREET T
Cash flows from financing activities MEITHELENRESRE
Repayment of bank loans BEIIRITER (20,000) =
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares in BTRREELBRAMSRIE
relation to global offering, net of underwriting MEREeHEERAS
fees and commissions 23 - 198,904
Proceeds from issuance of shares under share B 1R B AR M AT B B 1T AR D FR 15 3RIR
option plan 4,537 3,984
Payment for listing expenses ETRAZAR = (174)
Payment for own shares BAERGHR (107,289) (9,096)
Principal elements of lease payments HENROEEEH 5 17 (28,422) (33,740)
Interest elements of lease payments HERFOF LD 17 (1,118) (2,019)
Financial costs paid BATEE KA (132) =
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing METHEENRS (RH) FEA
activities B (152,424) 157,859
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RaRBLEEDERM (RD)
equivalents B 244,113 (173,906)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning HEFEMHRERFE&EEDY
of the financial year 234,101 408,709
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash EXfSHHASRALEEDY
and cash equivalents we 722 (702)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FXRKRERFAELEED
year 478,936 234,101
The notes on pages 136 to 242 form part of these financial statements. F16E 2242 B MM B ET BHRERN—ID o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B H RN

2.1

136 Beisen Holding Limited

General information

Beisen Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, including
consolidated structured entities, (collectively, the “Group”) are primarily engaged
in providing cloud-based human capital management (“HCM”) solutions in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which enables customers to recruit,
gvaluate, manage, develop and retain talents efficiently.

The Company is an investing holding company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 6 April 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Act, (Cap.22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is PO Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

On 13 April 2023, the Company completed its public offering and the international
offering (the “Global Offering”), and its ordinary shares were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied throughout all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the

historical cost basis except that other financial assets are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies in Note 2.9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.1

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting
Standards requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards
that have significant effect on the consolidated financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 4.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments or annual improvements for the
first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1 April 2024:

° Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification
of liabilities as current or non-current and non-current liabilities with
covenants

° Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

° Amendments to IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS 7, Financial
instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

2  Basis of preparation and summary of material 2

accounting policies (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

REBERFERTRREE ()

21 WEREEW)

2.1.2

2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

New stanaards, amendments to standaras and interpretations not yet adopted

The following certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been

published that are not mandatory during all the years presented and have not been

early adopted by the Group.

BN EREZER

R FTETER - SERINEET R it FE

AT RBEMFT ST ERERERATAEF

EERMEL RGN - BAREE KRR

FEA -

Effective for

annual periods
heginning on or after
RETHRB

Z &R
FEMABER

Amendments to IAS 21

St ERIFE215% (BRI AN)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

B8 o B 765 s o 2 RS2 05 K B R B

R EERFETHR (EFTAN)
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

B8 % Bt 765 g o B S2 058 K R R B

T LER EBT9E (IBFT )
Annual improvements process

FRBGERIE

[FRS 18

B o B 765 < 5 2 B 35 1855%
IFRS 19

120 % Bt 755 ¥ 75 2 RI 28 1955%
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

5 o Bt 765 < o A B 35 1055% K B

STYERIEE285% (IBRTA)

The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates — Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025

SMNEERBBNZE —RZ AR

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

BRKFEBAEREEEINEH

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial

Instruments
TR ITASBERFEZ(EE]

Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11
B R B s 5 A Rl @ e A F R BUE — 115
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

M B MR G R TR

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

FRBEFEEFRA  WE

{3 2025F1 A1H
1 January 2026
2026F1 A1H

1 January 2026
2026F1 A1H

1 January 2026
2026F1 A1H
1 January 2027
20271 A1H
1 January 2027
20271 A1H

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint To be determined

venture
REEHEHBENRHALERAZ

BHMEEHEIEIE FE

The Group will adopt the above new or revised standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards as and when they become effective.
Management has performed preliminary assessment and does not anticipate any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position and
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss upon adopting these standards,

amendments to standards and interpretations to the existing standards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.2

2.2.1

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries
Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with
the Group’s accounting policies.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests (“NCI") either at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate share
of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive loss for the year
between NCI and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity.
Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.2

2.2.1

(@)

140 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements

On 25 September 2018, Beijing Beisen Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. (1t FX 4k
ZFERI B BR A =), “Beijing WFOE’) entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (collectively, the “Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing
Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. (At LR EFTE DA R A 7, “Beisen
Cloud Computing”) and its shareholders, who collectively hold 99.9555%
equity interests of Beisen Cloud Computing; the remaining minority interests
were subsequently acquired by the Co-founders in the year ended 31 March 2019
and 2022, and are subject to the Contractual Arrangements accordingly. The
Contractual Arrangements enable Beijing WFOE and the Group to:

exercise power to direct relevant activities of Beisen Cloud Computing
and its subsidiaries (collectively “the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities”);

exercise equity holders’ voting rights of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities;

receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, in consideration for the business
support by the Beijing WFOE, at the Beijing WFOE's discretion;

obtain an exclusive and irrevocable option to purchase all or part of
the equity interests in Beisen Cloud Computing from its shareholders
for a purchase price of RMB10, to the extent permitted under PRC law
or the lowest price permitted under PRC law shall apply. At the Beijing
WFOE's request, the registered equity holders of Beisen Cloud Computing
will promptly and unconditionally transfer their respective equity
interests in Beisen Cloud Computing to Beijing WFOE or its designated
representative(s) after the Beijing WFOE exercises its purchase option,
either in part or in full; and

obtain a pledge over the equity interests of Beisen Cloud Computing from

its shareholders as a collateral security for the obligations to perform the
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.2

2.2.1

(@)

2.2.2

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Company has right to exercise
power over the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, receives variable returns from
its involvement with the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
Therefore, the Company is considered to control the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities. Consequently, the Company regards the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities as controlled structure entities and consolidates the financial position and
statements of comprehensive loss of these entities in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal
ownership in providing the Group with direct control over the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and such uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could
impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The directors, based on the advice of its PRC
legal advisor, consider that the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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2.3

2.4

142 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or
|0ss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising
on a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups
of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 2.8 Impairment of
non-financial assets).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of
purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.5

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial information of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The functional currencies of the
Company and most of its subsidiaries outside mainland China are United States
dollars (“US$” or “USD”), while the functional currencies of the Company’s
subsidiaries in the mainland China are RMB. As the major operations of the Group
during all the years presented are within the mainland China, the Group determined
to present its consolidated financial statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).

Translation of foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates, are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss, and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair
value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive
income/(10ss).
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)

2.5

(c)

2.6

144 Beisen Holding Limited

Bt 75 R 2R B RE ()

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Translation of foreign currency financial statements

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value
adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income/(loss)
and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that the translation
difference is allocated to NCI.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income/(loss). When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of
the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified
to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical costs less depreciation.
Historical costs include expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Annual Report 2024/2025

2.5

(c)

2.6

REBERFERTRREE ()

ShismE (48)
IEHBHRBE

BINBENEERAE BRUEBELNR

ROrBERAR RREANEXKER
ARE - BHIMEENBARERRR S AN
EXHE/ARE -

SNEEEREMEEKA S (BR) h R
WRINERFET Rt BEREZBEIREF
ZRRAE S ROBRS ©

FEANRE  RESIIEBEAKEFEN
FIEERZERENE AR WERKEM
SRMTAEANESZENEM2ERES (8
1B R - NHEBIRBREEBKIREF
B — 8 eV E R B KA - AR ?ﬁER%%ﬁE%ﬁ
DRERR  FREEBREN D

W% BERKK

M BB MR BRI LA R T E DI BR o
BERABEEEZSREEREHNFAX °

1 4 7 1 4 5 0 ) 46 0 R KA 2
$ T S A A SR B R IR B AR AL T SRR B ¢
FEHABENEAENERA BB A
B CmEm) - WER S KRB EK LR -
B E At s R AR 2 2 A DR 2 A 0 B B
PO A SR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.6

2.7

(a)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net
of their residual values at 5%, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of
leasehold improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

— Electronic equipment
— Furniture and office equipment
— Leasehold improvement

3 years

5 years

shorter of estimated useful lives
and remaining lease terms

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with
the carrying amount and are recognised in “other gains, net” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive 10ss.

Intangible assets

Software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Costs associated with maintaining software are recognised as expenses as
incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing
of identifiable and unique software controlled by the Group are recognised as
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

° It is technically feasible to complete the software or database so that it will
be available for use;

° Management intends to complete the software or database, and use or sell
it;

° There is an ability to use or sell the software or database;
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2.7

(a)

(b)

(c)

146 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Software (Continued)

It can be demonstrated how the software or database will generate probable future
gconomic benefits;

° Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software or database are available, and

° The expenditure attributable to the software or database during its
development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software or database
include employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised
from the point at which the asset is ready for use. There were no development costs
meeting these criteria and capitalised as intangible assets for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2025.

Research and development expenditures

Research and development expenditures that do not meet the criteria in (a) above
are recognised as expenses as incurred. Development costs previously recognised
as expenses are not recognised as assets in subsequent period.

Amortization method and period

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are
available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Software 5—10 years
— Trademark 25 years
— Copyrights and technologies 5 years
— Non-competition agreement 3 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.8

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (other than property carried at revalued amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs, contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent
of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating units (“CGU”s). Goodwill
arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the resulting carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE

2.8

REBERFERTRREE (1)

FEmERERE

RERSAY AEEEHEFEREE (R
EfMSBIENYE REVE HFEUR
HMAHRA BHEENRELERREER
SN BVBRTEE - LETE R BEMBEDR © i
HIR ERPR - QI ZEENTTIRESHE -
AEESFHRHBETRENR -

RBEARATNS EESKAR/TEFERS
TELARERARBBUNEMEER RS
EEEU((ReEERM)) FELENR/ )
BEAS REXBAHNBESIKEREY
BREHOBRAMETREZREELEN
SR ELEMAER

BEIRECEABU2AIREEBERAERE
REERATFEREEXNARNEZRSE °
£ REE T ER AR B #5555 %K HE
BEMEEXRCELFEM 2 ERROT
BB RERRREREN[FTRRRES

==
JLE °

MEEXReELEMNNREEESKEA
Yem S8 - BIFERIRERTE -

BEBERNERER HEEEASEZFHER
TEEFEMARDEME S BN EREED
REEE BRELAIBRIZACELESEN
REMEEREEE -

BENREBETSRE - HEMEEMS
REBEERLDERFROENBBELE
ERREBENER T EEENREEG
BRiTE )

LHRZERERAT 147



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.9

(a)

(b)

148 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through OCI (“FVOCI").

See Note 18 for details of each type of financial assets.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.9

(c)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part
of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in “other gains, net” together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive 10ss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.9

(c)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through profit or loss, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in “other gains, net”. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “other gains,
net” and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive 10ss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or financial
assets at FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within “other gains, net” in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.9

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation and summary of material 2
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued) 2.9
Measurement (Continued) (c)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the

Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and

losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends

from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as “other
income” when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in “other gains,

net” in profit or loss as applicable.

Impairment (d)

The Group has the following types of assets subject to IFRS 9's expected credit
loss model:

Trade receivables and contract assets
Other receivables

Term deposits

Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

2 Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)  Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit losses (‘ECL’s)
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.
The expected cash shortfalls of trade and other receivables and contract assets are
discounted using the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an

approximation thereof if the effect is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:
- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result from default
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a

shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months);
and

- lifetime ECLSs: these are the ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

152 Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2024/2025

2.9

(d)

REBERFERTRREE ()

A E (K’)
w{E ()
FEEAEEER (| REERER])

BEREEREREEBEROBM R MEMGE -
—RME FEFERANSHERNER
ZBEMARYNESZENRESE -

WEEEX BHREMEEFIRESOE
EZHERReZRRERNIEAREE
BRI =g HTERR -

B RMEEEERAEENREHRAAR
SEEHEERRORRAHIE -

RHREEBEEATE—ERAE

— REAEHEEEE: AR NEE
RER12EAR ETANBAFERD
P28 A - Bl AEEE B WA s
BHRNEHERONEREREBERD
P53

- EREFEYRBEEEE: HABHYIE
EBEEE T EREB WEBFHALR
BRIt BB OB MHERNERER
18 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.9

(d)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit losses (“ECL’s) (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including loan commitments issued) for
which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life
of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLS.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument (including a
loan commitment) has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

2 Basis of preparation and summary of material

accounting policies (Continued)
2.9 Financial assets (Continued)
(d)  Impairment (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the

debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the market, economic or legal environment
that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its

obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such

as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the debtor is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to

actions such as realising security (if any is held).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

2.9

(d)

Bt 75 R 2R B RE ()

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit

risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have

occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable
events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- a breach of contract, such as a default;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.9

(d)

2.10

156

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment (Continued)
Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract assets is written off to
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as
a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Trade and other receivahles

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a significant
financing component and other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.11

2.12

213

2.14

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Term deposits

Term deposits represent cash placed with banks with original maturities over three
months. If collection of term deposits is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Term deposits are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
Interest earned is recorded as finance income in profit or loss during the periods
presented.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash primarily represents: (i) deposits at bank for letters of guarantee,
and (i) deposits that were pledged to banks as required for foreign exchange
forward contracts. The Group can only use segregated bank accounts for those
restricted cash and cash in the segregated accounts can only be used for the
respective businesses as designated and therefore not available for general use by
the other entities within the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes
cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to

the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.15

2.16

158

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Redeemable convertible preferred shares

Redeemable convertible preferred shares issued by the Company are redeemable
upon occurrence of certain future events and at the option of the holders. This
instrument can be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at any time at
the option of the holders or automatically converted into ordinary shares upon
occurrence of an initial public offering of the Company or agreed by majority of the
holders as detailed in Note 29.

The Group designated the redeemable convertible preferred shares as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They are initially recognised at fair
value. Any directly attributable transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Subsequently, the component of fair value changes relating to the Company’s own
credit risk is recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts recorded in
other comprehensive income related to credit risk are not subject to recycling in
profit or loss, but are transferred to retaining earnings when realised. Other fair
value change relating to market risk are recognised in profit or loss.

Redeemable convertible preferred shares are classified as non-current liabilities
until the Preferred Shareholders can demand the Company to redeem the preferred
shares within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

217

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current
period’s taxable income, based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the
expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.17

(b)

(c)

160

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are also not recognised for those related to the
income taxes arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in
relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.18

(a)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Pension obligations and other social welfare benefits

Full-time employees of the Group in mainland China are entitled to staff welfare
benefits including pension, work-related injury benefits, maternity insurances,
medical insurances, unemployment benefits and housing fund plans through a
PRC government-mandated defined contribution plan. Chinese labor regulation
requires that the Group make contributions to the government for these benefits
based on certain percentage of the employees’ salaries, up to a maximum amount
specified by the local government. The Group has no legal obligation for the
benefits beyond the required contributions. There is no forfeited contribution that
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonuses is recognised as a liability when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation for payment of bonus as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.
Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 1
year and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.19

162

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Share-bhased payments

As disclosed in Note 25, the Group adopted 2019 Stock Incentive Plan and 2020
Stock Incentive Plan (collectively, “Employee Stock Ownership Plan’, or
“ESOP”), under which it receives services from employees and directors who have
contributed or will contribute to the Group as consideration for equity instruments
of the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant
of the equity instruments is recognised as an expense in profit or loss with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (e.g., the entity’s share price)

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (e.g., profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period), and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g., the requirement
for employees to save or hold shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each
period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the share options are exercised, the Company issues new ordinary shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital and share premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.20

2.21

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as finance
costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods or services is
transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms of the contract, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods and services is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.21

164 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such
arrangements, the Group allocates revenue to each performance obligation based
on its relative standalone selling price. The Group generally determines relative
standalone selling prices based on its standard price list, taking into consideration
market conditions and its overall pricing strategy.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in
the consolidated statements of financial position as a contract asset or a contract
liability, depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods
and services that the Group has transferred to a customer. A receivable is
recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A right
to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of the consideration is due.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to
the customer, the Group presents the contract liability when the payment is made
or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due from the customer).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.21

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The accounting policy for the Group’s revenue sources

The Group mainly derives revenue separately or in combination from cloud-based
HCM solutions and professional services.

@)

Cloud-based HCM solutions

The Group charges subscription fees for unlimited access to, or limited
number of usages of, its cloud-based HCM solutions over the contract
term.

Under unlimited access subscription model, customers are provided with
access to one or more of the Group's SaaS solutions over the contract term.
Revenue is generally recognised over the contract term.

Under limited number of usage subscription model, customers first
purchase certain number of Sendou (£x ) from the Group, and redeem
Sendou for related SaaS solutions upon usage. Unused Sendou will
be forfeited when the contract term expires. The Group concludes that
the breakage of Sendou does not satisfy the constraints of variable
considerations, considering that the amount is highly susceptible to
external factors, and based on historical data, breakage ratios for different
customers are widespread. Related revenue is recognised upon the later of
Sendou consumption and expiration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2 Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The accounting policy for the Group’s revenue sources (Continued)

()

166 Beisen Holding Limited

Professional services

The Group provides customers with a selection of professional services,
including implementation services and other value-added services
associated with the cloud-based HCM solutions, as well as HR related
trainings services.

Implementation services are provided to new SaaS solution subscriptions
to assist customers with configuration and testing of the Group’s solution.
Implementation service is determined to be a separate performance
obligation considering, a) customers’ accesses are granted upon purchase
and customers can start using the SaaS solutions immediately by following
the user manual, b) implementation services do not involve the modification
or writing of additional software code, but rather involves setting up the
software’s existing code to function in a particular way for the customers’
benefits. Revenues from implementation services are recognised over the
service periods.

Value-added services can be purchased separately from cloud-based HCM
solutions at customers’ discretion. They are clearly distinct from cloud-
based HCM solutions. During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025,
revenues from value added services are primarily recognised at a point in
time when the services are completed and acknowledged by customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2  Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The accounting policy for the Group’s revenue sources (Continued)

@

(@)

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract

Sales commissions earned by the Group’s sales force are considered
incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer.
Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then amortised on
a straight-line basis over a period of benefit that the Group has estimated
to be four years. In arriving at this estimated period of benefit, the Group
evaluated both qualitative and quantitative factors which include the
estimated life cycles of its offerings and its customer attrition. The Group
amortises capitalised costs for renewals paid to customers over the renewal
contract terms, or elects to expense as incurred if the amortization period
is one year or less. Amortization expense of capitalised cost of obtaining
customer contracts is included in sales and marketing expenses on the
consolidated statement of comprehensive l0ss. The Group also assesses
whether the carrying amount of contract cost has exceeded the remaining
amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive, less that costs
that relate directly to providing those goods or services that have not been
recognised as expenses.

Practical expedients applied

The Group expenses incremented cost to obtain a contract if the
amortization period is one year or less.

The promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant
financing component is not adjusted if the Group expects, at contract
inception, that the period between when the Group transfers a promised
good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or
service will be one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.22

2.23

168

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate. The Group does not have government grants relating to property,
plant and equipment, and other non-current assets.

Leases

The Group leases certain offices. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain various terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Lease payments
are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
finance costs over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be determined, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

2.23

2.24

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of less than 12 months. Low-value assets
represent leased assets with value below amounts equivalent to US$5,000.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received

° any initial direct costs, and

restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful
lives and the lease terms on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

In May 2020, the IASB made an amendment to IFRS 16 Leases which provides
lessees with an option to treat qualifying rent concessions related to the Covid
pandemic in the same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. The
Group has applied the practical expedients and the relative impacts on consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss were considered not material.

Dividend distribution

Dividend payable is recognised only when it is authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

2.25

170

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Business Combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations under the acquisition method
when the acquired set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business
and control is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular set of
activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets
and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive process
and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair
value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is
tested annually for impairment (see Note 2.8). Any gain on a bargain purchase
is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as
incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities (see Note 2.14).

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of
pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or 0ss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a
financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement
is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

3.1

(a)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3 SBEKBEERSMIALAREE
instruments
3.1 &mEREER
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, AEEMEHFHOESESREAR : INE
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses B FERBRERSESRAR ANEER
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse BRERREERMFEIZINERMHHAATE
effects on the Group’s financial performance. B TERBEREEAEBYKERIALN
BETFEE -
Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the board of directors. EREEREEESHENERET 1
The management identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with BHAEEEESMERESE &5 RTHE
the Group’s operating units. S EhE R
Foreign exchange risk (a) SMEmREE
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through intra-group loans which AEEEEMNEERREIERERERARD
give rise to intra-group loans receivable and cash balances that are denominated AR EREEAINE (IR Z P8 R EBHI
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the BEEME NN E ) sHER S B R R A HEER
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk ERkBeEH ELEEERBNEREE
are primarily HK$ and RMB. The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to BEBRARYE AREFBEVKENBFRTIZ
an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where BNEAFE R E HEINEE - AR R H T
necessary to address short-term imbalances. LR AT ER A R R F R R Al X HKE -
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period TREINAEBRRERRKBEAEBEE
to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a RBEMIREBNIGEEBUINGE B
currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For ENEEREEXBENEBRBFS - A
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated HEZ% - FTERRRNSENRS HRE
using the spot rates at the end of the reporting period. Differences resulting from REEXBREAARE - UARBUIINE
the translation of financial statements of operation with a functional currency other BEREEENYERRBEEARAEER
than RMB into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded. EREEAELERZTEHBREN -
At 31 March 2025
120255E3A31H
HK$ RMB
BT AR%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABR®TT AR®TT
Cash and cash equivalents RehREeEEY 3,507 1,870
Other payables and accruals HiEfsRERETER (268) (3,151)
Gross exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities ERREERABBEEN
BB 4B 5B 3,239 (1,281)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

3  Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3
instruments (Continued)

(ﬁgﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ!lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 £BEPEERE)
(a)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (a) SFEmRPE ()
At 31 March 2024
20244F3 A 31H
HK$ RMB
BT AREE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREET T
Cash and cash equivalents RehReEEY 3,199 1,089
Intra-group loans receivable due from a subsidiary SEARFEERK
—EB AR ER = 42,560
Gross exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities EEREERBEEEN
B B 4B BB 3,199 43,649

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss before
income tax that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed
that the pegged rate between HK$ and USD would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the USD against other currencies.

TRIITBRRAEECRRESHFTTE
ARER B e AR B S KR B A S BEE B =R
B B2 )5 K BRR TS B AT 1R E R H B
BEE-pitms > DREETEITHE
HEXTGERXTHEMEENEERRE
MEHMIZERNTE

2025 2024
20255 20244F

(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/

Increase/ increase in loss Increase/ increase in loss

(decrease) after tax and (decrease) after tax and

in foreign accumulated in foreign accumulated

exchange rates losses exchange rates losses

BRREBERR R REER

SHESES RitBE®| HNEE [ 2K RETEBE

/i (RD) (RD) 8 =i Cnd) Ced) i

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETF T
HK$ BT 5% (162) 5% (160)
-5% 162 -5% 160
RMB AR 5% 64 5% (2,182)
-5% (64) -5% 2,182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

3.1

(a)

(b)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial
instruments (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation
of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and
accumulated losses measured in the respective functional currencies, translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for FY2024.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily in relation to its cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, term deposits as well as trade receivables, other
receivables and contract assets. The carrying amounts of each class of the above
financial assets represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to financial assets.

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term deposits

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits, the Group only transacts with stated-owned financial institutions in the
PRC or reputable banks and financial institutions having high-credit-quality in
the PRC and Hong Kong. There has been no recent history of default in relation to
these financial institutions. The expected credit loss is immaterial.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE

3

3.1

(a)

(b)

{ﬁéﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁﬁ!lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

3  Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3

instruments (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b)
(i) Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets (ii)

The Group has policies in place to ensure that trade receivables with credit terms
are made to counter-parties with an appropriate credit history and management
performs ongoing credit evaluations of the counterparties.

The Group makes periodic collective assessments or individual assessment
as appropriate on the recoverability of trade receivables, other receivables and
contract assets based on historical settlement records, past experience, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets.

The main exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting dates is the carrying
value of the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets. On that basis, the loss
allowance as at 31 March 2024 and 2025 was determined as follows for both trade

receivables and contract assets:

(ﬁgﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ!lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

< 0 PR B 3 (48)
fERmEE (1)

ESREWNHKE - EUERHBEREKEED
=EEER

AEBEEHEBRRAEKRALE RIFEER
BOXZHEFELABEENNE SR EK
B BEREBEURZHFETHASENE -

AEBRBEELAESELLE BELR 250
ARRARAEBEE 5 WA - H b UK
REREHNEERRSHARLERRNEE
HEHRERWGOR EtEBRFIEMENEE
B A Uk (o] 1 7T TE B SR B8 AT 44 Sk (B B RT (4 (4R
BRME)

REBERHMNRAEERARKAREEE
BHREFBARANEENREE - FLILE
i - 702024 % 202553 A31H K & 5 e WK 1A
RAENEEBRBREHEENT

0to6 71012 QOver

As at 31 March 2024 2024438318 months months 1102 years 2 years Total

0618 A TZ=12{8 A 1ZE26F 2EL L fast

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETR

Expected loss rate EHEEEX 4.81% 217% 7450% 83.45% 1357%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) pEREANRETT)

— trade receivables — 8 kWA 29741 2,749 1,918 1,922 36,330
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) pEREANRETT)

— contract assets —ENEE 3223 - - - 3223

Loss allowance (RMB'000) EBERE(ARETT) 1,587 747 1,429 1,604 5,367
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

3  Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3 &RABETERSMIALNREE

instruments (Continued) (#)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 £REPEER(E)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) 1SEmpE(HE)
(i) Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i) EZENFIE BMERFIER S EER
1=EE R ()
0to6 Tt012 Over
As at 31 March 2025 R202543 4318 months months 11t 2 years 2 years Total
0E6R T7E12(A 1E26E 2L @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE AR®TR ARWTRT ARBTRT ARWTRE

Expected loss rate EHEEE 3.68% 21.99% 60.21% 72.16% 15.52%
Gross carrying amount (RMB000) BEREANRETT)

—trade receivables —B SRR 22,539 3,434 4,255 1,911 32,139
Gross carrying amount (RMB000) BEEE(ANRETT)

— contract assets —BNEE 4,525 - - - 4,525
Loss allowance (RMB'000) EBEREEARETT) 996 755 2,562 1,379 5,692

MR0BFEIANEHE ZREMER KBRS
MEEBRREERVBEBRRFENEERENT

The loss allowances for trade and other receivables and contract assets as at 31
March 2025 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Contract assets

SHEE

Year ended 31 March

HEIANHLER
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TR AREET T
At the beginning of the year REAT] 198 86

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss RERNEERERL

during the year B 1B B 59 112
At the end of the year RER 257 198

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

3  Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3 &REABETERSMIALNREE

instruments (Continued) (#)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 £BEPEERE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) 1EmpEHE)
(i)  Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i)  EZENFIE - BMERIBR S EER
1EEE R (&)
Trade receivables
BHEKRRIEA
Year ended 31 March
HEIANBILLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREETF T
At the beginning of the year REH 5,169 3,777
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during A 4F R FE 18 25 FE R AV I 18
the year B AL N 5,067 3,689
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible HF R 8 PR WG IR A
EpE (4,801) (2,297)
At the end of the year RER 5,435 5,169
Impairment on other receivables is measured as 12-month expected credit losses B IE{E B R B #146 FE R LA SR 3R K g 38 A0 -
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. AW E IR ERI2E AR EEEENE -
Other receivables
H i FE M B IR
Year ended 31 March
HEIANHILLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREETF T
At the beginning of the year REH] 173 195
Increase/(reversal) in loss allowance recognised REREESERNEE
in profit or loss during the year BRI N, (B E) 6 (22)
Atthe end of the year RER 179 173
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

3.1

(b)
(i)

(c)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3 SBEKREERSMIALAREE
instruments (Continued) (#)
Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 £REPEER(E)
Credit risk (Continued) (b) 1SEmpE(HE)
Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i) B ZENIE - BEMERHERE I EER
1E B (&)
Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, fi B WA IR UL O FE B - anfE 7 A R BE B AR
such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where EBEFTVERTE  AMESRMEE - WE
financial assets and contracts have been written off, the Group continue to engage TREENMAGHE TUME  NEBEER
in activities to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, EABEWEE D BEKRGIEREE - HEE
these are recognised in profit or loss. WEZEFRIE - AIZERERBRER
Liquidity risk (c) mEELmBEE
The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the AEERNHERARNE e RReEED -
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the policy of the Group is to RARMAEEENESREEE  WAEEMNBR
regularly monitor the Group’s liquidity risk and to maintain adequate cash and cash AEHERERDESRBIUALRERTEN
equivalents to meet the Group’s liquidity requirements. ReEMBRLSZEBY IR AEENRBE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities (or the earliest date TRIFAKESHAENREEARRAS
a financial liability may become payable in the absence of a fixed maturity date) REGOAURRSRENF KA NIEB
at the balance sheet date of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual (s (METEEEREHR) emaEDH
undiscounted cash flows: FER R &F B E)
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
DIME 1E2E 2E5F SELLE &kt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT AR%®T:R
As at 31 March 2024 RAEIA3NA
Trade payables E S EMNFTIE 2,564 - - - 2,564
Other payables and accruals Hfth T 5IE R FEET B A
(excluding salary and welfare payable, (TRRERMAFEREHM -
accrual for other taxes) JEET A1) 13,741 - - - 13,741
Lease liabilities HEAE 22,492 674 80 - 23,246
38,797 674 8 . 39,551
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

3  Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3

instruments (Continued)

(ﬁgﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ!lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 £BEPEERE)
(c) Liguidity risk (Continued) (c) mEIELEEE ()
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
DPIME 1226 2E5F SELLE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR%®T:R
As at 31 March 2025 R05EI A3
Trade payables g S RN RIE 4,823 - - - 4,823
Other payables and accruals H it FIE R BT B R
(excluding salary and welfare payable, (TBEENESREH
accrual for other taxes) e E A FIIE) 30,886 - - - 30,886
Lease liabilities HEGE 17,089 14,676 5,983 - 37,748
52,798 14,676 5,983 - 13,457
3.2 Capital management 3.2 BHXEH

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

° safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that they
can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders, and

° maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part
of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with the issued share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to owners, return capital to owners, issue new shares or repurchase
the Company’s shares. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s

capital risk is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

3.3

(a)
(i)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value estimation
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgments and estimates made in determining the fair
values of the financial instruments that are recognised and measured at fair value in
the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.

3

3.3

(a)

(i

ggﬁﬂl‘ﬁ’é‘ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

L REMGE
EARREIIRHEHEERAR

R BEER
AEMAEERMBERERARAABERER
NEFEMEE T AR A BERFTEQHE &
fhEt - R/LEEL A BEMAEHABELN

AERERS  AKREEREBESENSHE
R TEANB=IE - FEBOFHAW TRAR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1 F24 ERTI FEE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

As at 31 March 2024 ®20245%3A31H
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBEFABRNSH

profit or loss (Note 19) & (M5E19)
— Investment in structured deposit —REBEERHILE - - 828,254 828,254
— Investment in fund management products ~—RELEIRE RHIEE - - 301,726 301,726
— Unlisted equity investment —JE LT IREIR & - - 5,420 5,420
Total financial assets HemRE = - 1,135,400 1,135,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

3.3

(a)
(i)

180 Beisen Holding Limited

Financial assets at fair value through profitor %22 2 (EEFT AR A& &l
loss (Note 19)

B (K19)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3 SBEKREEREMIALAAREE
instruments (Continued) (#)
Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 LREEMR(E)
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued) (a) HEAIREEIIRHLMEEREE (1)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () 2R EEERE)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B1R E2R 3w it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AER#®TT AERWTT ARWTT AR®TT
As at 31 March 2025 #20255E3A31H
Financial assets SREE

— Investment in structured deposit —REBETFRNIRE - - 632,238 632,238
— Investment in fund management products —RESEIRERHIRE - - 358,673 358,673
— Unlisted equity investment —JE E R E - - 7,709 7,709
Total financial assets HERMEE - - 998,620 998,620

Level 1:The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at each of the reporting dates. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

3  Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3 &RABETERSMIALNREE

instruments (Continued) (#)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 L ARE{EME (&)
(a)  Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued) (a) HEAIREEIIRHLMEEREE (1F)
(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (i) (EHEXT A BERGAZ BT ERAEE(FE

3R)

T X 258 22024 202553 4318 1 F [E 53
BRTEMESIFR -

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2025.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

BoARBEAARSNHNEMNEE
Investment
Investment in in fund Unlisted
structured  management equity
deposits products investment
REEE RESETR JEET
FRHBRE ERNHRSE BiERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT AREFT AR®ETT
Opening balance at 1 April 2023 MR2023F4 A1 K BI R & 8% 1,015,410 - 27,881
Additions V= 2,158,000 333,085 -
Settlements/disposal w8 HE (2,371,123) (41,839) =
Gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss R8RS (Ei8) 25,967 4,056 (22,461)
Exchange gains recognised REM2EBRAERL
in other comprehensive income PE 5 U & - 6,424 -
Closing balance at 31 March 2024 72024453 A 31 B § HA R 45 64 828,254 301,726 5,420
Opening balance at 1 April 2024 1R2024F4 B1H B HERY 4 & 828,254 301,726 5,420
Additions nNE 2,348,000 866,401 1,500
Settlements/disposal ®E e (2,559,705) (820,890) -
Gains recognised in profit or loss RIB s MR A I = 15,689 1,527 789
Exchange gains recognised REME2EBRAERL
in other comprehensive income PE 5 Wz - 3,909 -
Closing balance at 31 March 2025 202553 A 31 H /) B R 45 84 632,238 358,673 7,709

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

3.3

(a)
(ii)

(iii)

182 Beisen Holding Limited

Financial risk management and fair values of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)
(Continued)

3

3.3

(a)
(ii)

(ﬁgﬁ?ﬂﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ!lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

SR RE G ()
EAREBEIIRGLMEER AR (#F)

EHEAXT A BEA M BT ENA EE (F
3R (&)

Financial

liabilities

at fair value

through profit or loss
Redeemable
convertible

preferred shares
RARBERA
BanemaE
] 5 [O] 7 43 #2483 o5 %
RMB'000
AR®EF T

Opening balance at 1 April 2023

Changes in fair value through profit or loss

Foreign exchange adjustments

Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred shares to ordinary shares

202354 A1 B Y EA 1) 45 4
SFABZEH AR EEED

b 5 S

A B O AT s B SR R S R A

9,408,379
2,810,841

(13,105)

(12,206,115)

Closing balance at 31 March 2024 and 2025

20244 }220254E3 A 31 H M HA R 45 £4 -

Valuation techniques and significant inputs used fo determine fair values and
valuation process

The Group has a team that manages the valuation exercise of level 3 instruments
for financial reporting purposes. The team manages the valuation exercise of the
financial instruments on a case-by-case basis. Valuation techniques would be used
to determine the fair value of the Group’s level 3 instruments. External valuation
experts will be involved when necessary.

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included investment in structured
deposits (Note 19), investment in fund management products (Note 19) and
unlisted equity investment (Note 19). As these instruments are not traded in an
active market, their fair values have been determined by using various applicable
valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow model and market approach
gtc.

If the fair values of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by
the Group had been 10% higher/lower, loss before income tax for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2025 would have been approximately RMB113,540,000 and
RMB99,862,000 lower/higher.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

3.3

(a)
(iii)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and significant inputs used fo determine fair values and

valuation process (Continued)

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant

unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements:

ggg&ﬂl‘ﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂlﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ

SR RE G E ()
EARERESIRHLMEER AR ()

EERA BEBEERNREXGA L
BURNGETTE (&)

TERBABABRAABEAEMAERT
AEREABBNEEER

Fair value Range of inputs Relationship of
KRRE Significant BABRNEE unohservable inputs to
unobservable inputs fair value
Description As at 31 March EXFUHE As at 31 March FABRBRARER
B R3A31H BAHE #®3A31H [RBEDRE
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 024 20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETR

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
BRARREHAREH

EMEE
— Investment in structured deposit 632,238 828,254  Expected rate of return 0.7%~2.6% 1.2% ~3.5%  The higher the expected rate of

return, the higher the fair value
-“REBEERNRE L [ERE BEERERELS  ARE
B8

— Investment in fund management 358,673 301,726 Expected rate of return 2.8% ~4.2% 1.5%  The higher the expected rate of

products return, the higher the fair value
—RESEBEMNKRE L [ERE BEEREELS  ARE

EMD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

3.3

(a)
(i)

(b)

Financial risk management and fair values of financial 3

instruments (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and significant inputs used fo defermine fair values and

valuation process (Continued)

eRHEREEIRSMTAARKRE

(&)
3.3 ARMER )
(a) 2 RMEFINEAY 2B E R AT (1)

EERABEFBNEERNREEXBAZ
BURNGETTE (&)

(iii)

Fair value Range of inputs Relationship of
LRRE Significant BABRNRE unobservable inputs to
unobservable inputs fair value
Description As at 31 March EXFAHE As at 31 March FUBRRAREH
i R3A31H BABE ®3A31H [REEHRE
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 2244 20255 20045
RMB’000 RMB000
ABBTRE ARETT
— Unlisted equity investment 1,709 5420  Expected Volatility 51.0% 46.8%  The higher the expected volatility,
the higher the fair value
—3 FmRERE LN R BERBHELEKN - ARE
B8
Business enterprise 1.1 1.1 The higher the multiple, the
valug/sales multiple higher the fair value
EEE/ BEHE  AABELER
HERE
Discount for lack 25% 27%  The higher the lack of liquidity

of marketability
(“DLOM")

HZ misn e
E((RZhEmR
Bl

discount rate, the lower the
fair value
AR BEBIE

Financial instruments carried at other than fair value

(b)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets including cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, term deposits, trade receivables and other receivables
and the Group’s financial liabilities, including trade payables, other payables and

accruals approximate to their fair values due to their short maturities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

(a)

(b)

(c)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates
which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the “Group’s” accounting policies.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group performs the impairment test for goodwill on an annual basis, by
comparing the recoverable amount to the carrying amount. The recoverable amount
is determined based on the value-in-use calculations by using the discounted cash
flow method, which requires significant estimates and judgements relating to the
growth rate, the terminal value and the discount rate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the deferred tax assets can be utilised. In determining the
amount of deferred tax assets to be recognised, significant judgement is required
relating to the timing and level of future taxable profits, after taking into account
future tax planning strategies. The amount of deferred tax assets recognised at
future dates are adjusted if there are significant changes from these estimates.

Valuation of intangible assets

The valuation of intangible assets acquired in relation to the acquisition of Cool
College is based on discounted cash flow forecasts of the future performance of the
operations in sales of corporate training software and provision of training courses.
This involves significant management judgement and estimation including future
revenue growth rate, gross margins and the discount rate applied.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE

(a)

(b)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

(a)

Segment information 5

The Group’s business activities are mainly in providing cloud-based HCM
solutions and related professional services, for which discrete financial information
is available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the CODM (Note 2.4).
As a result of this evaluation, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s operation is operated and managed as a single segment and no segment
information is presented, accordingly.

All of the Group’s revenues for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 were
generated in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, all of the Group’s long-lived assets are located in
the PRC.

Revenues from contracts with customers 6
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (a)

Revenue for all the years presented are as follows:

SHEH

7N 05 B ) 7508 B) = B R IR 4L B IRHOMAR R
FREEWEERSG - AREBNHBEER
MEBEERTE (WiE24) THEH R -
MR ARAEERAAEENES
E—DEEERER - YIRS TISEER -

AEBEH £2024F M2025%3A31H IEFERIFT
BURAEEREE -

20245 K 202553 A31H + AN&E H) 2 H &K A
BEHLNFE -

ERaHlA
EFSHBRADDS

RETRATA FERBALT

Year ended 31 March

#BEIRNHILFEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBTT

Cloud-based HCM Solutions EIRHCMER R 75 2= 721,826 632,227
Professional Services EER 223,250 222 514
945,076 854,741

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue
recognition is as follows:

BWAERRRE ST EHRANT

Year ended 31 March

BEIANHLLFEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Recognised over time W B [ e AR 828,839 738,432
Recognised at a point in time REREZER 116,237 116,309
945,076 854,741
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

6
(b)

Revenues from contracts with customers (Continued) 6 EFRSWIUIA ()
Contract assets () BHFIE
The Group records a contract asset when revenue recognised for professional AEBR—BEEARNERKEEREBETES
services performance obligations fulfilled over a period of time exceed the WEERWABBREEBEXRENHAE
contractual amount of billings for providing related professional services. And EHCHERBEBANEE ANEERASE
contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables when the Group’s right to the WS BRI ERK AEGERENHES
considerations becomes unconditional. Z 5 W EKIE -
As at 31 March
#3A31AR
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTRT AREETF T
Contract assets BHEE 4,525 3,223
Less: Allowance for contract assets B BRNEERE (257) (198)
Total contract assets BEKEE 4,268 3,025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

(c)

188 Beisen Holding Limited

Revenues from contracts with customers (Continued) 6 EFESHA ()
Contract acquisition costs (c) EBPIMBEE
The Group has recognised an asset in relation to costs to acquire contracts. This REBERENIISKABR-IBEE ° It
is presented as contract acquisition costs in consolidated statements of financial RERE M BARRRAZ5NREHIIGKA -
position.
Contract acquisition costs for initial contracts are amortised on a straight-line basis THREHNENERBRARNANEE G AN
over a period of benefits that the Group estimated to be four years, while for the FH—BXaRNEEGEESRE  mMER
renewal contracts, contract acquisition costs are amortised on a straight-line basis BENEGL HAHDRGBHRAREEZENEGYN
over the renewal contract terms, or expensed as incurred if the amortization period BEREANZEGEESRE SR LR
is one year or less. The management expects the capitalised costs to be completely (MEHEHE A —FHIUAA) - EIEETERT
recovered and no impairment loss should be recognised since no losses are HBRE2WEERKA - B2 RERERR
expected to be incurred for the related customer contracts when all the costs that BEEE BRBEHITeREEEFANEL
relate to the fulfillment of the contract are taken into account. EMEE (HE B ETTE KRB AT a A
ZRENA) °
As at 31 March
#3A31AH
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT AREETF T
Total contract acquisition costs BE WIS A 54,018 53,283
Less: amounts to be amortised within one year W BR—FREENSE (23,829) (23,567)
Contract acquisition costs — non-current A RIS R AN — FERNHA 30,189 29,716

The following table shows the changes of contract acquisition costs balances:

TREIGOMESKAHKENES :

Year ended 31 March

HBEIANHLLEE
2025 2024
2025 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AE®TT AREETF T
Asset recognised from costs incurred to obtain a contract MEHNBISKAERNEE 27,982 25,471
Amortization recognised as selling and marketing expenses related 7 45 R FE 2 A IR 75 8k 2 4 78
to services or products during the year SHE K& S X A i (27,247) (24,316)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

(d)

Revenues from contracts with customers (Continued)
Contract liabilities

During all the years presented, the additions to the contract liabilities were
primarily due to cash collections in advance of fulfilling performance obligations,
while the reductions to the contract liability balance were primarily due to the
recognition of revenues upon fulfilment of performance obligations.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised during all the years
presented is included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of each period:

(d)

ERalA (#)
SRR
RERFBFE  AREEENEEmRR

FIMBBETRAOZRBHRES MaNAaER
BRI EZANBITRAOBZHRERLA -

TRIREF ARV ENAEBORARAAE
FEERHBASHE

Year ended 31 March

BEFIANHLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTRT AREET T
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilitiess ~ REMFAA L B EHEND
balance at the beginning of the year HERUA 430.099 404,130

The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised as income after more
than one year is RMB71,862,000 (FY2024: RMB55,202,000). All of the other
contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within one year.

Other income

BIHANBE - FREARBRANEGHEE
TR AR HEET1,862,0007T (202484 F - AR ¥
55,202,0007T) - FTE EM A B ERAER —
FRERRBEA -

Hftnlr A

Year ended 31 March

B EIAHLER
2025 2024
20255 20244F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARET T
Value added tax (“VAT”) refund (a) EERIRIEQ) 45,885 42,389
Government grants BT 75 B 27,291 27,501
Additional deductible input tax SR (ERHE TEA I ET O FR - 406
Others H 382 356
73,558 70,652

(@)  According to the VAT tax regulations in the PRC, the applicable VAT tax
rate for sales of computer software is 13% during the years presented.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE

(@ REFEZBEBRGD RATHESF
B HEFERREREERRE
7313% ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

8  Other gains, net 8 HMukZ BN

Year ended 31 March
#HEIAALLEE

2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FT ARETT

Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through ~ IR R BEFABFEN SR EE

profit or loss (Note 19) 2 AR EBEKTFAEPRIFE) 24,005 7,562
Net (losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEEEEZ (&
equipment 18),/ W FE (87) 114
Net foreign exchange losses SN B 18 F 58 (2,989) (3,319)
Others Hih (498) (2,347)
20,431 2,010
9 Loss before income tax 9 MERAAEGER
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: BRPTISTHATEE R HIBR A T S IHEZ G ¢
(a) Staff costs (a) BIKF

Year ended 31 March

BEIANHLEFEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE& - #Fre R4 656,345 640,072
Pension cost-defined contribution plans RIS A — R E -GS 62,588 60,702
Share-based payments (Note 25) LARS A7 & ZE 05 1 35 B (RS 5E25) 117,302 292,380
Housing benefits FEEF 46,441 46,972
Other social security costs Hibt e RERS 38,627 35,963
Other employee welfare HAbfE B1EF 36,907 32,295

958,210 1,108,384
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IRKRHEE (E)
9  Loss before income tax (Continued) 9 MFERAEGRE)
(b) Other items (b) HIRAH
Year ended 31 March
#HEIANALEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Depreciation and amortisation charge (Notes 14, 15 and 17) ITE R E S 2 (T RE14 -

1517)

— property, plant and equipment —M - WEREE 24,554 26,593
— right-of-use assets —PRAREEE 27,667 31,793
— intangible assets —EBREE 1,441 176
53,662 58,562
Technical service fees Rl R & 39,197 35,636
Professional service fees BERKE 43,830 23,928
Marketing expenses IR 14,241 15,588

Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR BN &
— Audit services — Z B R 3,700 2,600
— Non-audit services — IR 380 =
4,080 2,600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

10 Individuals with highest emoluments
(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for each
of the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, include 3 and 3 directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 34. The emoluments paid
to the remaining 2 and 2 individuals for each of the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2025 are as follows:

10

(a)

EEFHMAL
LERSHFMAL

B 00244 20253 AR I EERF - A&k
EFMsasmnhi ALTH o Rl eiEss kg
EE HENE I XM 34T R K S AT
o A F20244F 202543 B31H IEFE K F
FERTRR T 28 2B AT SEBNAn T -

Year ended 31 March

BEANHILEFE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Share-based payment expenses PARS 7 A B &9 sk 2 19,527 39,167
Wages and salaries TERFS 3,546 2,580
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 1,053 706
Pension cost-defined contribution plans BIRE KA — A EHKGTE 148 128
Other social security costs H it e RER AR 88 84
Housing benefits FEAES 101 9%
Total FEE 24,463 42,761
(b) The emoluments fell within the following bands: (b) FHEEMRHTER :
Year ended 31 March
H$EIANHLLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to 9,500,001 7T 210,000,0007% 7T
approximately RMB8,703,520 to RMB9,161,600) (FEE R % AR %8 703,5207T
Z= AR #9,161,6007T) 1 -
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000 (equivalent to 15,000,001 7T & 15,500,000/ 7T
approximately RMB13,742,400 to RMB14,200,480) (FEE R %A R %13,742,400
L& AR #14,200,4807T) = 1
HK$17,000,001 to HK$17,500,000 (equivalent to 17,000,001 7T 217,500,000/ 7T
approximately RMB15,574,720 to RMB16,032,800) (FEE R % AR ¥15,574,720
JTE AR ¥16,032,8007T) 1 -
HK$30,000,001 to HK$30,500,000 (equivalent to 30,000,0015% 7t Z30,500,0007% 7T
approximately RMB27,484,800 to RMB27,942,880) (FEE R %A R 27,484,800
JTE AR ¥27,942 8807T) = 1
2 2

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to these individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

11 Finance income, net

11 HMBEBRARESE

Year ended 31 March

#HEIRINHILFEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Finance income  HME&A a2 8469

Finance costs BHBBE

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEEENFSHAX (1,118) (2,019

Interest expenses on bank loans RITEZWNFEMAX (132) -
(1,250) (2,019)

Finance income, net MBBRARE 3,172 6,450

12 Income tax expense

The income expense of the Group are analyzed as follows:

12 FRiSIRAX

AEBEFRSEHAS 2 OMMT

Year ended 31 March

BEANAILEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBTT

Current income tax BVERFT 15 %% - =
Deferred income tax (Note 26) i RE B 15 75 (B 5.26) 4,110 14,474
Income tax expense S’ > 4,110 14,474
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

12 Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount
that would arise using the tax rate of 25%, being the tax rate applicable to the

12 PRSI ()

MERBEARIERAER
8 AEEZHRABHAEBERESRER

Z B 25%5T

major consolidated entities as follows: SEMEEAT
Year ended 31 March
BFIANHLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFT
Loss before income tax & BT 15 75 Al g 18 143,296 3,194,113
Taxation calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% in % P B A )% E B R 25% AT B
mainland China 2 BiIE (35,824) (798,528)
Tax effects of: UTERZMBRE :
Effect of preferential tax rates BERE 2 & 11,040 30,538
Effects of different tax rates in overseas jurisdictions REINRIEE B[R AR R =X
S0 4,262 704,613
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose HHEEMTITNRZHAX 2,884 16,919
Research and development expenses super-deduction 25 B L B RE IR AN (28,190) (29,962)
Tax effects of unused tax losses not recognised W ARERAB AR IEEE 2B
B 49,938 90,894
4,110 14,474

(a) Cayman Islands

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to Cayman Islands income tax. As such, the operating
results reported by the Company, including the fair value change of redeemable
convertible preferred shares (Note 29), is not subject to any income tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

12

(b)

(c)

(d)

Income tax expense (Continued)
Hong Kong Income Tax

Hong Kong Income Tax rate is two-tiered profits tax regime, under which the tax
rate is 8.25% or assessable profits on the first HK$2 million and 16.5% or any
assessable profits in excess of HK$2 million. Hong Kong Income Tax was provided
for the assessable profit that was subject to Hong Kong Income Tax during all the
years presented.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in PRC was
calculated at the tax rate of 25% or 15% for enterprises qualified as “High and
New Technology Enterprises” (“HNTE") on the assessable profits for all the years
presented, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof.

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureau
of the PRC (Ministry of Finance State Taxation Administration Announcement
No.7 of 2023), where the research and development expenses actually incurred
in an enterprise’s research and development activities are included in the current
profits or losses before they become intangible assets, a super deduction of 100
percent of the research and development expenses shall be made in addition to the
deduction of actual expenses in accordance with relevant regulations from January
1, 2023. The Group has made its best estimate for the Super Deduction to be
claimed for the Group’s entities in ascertaining their assessable profits during all
the years presented.

PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT”)

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law”), distribution of
profits earned by PRC companies since 1 January 2008 to foreign investors
is subject to withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the country of
incorporation of the foreign investor, upon the distribution of profits to overseas-
incorporated immediate holding companies.

During all the years presented, none of the PRC subsidiaries within the Group
have achieved the profitable state, nor have there been any undistributed profits.
Accordingly, no deferred income tax liability on WHT was accrued as at the end of
each reporting period.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE
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(b)

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

13 Loss per share
(a) Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

13 BSERER
(a) &EXF

BREABBRZARAREE ARG EBERR A
HBACDBTEBRRMETFIEGE -

period.
Year ended 31 March
HEIANHLEER
2025 2024
20255 20244
Numerator: SF:
Loss for the year and attributable to owners of the RABHEB AEIEFAERE
Company (in RMB'000) (AR®TFT) (147,406) (3,208,587)
Denominator: »:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, basic & 217 & 3@ AX INHE F 5 £ -
BN 720,431,087 716,515,715
Basic net loss per share attributable to owners of the RATHEA NEIEERER
Company (in RMB) EtEFE (ARET) (0.20) (4.48)
(b) Diluted (b)

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

As the Group incurred net losses for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, the
dilutive potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of dilutive
loss per share, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, dilutive loss
per share for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 are the same as basic 10ss
per share of the respective periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma M BERRHE (&)
14 Property, plant and equipment 14 Y% BEREME
Furniture
Electronic and office Leasehold
equipment equipment improvement Total
FE R
EFE iR BiF HEMERE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT ARETFT AREFTT ARETT
Year ended 31 March 2024 B E2024F3A31HLLEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 34,501 1,252 14,440 50,193
Additions RE 11,358 50 946 12,354
Disposals BE (122) (23) — (145)
Depreciation charge HEEHR (17,305) (544) (8,744) (26,593)
Closing net book amount FAREMFE 28,432 735 6,642 35,809
As at 31 March 2024 72024E3R31H
Cost B 7 88,755 4,685 35,043 128,483
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (60,323) (3,950) (28,401) (92,674)
Net book amount iR EEE 28,432 735 6,642 35,809
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE2025F3A3HLLEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 28,432 735 6,642 35,809
Additions NE 11,051 87 491 11,629
Addition through acquisition of a BRWE—EHB AR
subsidiary (Note 35) AN (HTRE 35) 69 - - 69
Disposals RE (219) (7) - (226)
Depreciation charge WEEA (17,434) (214) (6,906) (24,554)
Closing net book amount FREEMFE 21,899 601 227 22,727
As at 31 March 2025 720255E3A31H
Cost BN 98,485 4,634 34,851 137,970
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (76,586) (4,033) (34,624) (115,243)
Net book amount BREFE 21,899 601 227 22,721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 9% BEREE(E)
Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment has been recognised as AEBZME  BEMIENTEEROT :
follows:

Year ended 31 March

B EIANEHLEE
2025 2024
20254 20244F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Cost of revenues SHE A 18,255 18,774
Research and development expenses 2 2 2,472 3,260
Selling and marketing expenses HE R HRAX 2,259 2,903
General and administrative expenses — M RITHFAX 1,568 1,656

24,554 26,593
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RE B RRME ()
15 Intangible assets 15 E|EEE
Non-
Copyrights and  competition
Software Trademark technologies agreement Total
B iR RMERKEHT FREHE #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTRT AR¥TI ARBTT ART:R

Year ended 31 March #F202453A31H Ik

2024 E£E
Opening net book amount  F ¥ BR /R B 592 - - - 592
Additions = 764 - - - 764
Amortization charge BIEE R (176) - - - (176)
Closing net book amount 4 >R AR EI 7# (& 1,180 - - - 1,180

As at 31 March 2024 #20245£3A31H

Cost A 3,016 = = - 3,016
Accumulated amortization 2 &84 $4 (1,836) = - - (1,836)
Net book amount IR FE 1,180 - - = 1,180

Year ended 31 March & F2025F3H31H 1L

2025 FE
Opening net book amount ¥ BR L F1E 1,180 - - - 1,180
Additions NE = = = = =
Addition through acquisition 7 38 U B8 — 51 B /8

of a subsidiary (Note 35) NRINE (M 7E35) - 48,000 11,000 1,800 60,800
Amortization charge BIEER (261) (480) (550) (150) (1,441)
Closing net book amount & RER T /FE 919 47,520 10,450 1,650 60,539
As at 31 March 2025 1¥20255£3A31H
Cost BN 3,016 48,000 11,000 1,800 63,816
Accumulated amortization 2 &84 §4 (2,097) (480) (550) (150) (3,277)
Net book amount BREFE 919 47,520 10,450 1,650 60,539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

15 Intangible assets (Continued)

15 |ELEE ()

Amortization of the Group’s intangible assets was recognised as follows: REBE B EESRHEERET ¢

Year ended 31 March

#BEIRNHILFEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

General and administrative expenses — B RITERA X 113 49
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAT 2 27
Cost of revenues $HE A AR 1,326 100
1,441 176
16 Goodwill 16 W8
Year ended 31 March
H$EIANHLLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

At the beginning of the year REM = =
Addition through acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) BRWE-—FHNBARRE
(CERD) 169,186 -
At the end of the year WEXR 169,186 -
The breakdown of goodwill allocated to CGU is as follows: PERERCELBEMNEERMAOT
Year ended 31 March
HBEIANHLLEE
2025 2024
2025%F 20245
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE®TT AREETF T
E-learning Cloud REE 169,186 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

16

Goodwill (Continued)

On 22 January 2025, the Group acquired the 100% equity interests of Kuxuan
(Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. ("Kuxuan”) for a cash consideration of
RMB180,000,000. The excess of the consideration over the net fair value of the
identifiable net assets of Kuxuan of approximately RMB10,814,000 was recorded as
goodwill. Details of the acquisition is described in Note 35.

As the Group manages the existing E-learning Cloud business and Kuxuan’s
business as a whole and the Group’s existing E-learning Cloud business can
benefit from synergies of the acquisition as well, the goodwill arising from the
acquisition is therefore allocated to the Group’s business of E-learning Cloud(the
“E-learning Cloud CGU").

The Group performs an annual impairment test for intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives, including goodwill, to assess the recoverable amount of the E-learning
Cloud CGU. The recoverable amount of the E-learning Cloud CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period.
Based on current operation status and future plan, these cash flow projections
adopted annual revenue growth rates around 16% in the first year and 20% during
the remaining forecast period, which are based on the Group’s historical experience
and expectations of markets. Cash flows per year beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated used a long-term growth rate of 2%. The cash flows are discounted
using a discount rate of 16.48%. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the E-learning Cloud CGU.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE
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()

2025128 - AEEURERBEARE
180,000,0007T 45 8 BB (3b ) BB R A Al
([FEE]) BU100% AR 7 - Yo i (X E B E S A
BRFEERNRFEHARE0,814,0007T A
HOARAME - WESEFBHRMIES -

HRARERRENEBEXEEEE XY
ERBEBETERE BEASEREEREEX
BRIt R ERELN BRI R ES R
@ ARBEEEEANEESIREAEE
MBEREXR (PEERSEEEM]) -

AEESFHERSH ITRENELEE (R
ERE)ETRENR UFHEBREREE
EBEMMAIKREEE SRERSELEN
BRI IR B 2R R IR R EEF B RHEE - %
EHHERAEEERENDEUBRERE
BEBRSIRIAR - RIFE ATEENR RN RARRK
AR ZERERAAEFRARERRNR
16% - o &4~ T8 RI HA i /20% - 1tk Ty BN AR & E
MESKBRET SR  AFHENTFR
EREMINEHRERXEH SN - R
MR FA16.48% ) REIR R AETTITIR - FTARRIR X
RMAAE WRRESBERGELBEM
HENEERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

17 Leases

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of financial
position

The consolidated statements of financial position show the following amounts
relating to leases:

17 #H8

(a) REEMBERKARBRHRE

HEMBRARBRATHIREEEFH :

As at 31 March

#3A31H

20255 20244F
AR®TT ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB'000

Right-of-use assets HHEEE
— Office o NS 39,699 25,293

Lease liabilities HEAR

— Current —RE 16,204 22,003
— Non-current —FEED 19,967 738
36,171 22,741
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

17 Leases (Continued)

(a)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of financial

position (Continued)

The movement in right-of-use assets in the consolidated statements of financial

position are as follows:

17 #HE (&)

(a) RiFEMBRARMEHRE(E)

FAEMBRARNERBEEEZSNT ¢

Year ended 31 March

HEIANNHLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AREBFT
Cost 2% 3
At the beginning of the year REF] 109,127 117,025
Additions NE 41,882 4,083
Addition through acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35) ZRWE-—FHNBARARE
(BT 5E 35) 940 -
Decreases Vo (7,004) (11,981)
Mtheendoftheyear L RER e logiier
Accumulated depreciation Rt E
At the beginning of the year REF] (83,834) (60,211)
Depreciation charge for the year FRMEER (27,667) (31,793)
Decreases R 6,255 8,170
At the end of the year RER (105,246) (83,834)
Net book amount RERE
Atthe end of the year RER 39,699 25,293
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

17 Leases (Continued) 17 8 (i)
(b)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of () RESEZEGREREIHRIE

comprehensive loss

The consolidated statements of comprehensive loss show the following amounts GEXHBBRBTUTRIREEESHA -
relating to leases:

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAEEERTEER
— Office /NS 27,667 31,793
Interest expense (included in finance costs) (Note 11) FERE GT A BEAR)
(B=E11) 1,118 2,019

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in short-term HEBHAEREMNAY GTA

rental and utilities expenses) HHESRKESE) 6,446 7,801
The total cash outflow for leases for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 were B Z2024F K2025F3ANB IEFEMHEERS
approximately RMB43,560,000 and RMB35,986,000, respectively. it B R8BI 49 A A R 1543,560,0007T 2 A R

#35,986,0007T °

Interest element of the lease payment is presented as cash outflow from financing HE205F3ANBLEFE - HEHEHF L
activities for the year ended 31 March 2025. HoRmERHELENRESREES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

18 Financial instruments by category 18 BENBSHEMIA

As at 31 March

#3A31A
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
ABR®TT AREETF T
Financial assets eMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost; REHEKNATENESREE
— Trade receivables (Note 20) — & 5 FEURIE (FF5E20) 26,704 31,161
— Other receivables(Note 21) — H h fE W R IE (FF5E21) 15,909 12,352
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) - Re kFESZEEY (FiE22) 478,936 234,101
— Term deposits (Note 22) —E HATE 3 (B 7E22) 20,681 350,756
—Restricted cash (Note 22) — RT3 (H7E2) 1,342 1,082
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BEARBEITAEBSNESRBERE 998,620 1,135,400
1,542,192 1,764,852
Financial liabilities SMAR
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHEKATENESREE
— Trade payables (Note 27) — & 5 BN I8 (i sE27) 4,823 2,564
— Other payables and accruals (excluding salary and welfare  — E th f& (~ FRIE K fE 5t & A
payable, accrual for other taxes) (TBEEENHe REN -
JEET E A 18) 30,886 13,741
Lease liabilities HESE 36,171 22,741
71,880 39,046
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

19

(a)

206 Beisen Holding Limited

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss:

19

(a)

BOAREFARRNENEE

BoRREFAREHEHBES N

¥

Nl

R

ZN
=

ke

SEBUATRAABEFABRENERE
b2

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFT
Current assets MENEE
— Wealth management products —IBEIEm
— Structured deposits —EEMEER 632,238 828,254
— Fund management products (i) —EEBEM®) 358,673 301,726
Non-current asset EREDEE
— Unlisted equity investment —JEETRERE 7,709 5,420
998,620 1,135,400

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had held certain investments in
fund management products issued by private funds established in
Cayman Islands with principal and accrued interest in total amounted
to approximately US42,527,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB301,726,000). During the year ended 31 March 2025, carrying value
of such fund management products as at 31 March 2024 have been fully
recovered by the Group through redemption from the issuers and disposal
to third parties at considerations approximate to their carrying values
respectively.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had held certain investments in
fund management products issued by Haitong International Asset
Management (HK) Limited with principal and accrued interest in total
amounted to approximately US49,967,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB358,673,000). Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements,
all the fund management products have been recovered by the Group
through redemption from the issuers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

19 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 BROoARBEFAAREHEMNETE
)

(b)

(Continued)

Amounts recognised in consolidated statements of comprehensive

loss

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, the following gains were

recognised in consolidated statements of comprehensive 10ss:

~—

(b) REEREHERREEMHRT

R E E20244F 20253 A31H IEFE - AT
EREEEEEBRRER

Year ended 31 March

BEIANHLLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT AREFTT

Fair value gains of financial assets at fair value through Gy = VR /N
profit or loss recognised in other gains EBEFABESNEHEE
24,005 7,562
20 Trade receivables 20 BHEWRHRIEA

As at 31 March

#3A31H

2025 2024

20254 2024%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TTRT ARBFT

Trade receivables from contracts with customers REBZEFEHNE FEWFHIA 32,139 36,330
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables R B 5 EIGRIE R E B (5,435) (5,169)
26,704 31,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

20 Trade receivables (Continued)

(a) The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on an
individual basis.

The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

BAEW KRR ()

RPRAEFHERVRANEERE -

ERNBREARNE S REGRNRER DI T :

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

— Up to 6 months — B E6ME A 22,539 29,741
— 6 months to 1 year —6f& A =1 F 3,434 2,749
—1-2years —13:2F 4,255 1,918
— Over 2 years —2F A E 1,911 1,922

32,139 36,330

The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the assets. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

21 Other receivables and prepayments 21 HttBEWRERAMREA
As at 31 March
#3A31H
2025 2024
20255 20244F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Non-current: JEE -

Rental and other deposits HekHEMize 10,428 1,740

Prepayment for purchase of intangible assets BEEFEEMNBEMNFE 343 200

Prepayment for property, plant and equipment VI BB R ERERNTEN B 4,620 =

Sub-total MM Bl ] 1,940
Current: e :

Prepaid services and goods ENRERERE 32,260 15,465

Rental and other deposits HekEMEe 3,569 10,532

Prepaid shares repurchase FENAER RGN E 5,326 322

Receivable for VAT refund AT R R B GRIE 4,155 =

Others HAi 5,319 2,546

Sub-total UNY 50,629 28,865

Total - 66,020 30,805

Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables B+ L Ath P SR TR R (B R (179) (173)
Net book amount RE2E 65,841 30,632
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

22 Cash and cash equivalents 22 BEeRBE¥EY
As at 31 March
#3A31H
2025 2024
20255 20244F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Cash at bank and in hand (a) RITRFEHIR L () 500,959 585,939
Less: Term deposits B EHTE (20,681) (350,756)
Restricted cash (b) SR 38 (b) (1,342) (1,082)
Cash and cash equivalents ReERFAEEZEED 478,936 234,101
(@) As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, cash at bank and in hand of the Group (@)  PA2024%F K202593A31H A E /IR
were denominated in the following currencies: TRFERSEUTEEAE:

As at 31 March

H3A31H
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

RMB AR 397,734 549,870
USb x5 99,718 32,870
HKD BT 3,507 3,199
500,959 585,939
(b)  Cash that is restricted as to withdrawal for use or pledged as security is (b) ERAREURGE A IR ERE R
reported separately on the face of the consolidated statements of financial SREEUBERARELZEY] - BT
position and is not included in the total cash and cash equivalents in the FFAGEReERERNE e KRS EE
consolidated statements of cash flows: YIBEEA -

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2025 2024
2025%F 20244F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

Guarantee deposits ERES 1,342 1,082
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

23 Share capital and share premium

23 BFEREHRR

Nominal value of
ordinary shares
(With par value

Number of of US$0.00001
ordinary shares each(a))
BiEEmEE
(SEREE
HERREE 0.000013£75T(a))
UsD000
FET
Authorised: EE -
As at 31 March 2023 120233 A31H 452,124,515 45
Effect of Share Subdivision (a) & 10 7% 40 B 72 22 (a) 4,069,120,635 -
Conversion of preferred shares to ordinary shares (b) 18 4& IR 44 & X538 B (b) 478,754,850 5
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025 A20244F K2 202553 A31H 5,000,000,000 50
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary Share
shares shares shares premium
wiEm
BERHE TEREE $SREE RHOEE
UsD000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FET ARBTT ARETT
Issued: B8T:
As at 31 March 2023 20233 A31H 21,374,042 2 15 623,064
Effect of Share Subdivision (a) A& D PR A A 522 (a) 192,366,378 - - -
Conversion of preferred shares to 18 S BB /5 X SR AR (b)
ordinary shares (b) 469,750,850 5 32 12,206,083
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to EERX AHBEEEENE
initial public offering, net of underwriting BAREETT - KRB HEME
commissions and other issuance costs & RE AT 8,044,000 - 1 198,903
Issuance of shares under Pre-IPQ share BIEE X AFAESHER
option plan (d) REET BT AR (d) 26,926,150 - 1 118,617
Cancellation of shares (g) FE SRR () (107,000) - - (420)
As at 31 March 2024 1202443 A31H 718,354,420 7 49 13,146,247
Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO BIEE R ARSI HER
share option plan (f) R BT A () 3,817,431 - 1 43,437
As at 31 March 2025 202593 A31H 722,171,851 7 50 13,189,684
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

23 Share capital and share premium (Continued)

(@) On 23 March 2023, the shareholders of the Company resolved the Share
Subdivision pursuant to which each of the issued and unissued shares
with par value of US$0.0001 each be subdivided into 10 shares of the
corresponding class with nominal value of US$0.00001 each, which was
effective immediately before the completion of the Global Offering on 13

April 2023.

(b)  According to the terms and conditions of the redeemable convertible
preferred shares, each redeemable convertible preferred share should
be automatically converted into ordinary shares on a one-on-one basis
upon the closing of the initial public offering. All redeemable convertible
preferred shares of the Company were converted into ordinary shares
immediately before the completion of the Global Offering on 13 April 2023
accordingly. All newly issued ordinary shares are ranked pari passu with

the existing ordinary shares in all aspects.

(c)  On 13 April 2023, the Company issued 8,044,000 ordinary shares for
HK$29.70 per share through initial public offering, which raised net
proceeds of approximately RMB199,479,000. The Company’s share capital
and share premium was increased by approximately US$80 (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,000) and RMB198,903,000, being the gross proceeds
net of share issuance costs. All newly issued ordinary shares are ranked

pari passu with the existing ordinary shares in all aspects.

(d)  During the year ended 31 March 2024, options were exercised to subscribe
for 26,926,150 ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of
US$582,494 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,152,000), of which
US$269 (equivalent to approximately RMB2,000) and US$582,225
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,150,000) were credited to share capital
and share premium, respectively. Approximately RMB114,467,000 was

transferred from the reserve to share premium.

(e)  On 19 March 2024, 107,000 ordinary shares repurchased on 1 February

2024 were cancelled.

(f) During the year ended 31 March 2025, options were exercised to subscribe
for 3,817,431 ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of
US$634,583 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,536,000), of which US$38
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,000) and US$634,545(equivalent to
approximately RMB4,536,000) were credited to share capital and share
premium, respectively. Approximately RMB38,902,000 was transferred

from the reserve to share premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

24 Reserves 24 GEfR
Changes in
the fair value
Share-based Currency  attributable
Capital payment  Purchase of translation to credit risk Other
reserve expenses  ownshares differences change reserves Total
URiRE ERRRE
ERMAR BE H%RE SDEGH
BXGE RAE B3RK EE OREEED HMHE #t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETR ARET:
Asat 1 Aprl 2003 HNBEIANA (11802220 319891 S ) - (11643%)
Share-based payments (Note 25) IR RERER 5
(P#E25) = 292,380 = = = - 292,380
Conversion of redeemable convertible EEERELRER
preferred shares to ordinary shares BLER - - - - 24,034 - 24,034
Currency translation differences EHBEEE - - - 2,307 - - 27307
Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO share REBRAREEFBR
option plan HE BT O - (14d66) - - - S (i1440)
Purchase of own shares BEa ki - - (8,354) - - (420) (8,774)
Cancellation of shares FHRH - - - - - 420 0
As at 31 March 2024 MR2024E3 A3 A (1,180222) 497,805 (8,354) (252,722) - - (943,493)
Asat 1 April 2004 RUUELRIR (11022 49780 O34 (72 - - (4%
Share-based payments (Note 25) IR BERER 3R
(B3 25) = 117,302 = = = - 17,302
Currency translation differences ERBEEE - - - 5,812 - - 5,812
Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO share REBRAREEFBR
aption plan B EIRTR G - (38,901) - - - - (38,901)
Purchase of own shares BEa ki - - (90,205) - - - (90,205)
As at 31 March 2025 RBEIA3A (1,180,222) 576,206 (98,559)  (246,910) - - (949,485)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

25 Share-based payments

(a)

214 Beisen Holding Limited

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during
all the years presented were as follows:

25

LI B% {7 %5 2 Wg ) £ 3%

RARABFE ERANARND SERON
AR ZPELEMRASARINT ¢

Year ended 31 March

HBEIANHLLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARBTIT
Share-based payments — ESOP (a) AR D BERBOAR—1EE
T2l (a) 111,863 289,481
Share-based payments — RSU (b) LAR% A9 A E A B 1~ 5% — S2BR
i 15 B AL(b) 5,439 2,899
117,302 292,380

Share-bhased payments — ESOP

On 15 July 2019, the Company adopted the 2019 Share Incentive Plan (the “2019
Plan”), which permits the grant of options to the employees and directors of the
Company and its affiliates. The Maximum number of shares that may be issued
under the 2019 Plan shall be 6,693,252.

On 23 April 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Share Incentive Plan (the “2020
Plan’, collectively with the 2019 Plan, “Employee Stock Ownership Plan”,
or “ESOP”), whereby the incentive share options granted to employees in 2019
Plan were replaced and superseded by the exact number of share options for each
grantee. There is no change of vesting schedule and other key terms of such award
agreements entered into with each grantee and the classification of share-based
awards immediately before and after the adoption of 2020 Plan. As at 31 March
2021, the maximum number of shares that may be issued under the 2020 Plan was
6,770,877 ordinary shares. This number was increased to 7,911,919 on 9 April
2021, and further increased to 7,972,883 on 26 September 2021 and 31 December
2021. (Collectively, the “Pre-IPO Share Option Plan”).

The options shall vest under service condition and the Company’s successful
IPO. The granted options have a contractual option term of five years or any
extended date determined by the Company. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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25

(a)

Share-based payments (Continued) 25 LIRS ERMTR(E)
Share-hased payments — ESOP (Continued) (a) LIRS EROFH—ERSKREE (])
In September 2021, the Company modified 2,658,086 share options granted upon 20219A8 - AR AR B R B FARETE
ESOP with the grantees to reduce the number of options to 2,376,179 and exercise BT AR A K92,658,086170 BB AR E - 1% BB AR M 2K
prices at the same time, and the modified share options were exercised early BB £2,376,17917 » I R BF IR IEITEE - (B2
upon initial listing of the Company’s shares. The resulting ordinary shares will be R BREN AR RN B IX LT EERAD
transferred to trusts with the original option grantees as beneficiaries. The trusts TE-AREENEBRBEEETERL R
will distribute the ordinary shares to those beneficiaries in installments based on BREAREAIEA - EABRERER
the vesting requirements under the original option agreements. Although these EHENEBER  2HEZEZTADE
trust arrangements caused a modification of the terms of these share options (the LER - BEZST RSB RERK
“Modification”), there’s no incremental fair value related to these ordinary shares e ((EX])  BEZELBERODAAEEL
resulted from the modification, and the remaining share-based payments expense RERAERMEN  BEFRGHURG A
for these ordinary shares continued to be recognised over the original remaining ERON R EETRROFHEBEA
vesting period. Given that these options are still subject to the original service R -ERNZEEREIRRNRRSE REIX
and IPO vesting condition, they are not considered exercised from accounting PABERBIGEYT ZEBREXRSTAE
perspective. ME TR ABEITE -
In the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has extended its estimated date of B E2023F3ANBILEFEE ARAEERE
a successful IPO and adjusted the cumulative expenses accordingly in the current PRIETTE IR ARBEEMN M B E - WARME
period, resulting in a reversal of expenses that have previously been charged. FAERABEMRAFAY  BBULAIFHRMHA
T HEE -
Movements in the number of share options granted to employees under ESOP and ETEEFRAZE T EENBRESEZ
their related weighted average exercise prices are as below: NMEMEBMELHITEERT -
Year ended 31 March
HEBNBALEE
2025 2024
20254 20244
Average
exercise Average exercise
price per share Number of price per share Number
option options option of options
Hin A E BERE SHERE
FiyiTHEE BB THOEE  BEREZE
UsD ’000 UsD 000
BT T ETT T
At the beginning of the period RERA]) 0.09 47,683 1.23 7,788
Granted during the period HAKRT - - - -
Exercised during the period HANTE 0.18 (4,133) 0.02 (26,122)
Forfeited during the period HRE K 0.12 (2,785) 0.16 (4,068)
Effect of share subdivision (i) B {0 #r 40 0 52 22 (1) - - - 70,085
Atend of the year REXK 0.08 40,765 0.09 47,683

(i) It represented the fair values of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of the
Share Subdivision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

25 Share-based payments (Continued) 25 LIRS ERMTR(E)

(a) Share-based payments — ESOP (Continued) (@) BE@&5ERMFH-(EESKREE (&)

6 SR 1 5K 1 158 0 BB AR B9/ % B B9 R 1 1R
mF -

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and
EXercise prices:

Number of share options
HBEEsE

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
B B A [ B £f fTEE 2025%E3A31H 202443A31H
(USD) ’000 '000
(%E7T) Tin T4
1 October 2019 2019510 51H 5 years 54 0.011-0.192 8,067 9,322
1 January 2020 2020F1 A1H 5 years 5% 0.192 - 150
1 April 2020 202054 518 5 years 5% 0.192 871 1,125
1 July 2020 2020%F7 A1H 5 years 5 0.192 - 60
1 October 2020 2020510518 5 years 5% 0.192 243 310
1 January 2021 20211 A1H 5 years 5% 0.192 262 315
1 April 2021 2021F4 A1H 5 years 5% 0.487 1,488 2,604
12 July 2021 2021467 A 12H 5 years 5% 0.487 28 100
2 September 2021 20214F9 H2H 5 years 5% 0.487 89 106
13 October 2021 20214104138 5 years 5% 0.487 30 40
16 December 2021 2021412 4168 9 years 5% 0.487 23 30
30 December 2021 202112 A30H 5 years 5% 0.00001 144 144
29 January 2022 20221 H29H 5 years 5% 0.487 23 45
14 February 2022 202242 A14H 5 years 5% 0.487 40 40
14 March 2022 20223 A14H 5 years 5% 0.487 20 20
1 April 2022 202247318 5 years 5% 0.487 2,449 2,879
18 April 2022 202254 A18H 5 years 5% 0.487 43 43
11 August 2022 202258 A11H 5 years 5% 0.487 - 50
7 November 2022 2022511 A7H 5 years 5% 0.487 53 60
1 March 2023 2023%F3A1H 5 years 5% 0.00001 26,892 30,240
Total 48 51 40,765 47,683

Fair value of share options BRENLEE

Management have used the discounted cash flow method to determine the
underlying equity fair value of the Company and adopted equity allocation model to
determine the fair value of the underlying ordinary share. Key assumptions, such as
discount rate and projections of future performance, are required to be determined
by management with best estimate.

EREECRARSRERBEZEERARN
HERE A AEE YRAESSERAE
EREEBENAABE BRIRRREK
RARASIERRFBEEBRREBETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

25 Share-based payments (Continued)

(b)

Share-based payment — RSU

On 31 December 2021, the Company adopted a restricted share unit plan (the “RSU
Plan”), under which, the maximum number of shares that may be issued under
the RSU Plan is 6% of the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of
approval of the RSU Plan.

The Award shall vest in four years subject to fulfiliment of the KPI of each year.

Movements in the number of RSUs granted to the Company’s employees under
the RSU Scheme and the respective weighted average grant date fair value are as
below:

25 LI BER K (&)
(b) BHRARERHTR-ZEMBHEM

2021612 831H » R QB F 4 2 R HI % (7 &
frstEl ((RRHIBRMERMESE]) &t R
BZREIRMEMTEERTHNRARA
HEABEZHAEZRHRHEMTEBHA
AR BBEITIRARI6%

RBEROFANRE  ASSFRRBERE
BREERRITAIEER -

RIBXREIRMDEMFTERTARREREN
RN EMCHERSBNMEFEHRT
BARBENESMT

Year ended

31 March

2025

# FE20255F
3AHLLEE
Number of options
R ERE

’000

TFin

At the beginning of the period R EFHT
Granted during the period BAKT
Forfeited during the period AR MR

1,420
4,263
(546)

At the end of the period REIR

5,137
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25 Share-based payments (Continued)

(b)

218 Beisen Holding Limited

Share-based payment — RSU (Continued)

The fair value of RSUs granted on 1 August 2023 was assessed to approximate
to the market price of the grant date at the amount of HK$8.75 each (equivalent to
RMB8,317,000 in total).

The fair value of RSUs granted on 10 October 2023 was assessed to approximate
to the market price of the grant date at the amount of HK$5.59 each (equivalent to
RMB410,000 in total).

The fair value of RSUs granted on 8 January 2024 was assessed to approximate
to the market price of the grant date at the amount of HK$4.87 each (equivalent to
RMB1,417,000 in total).

The fair value of RSUs granted on 22 April 2024 was assessed to approximate to
the market price of the grant date at the amount of HK$3.94 each (equivalent to
RMB965,000 in total).

The fair value of RSUs granted on 1 August 2024 was assessed to approximate
to the market price of the grant date at the amount of HK$3.72 each (equivalent to
RMBS8,659,000 in total).

The fair value of RSUs granted on 10 October 2024 was assessed to approximate
to the market price of the grant date at the amount of HK$3.87 each (equivalent to
RMB2,043,000 in total).

The fair value of RSUs granted on 16 January 2025 was assessed to approximate

to the market price of the grant date at the amount of HK$4.70 each (equivalent to
RMB3,743,000 in total).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

26 Deferred income tax 26 BIEFR{SIR
(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (a) ERRBEERNAZERAR
(i)  Movements of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities () EBERASERBESHMKSSEE
Movements in deferred income tax assets are as follows; BEFSHEENZEBIT
Allowance
for doubtful Lease
accounts  Tax losses liabilities Total
RERFE REGR HAEAR an

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

As at 1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H 245 33,861 8,522 42,628
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss REZPEE (k) 456 (17,813) (5,111) (22,468)
As at 31 March 2024 202493 A31H 701 16,048 3,411 20,160
As at 1 April 2024 R2024F4A1H 701 16,048 3,411 20,160

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss REz PR R (F0BR) 180 (5,591) 1,907 (3,504)
Addition through acquisition of a subsidiary BRWE—REKB AR

(Note 35) & (Ff15E35) - 42,057 108 42,165
As at 31 March 2025 PR2025E3 A31H 881 52,514 5,426 58,821
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR M EE ()

26 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Continued)

(i)  Movements of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

(Continued)

Movements in deferred income tax liabilities are as follows:

26 SERIEFRISIR ()

(a) EEREEVRAIERAR (M)

() BERAZIERAMREHEBSEE ()

EEMBREENESNT

Fair value

Change in Contract adjustments

Right-of-use fairvalue  acquisition on intangible
assets gain or loss costs assets Total

ELEE

NAREE &t oREE
FHERE HRREH DEAF E #et
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT ARETT ARBTIT ARETT
As at 1 April 2023 1202354518 (8,522) (5,280) (9,684) - (23,486)
Credited to profit or loss RidmPEe 4,728 3,132 134 - 7,99
As at 31 March 2024 2024435318 (3,794) (2,148) (9,550) - (15,492)
As at 1 April 2024 R202454 518 (3,794) (2,148) (9,550) - (15,492)
Credited/(charged) to profitor loss R Bz F e, (k%) (2,020) 1,146 91 177 (606)

Addition through acquisition of a FRWE—EMNEA

subsidiary (Note 35) ANE (Pf7E35) (141) - - (9,120) (9,261)
As at 31 March 2025 1202543 5318 (5,955) (1,002) (9,459) (8,943) (25,359)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

26 Deferred income tax (Continued)

26 RIEFRSIR ()

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Continued) (a) ERRBEEREFEZTER AR (M)

(ii)  Reconciliations to the consolidated statements of financial position (i) HFEMBERAZEIE

As at 31 March

#®3A31H
2025 2024
20254 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

BB ERIATIERELN

R =58
Tax losses TRIEE 18 52,514 16,048
Lease liabilities HEEE 5,426 3,411
Allowance for doubtful accounts RIREE 881 701
Total deferred income tax assets RIEFBHEERT 58,821 20,160

Set-off of deferred income tax liabilities pursuant to
set-off provisions

RIFIE SR R IHR AT
FSEHaE (24,223) (15,492)

34,598 4,668
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

26 Deferred income tax (Continued) 26 SEIEFF{RIR ()

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Continued) (a) ERRBEEREFEZTER AR (M)

(ii)  Reconciliations to the consolidated statements of financial position (i) HEMBERAXEIE(E)
(Continued)

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARETT

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: EHBIEHRATEEEEN
TR

Contract acquisition costs & HEE A (9,459) (9,550)
Right-of-use assets FEREEE (5,955) (3,794)
Change in fair value gain or loss AAhEEERE (1,002) (2,148)
Fair value adjustments on intangible assets BREEAARBEARE (8,943) -
Total deferred income tax liabilites _________EEMEHAEE (25.359) | ({52422))
Set-off of deferred income tax liabilities pursuant to set-off TR I5 K 55 35 E K SH IR T

provisions FristiatE 24,223 15,492

(1,136) =
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) KR ERBEERALE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.17, the Group has not BIEMRF2AI7TR R EN ST ER A& E
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses arising from certain ARAEBRETHBRAAEENARK
subsidiaries of the Group of approximately RMB2,491,707,000 (31 March 2024: #92,491,707,0007C (20243 H31H « AR ¥
RMB2,314,320,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which 2,314,320,0007T ) B9 7K B) A T2 75 B 18 R SRR IE A
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and BEE AABBNEEERRKREETAN
entity. The remaining unused tax losses 31 March 2025 will expire on or before 31 REES R AR M EEA R RERBFE -
December 2034. 20253 A 31 B F &4 K B) A T 75 185 18 15 1A 20344F

12A31BE 2RI 2IH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

27 Trade payables

27

BAEFRIEA

As at 31 March

#3A31AR
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARBTIT
Trade payables B SR8 4,823 2,564

The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

B SENFRBAENEZAHNREDTAOT -

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TE ARBTIT
Up to 6 months B E61E A 4,823 2,564
28 Other payables and accruals 28 HtiEFRRAKRENER
As at 31 March
®3A31RH
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARBTIT
Salary and welfare payable B E e REF 200,443 154,193
Accrual for other taxes FERTE b 518 32,931 42145
Payables for acquisition considerations JE IR (B 18,074 =
Accrued service and goods JERTIRTS REME 12,527 8,029
Accrued staff reimbursement JEET B TR 3,469 3,565
Personal tax refunds payable FEHE AR TR 1,024 1,601
Accrued listing expenses JERF ETAX - 16
Others Hi 285 530
268,753 210,079
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

29 Redeemable convertible preferred shares

(a)

(b)

224 Beisen Holding Limited

Issuance Series A to E-2 Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Shares

From September 2018 to June 2020, the Company issued 5,051,552 Series A
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series A Preferred Shares”),
8,985,728 Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series B
Preferred Shares”), 2,120,830 Series B-1 Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Shares (“Series B-1 Preferred Shares”), 7,291,583 Series C Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series C Preferred Shares”), 6,173,503 Series
D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series D Preferred Shares”),
5,024,659 Series E-1 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series E-1
Preferred Shares”) and 2,556,936 Series E-2 Redesmable Convertible Preferred
Shares (“Series E-2 Preferred Shares”), (collectively with Series E-1 Preferred
Shares, “Series E Preferred Shares”).

Issuance of Series F Redeemabhle Convertible Preferred Shares

On 9 April 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with SVF Il Cortex Subco
(DE) LLC, Mercer Investments (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Bargate Investment Holdings
One Limited, Fidelity China Special Situations PLC, Fidelity Funds, Fidelity
Investments Funds, Space Trek L. P., MATRIX PARTNERS CHINA V HONG KONG
LIMITED, GC HCM (BVI) Limited, GC HCM Holdings Limited, SCC Growth VI
Holdco E, Ltd. and SCGC Capital Holding Company Limited, and issued 4,104,113;
1,231,234; 1,231,234; 663,808; 552,070; 15,356; 820,823; 410,411; 328,329;
205,206; 697,699 and 410,411 Series F Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares
(“Series F Preferred Shares”) for cash consideration of US$100 million,
US$30 million, US$30 million, US$16.2 million, US$13.5 million, US$0.4 million,
US$20 million, US$10 million, US$8 million, US$5 million, US$17 million and
US$10 million respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

29 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued)

(c)

(i)

Share Repurchase Concurrently with Issuance of Series F
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares

Concurrently with the issuance of Series F Preferred Shares, 412,000, 366,300 and
122,100 Series D Preferred Shares were repurchased by the Company from three
Series D Preferred Shareholders respectively, and 100,642 and 140,000 Ordinary
Shares were repurchased by the Company from two Ordinary Shareholders
respectively at a consideration of US$21.9 per share. The Company derecognised
the carrying amount of relevant Series D Preferred Shares, whereby the difference
between the consideration and the fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred
shares, for RMB37,889,000, is recognised as share-based payment expenses.

The Series A, B, B-1, C, D, E-1, E-2 and F Preferred Shares are collectively referred
to as the “Preferred Shares”.

The key terms of the Preferred Shares upon issuance of Series F Preferred Shares
are summarised as follows:

Dividends rights

Prior and in preference to any declaration or payment of any dividend on the
Ordinary Shares, each holder of the Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive
dividends, out of any funds legally available therefor, the pro rata portion of the
dividend to be distributed in proportion to the shareholding percentage of such
holder in respect of Preferred Shares held by it (calculated on a fully-diluted and
as-converted basis) in all the then outstanding Shares of the Company. Such
dividends shall be payable and accrue when, as and if declared by the Board and
shall be cumulative.

No dividends shall be declared or paid on any Ordinary Shares during any
previous or current fiscal year of the Company until all accrued dividends shall
have been paid or declared and set apart during that fiscal year and unless and
until a dividend in like amount as is declared or paid on such Junior Share has
been declared or paid on each outstanding Preferred Shares (on an as-converted to
Ordinary Share basis).
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29

(c)

(ii)

226 Beisen Holding Limited

Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued)

Share Repurchase Concurrently with Issuance of Series F
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (Continued)

Conversion of Preferred Shares

Each Preferred Share may, at the option of the Preferred Shareholders thereof, be
converted at any time into fully-paid and non-assessable Ordinary Shares based on
the then-effective Applicable Conversion Price.

In addition, each Preferred Share shall automatically be converted, based on the
then-effective Applicable Conversion Price, without any action being required by
the holder of such share and whether or not the certificates representing such share
are surrendered to the Company or its transfer agent, into Ordinary Shares upon
the closing of a qualified initial public offering (“Qualified IPQ").

The Applicable Conversion Price shall initially equal the Applicable Original Issue
Price, and each shall be adjusted from time to time due to: a) issuance of additional
ordinary shares without consideration or for a consideration per share received
by the Company that is less than they Applicable Conversion Price in effect on
the date of and immediately prior to such issue, b) share dividends, subdivisions,
combinations or consolidations of Ordinary Shares, ¢) Other distributions, d)
reclassification, exchange and substitution. For avoidance of doubt, the initial
conversion ratio for the Preferred Shares to Ordinary Shares shall be 1:1.

Immediately before the completion of the Global Offering on 13 April 2023, all
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares were converted into ordinary shares on a
one-for-one basis. The fair value of each of redeemable convertible preferred share
on the conversion date is the offer price in the Global Offering. The differences of
the fair value related to the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares between 31
March 2023 and the date of the conversion were then recognized in the profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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(a)

(ii)

] R[] 7] 49 4 42 SR A% (#R)
ERRBEERERERAR ()

BRELK

BRELRARELBERRRAREE B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

29 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued) 29 W] g [E] n] 5 ¥ 2 5 A% (48)

(c) Share Repurchase Concurrently with Issuance of Series F (a) ERRBEEREFEZTER AR (M)
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (Continued)

(ii)  Conversion of Preferred Shares (Continued) (ii) BBELH (M)
The movement of the redeemable convertible preferred shares is set out as below: B] fE [B] n] S B S AR R B BN E S N T

RMB’000
AREETF T

As at 1 April 2023 1R2023F4 518 9,408,379
Changes in fair value through profit or loss SFABENAREBESE 2,810,841
Foreign exchange adjustments PE 5 & (13,105)
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred shares to ordinary shares AlERA EREARER AT BR (12,206,115)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025 1220244 K2 202543 A31H -
The Group applied the discounted cash flow method to determine the underlying AEBEBRAURASREZETAR RN
equity value of the Company and adopted equity allocation model to determine the BREEE  WIRARES IR EE ] B
fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred shares as at the dates of issuance R ERELERNBITARESHREHRD
and at the end of each reporting period. RREE -

30 Dividends 30 KRR
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company for the years ended 31 H 220252024 F3 A31H IEFE - ANRQ R &
March 2025 and 2024. KSR E RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

31 Cash flow information 31 BRenEH
(a) Cash generated from/(used in) operations (a) EEBELE (FFRAMHRE
Year ended 31 March
HEFIANBILLEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARET T
Loss hefore income tax FREABRAER (143,296) (3,194,113)
Adjustments for: HUTHBEHAR :
Depreciation and amortization e K 53,662 58,562
Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets TRMEERENEERE
EERFE 5,132 3,779
Share-based payments expenses LARR A A EERE A 5 3R B &2 117,302 292,380
Net fair value gains on financial assets measured at fair value BArBEFABZHNER
through profit or loss BEMNAREBEEKZFE (24,005) (7,562)
Finance income — net IS A — 558 (2,417) (6,450)
Changes in fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares A] fE o] A B4R B R AR A
INIERIERE) - 2,810,841
(Losses)/gains of disposal of long-lived assets HERBEEN (BR), M 87 (114)
Exchange losses lEHEE 2,989 3,319
Changes in working capital: EEECER:
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables B SR RER D, (38 10) 716 (12,257)
Increase in contract assets BHREEEMN (1,302) (787)
Increase in prepayment and other receivables TE 15 FRIE B L Ath & U SR TR AN (22,683) (3,145)
Increase in contract acquisition costs A KIEAF R AR AN (735) (1,155)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B SR EE M CRd) 1,473 (3,321)
Increase in contract liabilities ABHEFEEN 47,581 16,749
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals Hib R RIB R ETE R
i/ Ci ) 38,226 (44,037)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations EEEE (MABHAE 72,730 (87,311)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

31

(b)

(c)

Cash flow information (Continued) 31 BREKEH(E)
Non-cash investing and financing activities (b) FFRELFFEE
The major non-cash investing and financing transactions during all the years REAIRFTEFENEEERSBAMER
presented mainly include the additions of the right-of-use assets and lease ERENFIMM OIS EREEE R Tﬂ f
liabilities described in Note 17. BfE-
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (c) MEITDMEEMNAGBHEIE
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, TRHFMHPA T AEERETHAEENE
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing EMEE BERESRIIERSETH -MEF
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, PMEENBBEREEASEEGERERE
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from EFTPBEEREREIARRESTENEAR
financing activities. BEPEEANRESRENAEG -
Redeemable
convertible
Lease preferred Bank
liabilities shares Loans Total
G =
CIE . §: ]
HEAR @ER RMITHER #@Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT ARETT
At 1 April 2023 7202354810 56,209 9,408,379 - 9,464,588
Changes from financing cash flows: i!iﬁﬁun.&ill :
Interest element of lease payments HEHRSHWFEHH (2,019) - - (2,019)
Capital element of lease payments HEHSNW ARSI H (33,740) - - (33,740)
Other changes: Hth &5 :
Net increase in lease liabilities from new leases ~ F NI HHENHEE
entered during the year (ERpIbEe:] 272 = = 272
Finance costs (Note 11) BT RS (Bt aE11) 2,019 - - 2,019
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred EIE%’T [ A] S RB E RS A
shares to ordinary shares Bk - (12,206,115) - (12,206,115)
Changes in fair values through profit or loss ﬁ')\?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]@ﬁfﬂﬁ@iﬂ - 2,810,841 - 2,810,841
Foreign exchange adjustments P H A% - (13,105) - (13,105)
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e MR M EE ()

31 Cash flow information (Continued) 31

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (c)

(Continued)

R&RRH(E)
0 I i R R ) 2R ()

Redeemable
convertible
Lease preferred Bank
liahilities shares Loans Total
R AR E
G-t
HRAR BEE S|ITHER et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT ARBTIT ARBTT ARETT
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 72024E3A31H &
20244818 22,111 - - 22,741
Changes from financing cash flows: MERE RS -
Interest element of lease payments HEHRSMF EZBD (1,118) - - (1,118)
Capital element of lease payments HEHSHAREH D (28,422) - - (28,422)
Repayment of bank loans BERIBITEN - - (20,000) (20,000
Financial costs paid B A B 5 K AR - - (132) (132)
Other changes: Hftt&EHE :
Net increase in lease liabilities from new leases ~ F NI FHENTHE R
entered during the year (ERIbEeR: ] 41,133 - - 41,133
Addition through acquisition of a subsidiary #E R E—ENB A RR
(Note 35) & (f13E35) 719 - 20,000 20,719
Finance costs (Note 11) RSB (Bt aE11) 1,118 - 132 1,250
At 31 March 2025 720255E3H31H 36,171 - - 36,171
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REMBRRM T (&)
32 Commitments 32
(a) Capital commitments (a)

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet incurred is as

i
RE&iR

FROATNERREENEAHMT

follows:
As at 31 March
#3A31A
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTIT
Within 1 year 1F A 117 3,455
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) wWEHGXE

The Group leases certain offices under non-cancellable operating lease
arrangements with lease terms less than 1 year, which can be exempted from IFRS
16. The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease payments for such short-term
non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

AEERBEAAIHELLHERHEAES T
WAE - HEHTRIF Al #EH$H2ETEEK
1 755 s 5 R SE165R » A B R KL UL AR
HIA AR 2 E M RIEAE N FA@RRNT -

As at 31 March

"3A31H
2025 2024
20255 20244F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TTT ARET T

Within 1 year 1ER

266 109
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wRE B R M EE ()

33

(a)

232 Beisen Holding Limited

Related party transactions 33 MHARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, — BN EEXEEENS —HRITES
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in S REERRNERTENRGSS
making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also considered to be related WRABEY - S5 ERZERTIHGEA
if they are subject to common control. Members of key management and their close ERl AEEXTEEEEKE MFENEA
family members of the Group are also considered as related parties. RN HAR AR o
The following significant transactions were carried out between the Group and its REIRFEFEE  ANEEBRELBEH HETIA
related parties during all the years presented. In the opinion of the directors of the TEARG - ARREZEERAE BB IS
Company, the related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of DREFREBAREREAEEESS@H A
business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related T P ARG AT o
parties.
Key management personnel compensations (a) EEEBAERFH
Key management includes directors and senior management of the Company. TEEBAEBREERARAAEREEA
The compensations payable to key management for employee services are shown B-HEERGENETEEEABNEHHM
below: AR :
Year ended 31 March
BFIANHLEE
2025 2024
20255 20245
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTR AREETF T
Share-based compensation LARS 1 7 E 10 10 6 20,309 40,934
Wages, salaries and bonuses TI& - #He kit 7,083 4,908
Others Hi 486 436
27,878 46,278
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e B R M EE ()

34 Benefits and interests of directors 3 EFEFEMRIRER
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out as BEFHE2024F3A3NB LFENH S ET
below: wm
Wages, salaries Pension
and bengfts Discretonary o0st-defined Other social Shere-hased
Fees nfind bonuses contribution plans securiycosts — Housing benefis compensation Total
T% H8R RiReRA Afpite WA
Name i Be Enigdl BEEL -REfsEE (RERR EREA  ERoEH g

RUBOO RUBO0D RuBO0 RUBOND RUBO0 RuBO0 RUBOND ABO0
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR ARETR

Chairman iR

. Wang Zhaohui THEL L) - B4 180 o4 ) L) 14643 15621
Executive directors ufiEs

Mr. i Weiquo i/ REREE ) - 114 PAlS o4 ) § 14643 1617
Ms. Liu Xianna ) Azt - 1060 16 5 U L] 11648 13562

Independent non-executive directors BLFHTES

M. Zreo Honggiang /i) HERS A - A - - - - - U
. Ge ke i) BHLE - U - - - - - u
. DuKui /iy gt ] = P = = = = - )

- 3768 114 18 118 136 40,934 46,78
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e MR M EE ()

34 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

The remuneration of every director for the for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set

3 EEMEARER(E)

BB EHZ2025FIANAE I FEH B2 55

out as below: m
Pension
Wages, salaries cost-defined
and benefitsin ~ Discretionary contribution Other sacial Housing ~ Share-hased
Fees Kind honuses plans — security costs benefits ~ compensation Total
1% Fek Bk aRE Lthit NkRE
Name 2] fig EiRdl HWT - REdE RERY ERERH  EROFH it
RMBO0D RMBO0D RMBO0D RMBO0D RMBO0D RMBO00 RMBO0D RMBO00
AERTR  ABRTRE  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ABRTR  ABRTRT  ARRTR
Chairman ]
. Wang Zhaohui THELE) - 1,199 u 10 i 50 1,301 9,611
Executive directors HiTEs
M. Ji Weiguo 77 LERLA) - 1,09 u 67 i 50 1,301 9,509
s Liv Xama /] Azl - 1,204 a0 67 i 50 5,707 8,002
Independent non-executive directors BLFHTES
M. Zreo Honggiang i) byt - 40 - - - - - L]
M. Ge ey BARE - 10 - - - - - U0
. Du Kui ) &R - 10 - - - - - U0
- 4219 2,864 04 12 160 20,309 21,878
(i) Mr. Wang Zhaohui was appointed as the Company’s chairman of the board of (i) T FAEE % £ R2018F4 A6 E L T AR A A

directors on 6 April 2018.

(i) Mr. Ji Weiguo was appointed as the Company's director on 6 April 2018.

(i)~ Ms. Liu Xianna was appointed as the Company’s director on 31 December 2021.

(iv)  Mr. Zhao Honggiang, Mr. Ge Ke and Mr. Du Kui were appointed as the
Company’s directors on 30 March 2023.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments and no amounts were paid or payable by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of any office in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group.

234 Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2024/2025

(iv)

EERLRF -

LEBR L AER018FIAEEZ T AARRR
£Eo

21 B & + RN F12AN A B EE AR
AEE -

7R 08 S A~ B ST A I A R ST A R 20234F
SANBEZHEAARRIES -

B E2025F 202453 ANB I E - HI\EEHE
SREREEAME  BAREE W EZ N SHERN
BEEREAKE ERRSIEMAREERMAAR
SHENRESIEAMEAEEETMKEARE
BRI HEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

35

Acquisition of a subsidiary 35 UrhS— P E L F)
Acquisition of Kuxuan U RS BE B
On 14 January 2025, Beisen Cloud Computing (the “Purchaser’), a PRC 20251 B4R AEBEZ2F R B A A
subsidiary of the Group, entered into an equity transfer agreement with several REFE(BEFDEETEIE=7([EH]
independent third parties (the “Sellers”), pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed R riEEEGE Bt ERREBEWEM
to acquire, and the Sellers agreed to sell 100% equity interests in Kuxuan with a EHREHEEBEI0%FE  BeNEBELE
total consideration of RMB180 million in cash. A A R #180,000,0007T ©
Kuxuan was incorporated in the PRC on 20 January 2017 as a limited liability BB R20176F1 H20E AR IE P Bl A2 & B
company under the laws of the PRC. Kuxuan is principally engaged in research MK AEREERAR - BEXTENELE
& development and sales of corporate training software and provision of training TSR R REHE - AR TEESR] &
courses and operation services via the software under the brand of “Cool College”. R 3R B B IR S F AR AR N8 & RS o
Upon completion of the above acquisition on 22 January 2025 (“Acquisition ol Y B 72202551 5228 ([Ue RS B A |) SEAK
Date”), the Company controls 100% equity interests of Kuxuan and the Group %+ AQ B HE B EEE100% A% 4 0 T AN 5 B £
recorded a goodwill of approximately RMB169,186,000, which is calculated as B = A R #9169,186,000T © HEtE 5 A0
below: N
Acquisition Date
WA
RMB’000
AREEF T
Total cash consideration (b) e RELERE(D) 180,000
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired (a)) B FTEE R AR EEFEZ
N fEEQ) 10,814
Goodwill B 169,186

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

35 Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

(a) Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

35 WiE—RME2LT ()
(a) $20255F1 A 228 Fir iy i o) ik B 39 = R P o

at 22 January 2025 RARABZAAREE

Acquisition Date

A

RMB’000

AREF T

Property, plant and equipment (Note 14) Y%« BRE R (1) 69

Right-of-use assets (Note 17) EAEEE (MF17) 940

Intangible assets (Note 15) A EE (MERE15) 60,800

Deferred income tax assets (Note 26) EIEFTSEEE B (M15E26) 42,165

Trade receivables B 5 EWsRIE 1,326

Other receivables and prepayments b fE W 5K I8 R TR BB 3,020

Restricted cash 2R HIRE 25

Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEFEY 5472
Borrowings B (20,000)
Trade payables B S ENRIA (921)
Other payables and accruals E e kI8 R e R E A (14,453)
Contract liabilities BHEE (57,649)
Lease liabilities HEAE (719)
Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 26) BT PTIS T B & (M 726) (9,261)

Total identifiable net assets ARl EEF AR 10,814
The values of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition are their estimated RBERRACEERBEEBERAEMA
fair values. In determining the fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities, AEBEE -REEURNEERBEBEZAAE
the directors of the Company have referenced the fair value adjustments base on BER ARRESECL2ZBUEXHEMD

income method to valuation report issued by an independent professional valuer.

AZERES  RERNEEHAAEBEHE -

(b)  As of 31 March 2025, cash consideration of approximately RMB161,926,000 has  (h) & Z202553A31H  ERE H X NE & KB
been paid to the Sellers. Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the 49 A R #161,926,0007T © B = 2N B 75 ) K B A
unpaid cash consideration amounts to RMB136,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

35 Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

35 MrRE—FIBRE 2R (#8)

(c) Net cash outflow arising on acquisition (c) WKWBEEMRESRHSEH
RMB'000
ARBTIT
Cash consideration REeRE 180,000
Less: cash consideration that had not been paid to the seller BT R2025F3 A3 H M AT F
as at 31 March 2025 BEhzBEeRE 18,074
Cash on hand and at bank acquired FrEFREERTHEE 5472
Total net cash outflow R F AT 156,454
(d) Share exchange transaction (d) #BERS

On 14 January 2025, the Company, along with HRTech Holding Limited, a BVI
subsidiary of the Group (“BVI Company”) and some of the Sellers (collectively, the
“Potential Share Exchange Vendors”) also entered into the BVI Share Subscription
Agreement and the Offshore Share Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to these
agreements and other supplemental share exchange agreements signed thereon,
BVI Company will obtain indirect control of Kuxuan through equity transfer
within the Group. The Potential Share Exchange Vendors will first subscribe 99%
(on as-diluted basis) of the share capital of the BVI Company at the aggregate
consideration of approximately RMB127,584,000, and then the Company will
purchase 99% of the share capital of the BVI Company from the Potential Share
Exchange Vendors by allotting and issuing an aggregate of 34,761,638 ordinary
Shares.

The completion of the share exchange transactions is subject to the satisfaction
and fulfilment of certain precedent conditions. Up to the date of issue of these
financial statements, the share exchange transactions is not completed yet.

ZECNF/IZECRF FERE

R2025F1 A148 - AR 5] & [F] A & B ZBVIFT
J& A AHRTech Holding Limited([ BVIA &) K& &
FEH(GEDBERRKRE 5] )INET BV 5
REDE LRI DEEHZE - BRIBEXEW
FEREMEFBNBREM IR BVIR A
7 18 7N 5 B N B AR R e R EAS BB ) R B 4R
i BERREAIZELUBREOAR
#127,584,0007T 52 BEBVIA A199% A% AN (4% #4458
BEE) BmMALNR S B RETES
34,761,638% I 38 % [A) & £ #2 iR & 75 B8 BBVIA
F199% A% AN o

TR ZAFE T RRGHER R K Z
P& - TAMEE - EEAMBHRREMBES
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e MR M EE ()

36 Notes to the statements of financial position of the

Company

(a) Statements of financial position of the Company

(@) FXFNMBRAER

36 & 22 R KA R EE

As at 31 March

As at 31 March

2025 2024
120255E3A318 72202443 A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AR®TRT ARBFIT
ASSETS gE
Non-current asset EMBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RHTBRRIRIRE 4,834,111 4,685,127
Total non-currentasset ~ FEDRERE 0000000000000 483411 4685127
Current assets REEE
Other receivables and prepayments H A fE Y SR8 K FE A IR 15,534 411
Cash and cash equivalents HeERREeEEY 102,697 35,114
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss EAnBEAFABRZNE 19
B & E 358,673 301,726
Total current assets mEEERE 476,904 337,251
Total assets HEHRE 5,311,015 5,022,378
EQUITY R
Share capital & 23 50 49
Share premium %155 B 23 13,189,684 13,146,247
Reserves 1 36(b) 421,552 408,570
Accumulated losses ZETEE (8,909,883) (8,897,095)
Totalequty . ®#a HI07408 1 4657771
LIABILITY af&|
Current liability e ED=N
Other payables and accruals HiENRIE R EE A 603,612 364,607
Total current liability mEAREE 603,612 364,607
Total liability AEHRE 603,612 364,607
Total equity and liability EoRAREE 5,311,015 5,022,378
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B R M EE ()

36 Notes to the statements of financial position of the 36 FAFMBRARME (1)

Company (Continued)

Reserve movement of the Company

(b) HELAFHGEMES

Changes in the

fair value

Currency  atiributable fo

Share-based  Repurchase translation credit risk
payment  of own shares differences change  Other reserves Total

ERAREE

WkhE ] ] BiEmLR
ERHMAR BERG HKRREER FELD R ait
RMBI00 RMBI00 RMBI000 RMBI00 RMBI00 RMBI000
AERTRE ABRTR ABRTR ARRTR AERTRT ARRTR
Asat 1 April 2023 RABE4AIR 255,404 - (136,216) 141 - 126,602
Share-based payments MR BERHRH 22380 - - - - 2830

Fairvalue chenges on redeemable convertblepreered shares A B S EERRERA BT EH
due o own crditisk BERMALEEED - - - (7414) - (7414
Currency ransafon diferences BEBEER - - 119782 - - 119782
REEADREERBRET L
Issuance of shares under Pre-1PO share option plan & (114,466) = = = - (114 466)
Repurchase of own shares EERSRHR - (6,354) - - () (8774)
Cancelaion o shares R - - - - 0 0
Bl 31 ach 204 ROUERASE %8 B354 (16434 : : 0850
Asal 1 April 2024 HROUELAIR 433,358 (8,354) (16,434) - - 408,570
Share-tased payments WM BERHHH 17,302 - - - - 117,302
Fairvalug changes on redeemable convertblepreered shares AR E R ERREHMTER B4
due o own credit sk BERNALBEED - - - - - -
Currency tanslation iferences EEpEER - - 30,786 - - 30,786
BEERRARRENBRESSES

Issuance of shares under Pre-1P0 share option plan ki (38,901) - - - - (38,901)
Repurchass of oun sheres BRGNS - (90,205) - - - (90,205)
Al 31 Marh 205 ROSE3A3R BITE (5 14 . -
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e MR M EE ()

37 Subsidiaries

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 are set out below. Unless
otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares
that are held directly or indirectly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of

incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.

37 MHELT

RNEBR2025F3A3NB B E E W E R R H 5
MT-BRAERAEN  ZEMERFAR
R rmANEEE &M ERHA N ERAE
Ko MBANMERERE ZLERSERAE
ERANRERE MR ELHRTR
HEZZEHME -

Effective interest held
FRERER
As at 31 March
#3A31A
Principal activities
Place and date of incorporation/ and place of
Name of subsidiaries and controlled structured entities establishment and kind of legal entity Registered/issued capital 2025 2024 operation
B agavs k)
MEARRZELEEERGRE FEERAS i/ BETER 20256 WAF  FEEHRE=0H
Directly held by the Company
FLAREERE
Beisen Holding HK Limited 10 April 2018/Hong Kong/ HK dollar (*HKS") 100% 100% Investment Holding/
limited iability company 1HKS1 Hong Kong
Beisen Holding HK Liited WIEAANE/FB/ BT (DET)/ 18 100% 100% RERR/ B
BREFAA
HRTech Holding Limited 15 August 2024/The British Virgin Islands / USD50,000/Nil 100% - Investment Holding/
[imited liability company The British Virgin
Islands
HRTech Holding Limited AUESR15E/ RREARES/ S0000%7T/ % 100% - RERR/
BREFRA REERRES
Indirectly held by the Company
FLRMERT
HRTech HK holding Limited 28 August 2024/Hong Konglimited liabilty HKS1NI 100% - Investment Holding/
company Hong Kong
HRTech HK holding Limited WUESEBR BB/ 1871/% 100% - RERR/BE
BREFAA
Beijing Beisen Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. (Beijing WFOE) 30 May 2018/PRC/limited liability company USD30,000,000/ 100% 100% Development and sale
ERIAFEREERD ) USD14,300,000 of products or services/PRC
IRARERBARAR (A RNEBELE) 08FANE,/RE/ 30,000,000 100% 100% FERHEEERS
AREAAA 7T/ 14300 000 7T i/
Beijing Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Lid. 17 May 2005/PRC/limited liability company RMB55,800,000/ 100% 100% Development and sale
QLRI REFERDBRAR) (Notea) RMB55,800,000 of products or services/PRC
ERAREAERAAR AR (Hizka) W545E178 /8 AR 55,800,000,/ 100% 0%  ARRMEEERT
BREFLA AR 558000007 %,/
Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. 3 January 2019/PRC/limited SD260,000,000/ 100% 100% Development and sale
EREFEERARA) liability company USD232,969,200 of products or services/PRC
IREFEERAT W951838 /FE/ 260,000,000 7T,/ 100% 0%  ARRMEEERT
AREAAA 232,969,200 7T i/
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B R M EE ()

37 Subsidiaries (Continued)

37 BT (&)

Effective interest held

FRERER
As at 31 March
#3A31A

Principal activities

Place and date of incorporation/ and place of

Name of subsidiaries and controlled structured entities establishment and kind of legal entity Registered/issued capital 2025 2024 operation

SR/ RS R AR

MEARRZEAEEEELE ERERES /B BTER 20255 WiFE  FEEBREZE

Beijing Beisen Zongheng Investment Management Center 10 October 2013/PRC/limited partnership RMB3,800,000/ 100% 100% Employee stock holding

(Limited Partnership) (3t L ARAERE BB AL RMB3,800,000 platform/PRC
(BRA%)

FRERARBREEER L (BRAE) NENAIR/RE/BRAY  ARB38000007/ 100% 0% EBINRTs/HE

ARHE3.8000007

Sendou Shanghai Technology Co., Lid. 10 July 2019/PRC/limited liability company RMB100,000/Nil 100% 100% (loud-Based HCM

(BE (L8 BEERAR) Solution/PRC

AT (LB MEERAA WIETANR,/PE/ ARE10007,/Z 100% 0% ESRHMER AR/

BREEDH HE

Tianjin Beisen Cloud Information Technology Co., Lid. 12 February 2025/PRC/limited liability RMB127,583 905/Nil 100% - Development and sale

(REIHKZCEHME E T) company of products o services/PRC

RERRERERITERR WEELANE /B ARE127 5839057,/ 100% - REREEELR

BREFDH z TR/ E

Kuxuan (Beijing) Technology Co., Lid. 20 January 2017/PRC/limited liability RMB7 430,000/ 100% - Development and sale

BB RBEERA ’) company RMB5,421,000 of products or services/PRC

B (L) B BRA WITEIANE/PE/ AR 4300007,/ 100% - REREEELR

BEREFLF AR 4210007 5%,/ wE

The English names of certain subsidiaries referred herein represent the directors’
best effort at translating the Chinese names of these companies as no English

names have been registered.

Note a: As described in Note 2.2.1(a), the Company does not have directly or

HRZEARLESCEXERE  WARS
RANETHERARNEXEHAESERZ

ERANPXEEENRENDE -

indirectly legal ownership in equity of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
Nevertheless, under the Contractual Arrangements entered into with Beisen
Cloud Computing and its shareholders, the Company and its other legally owned
subsidiaries are able to effectively control the operating and financing decisions
of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and receive substantially all of
the economic benefits generated by the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
Accordingly, the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities are treated as controlled
structured entities of the Company and consolidated by the Company.

—mE/—

fi i

T RFFERE

HANP EE2.2.1 () AT At - AN A B 3 B SR
MEREETRGEHMBERNEEMARE -
Rl RIBEIEREFFE R AR LA
Aﬁ?ﬁ AR A) R B A AR A BB

BESA MIEHI P B S M E B RN
%M&ﬂéﬁﬁ VESHEGAHEE
BELNETRALEMNS - Bt 7 E
SEBBERNERAARANIEERE
BRAWALRRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
wRE B R M EE ()

38 Contingent liabilities 38 BRAMR
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2024 and HR20244F 2025F3A31H » AEBE W EAME
2025. RIAEE -

39 Subsequent events 39 Rik=I
There were no material subsequent events undertaken by the Group after 31 March NEBR2025F3ANE B EAETENR
2025. £IR -
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DEFINITIONS
EE

In this report, the following expressions have the meanings set out below unless the — RAIHERA » b X FE S B9+ FHAZAE T

context otherwise requires:

“2016 FITE Regulations”

[2016F SN IR E B ERE]

“affiliate(s)”

B3 =Nl
“AGM”
[RRBERE]

“Articles of Association”
[4A#E =240 A ]

“Audit Committee”
[BZZEg

“Beijing WFOE"

MHERSINEBERE]

“Beisen HK”

[Beisen HK |

“Beisen Shengya”

[ 4 E

“Board”, “our Board” or “Board of Directors”

=3

“business day”

EES:N
“CAGR”
(e sy ERE]

XATE% % -

the Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications Enterprises promulgated
by the State Council, which were amended on 10 September 2008, 6 February 2016 and 7 April 2022
(the version amended in 2016, hereinafter the “2016 FITE Regulations” and the version amended in 2022,
hereinafter the “2022 FITE Regulations”

Bl %P B m OME R EBEEEEERT) - FR2008F9H108 « 201652760 &
2022F 4 ATEEET (2016F (B ET AR AR TB [ 20165F I IR E B EERMATE]
02FEFT R AGIE 2025 NEIREBELEEERATE]D

with respect to any specified person, any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or controlled by
or under direct or indirect common control with such specified person

MERMBFEALIE EEXEEEFZEEA TR EEZ S EETHISEE
X EF L REELRES A E A E AT

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 18 September 2025
AR B HER2025FIA18HBITHREBAFAE

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
R REMERER GETREET)

the audit committee of the Board
EXEeEREEY

Beijing Beisen Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. (3t S 1t ZR = FLH 5 B BR A 7)), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 30 May 2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
IRIERERZBER AT - R2018F5A0BRBEFEERKRIMBERAF - AX
RRAMZEEN BT

Beisen Holding HK Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong on 10 April 2018 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Beisen Holding HK Limited - 7420185F4 B10H EE B B MK L BER R E - AAREH
2EWE A

Beisen Shengya (Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd. (A Fx 4 JE (b ) B B AR A 7)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 23 April 2009, which ceased to be
our wholly-owned subsidiary after the relevant share transfer completed on 6 September 2021
IEHRAEE QL) HERFAER AT - R2009F4 238 IRIEHBERK LM BRE
EAT - R2021F9A68 T AR R EERE - TEAARTNEZEWE AR

the Board of Directors of our Company
RAFIEEE

any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong) on which banks in Hong Kong or
other relevant jurisdictions are generally open for normal banking business
BEHEMBBEREERERMRITRSHPIHE —RRTEBOERNBEF (28
EESEEARBRIAKRIN)

compound annual growth rate
WAFHEEE
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“CG Code”
[ ERTA

“Chairman”
=S

“Chengdu WFOE”

[ARESNEBE R

“China” or “PRC”

[

“Company”, “our Company”, or “the Company”

(AN
“Consolidated Affiliated Entity”
[fFeBBEER

“Director(s)”
(=

“FY2024"
[ 202484 4F |

“FY2025"
[202587 4F |

“FY2026"
[ 202687 4F |

“Global Offering”
[EIREE]

“Group”, “our Group”, “the Group”, “we”, “us”,

“our”, or “Beisen”

[AEE ] T3P 17k ]

“HKD” or “HK$” or “HK dollars”

&)

244 Beisen Holding Limited

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
iR Mt ERCIATE R X B R <F Al

the chairman of the Board
BERFRE

Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. (3t FRE 5T E B BR A 7)), a limited liability company established
under the laws of the PRC on 3 January 2019 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
EREHEBRAF - R19F1AARBHRBUEEKNINERAT - BARAQA
HEEMHB AR

the People’s Republic of China, for the purposes of this report only, excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special
Administrative Region and Taiwan
REARANME  EgAREmEs - AREES O RFIFITTHREREE

Beisen Holding Limited (1t #% 1% % 75 BR /A =), a company with limited liability incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 6 April 2018, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9669)

Beisen Holding Limited (AL ZR¥ZEAX A R A A]) - 12018F4 A6 R fE R S AF SEMK A
PRAF - B A B AT ER LT (AR 5% - 9669)

entity we control wholly through the Contractual Arrangements, namely Onshore Holdco
BB LHERERNERE  BIE AR A

the director(s) of our Company
RRARES

the year ended 31 March 2024
B E2024F3A3NA IEFE

the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE202553ANE I FE

the financial year ending 31 March 2026
HZE2026F3 318 LI BFE

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the offer shares
BERNNESLAAEERBIFEE

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity from time to time, and where the
context requires, in respect of the period prior to our Company becoming the holding company of its
present subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entity, such subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated
Entity as if they were subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entity of our Company at the relevant time
RAE - EWBARRIRZACHBER  RIOXEEME AR AKAR
BEMBARRGEMBERNERAR ZAARME - AIEZSMEB AR Rz
EHMBEL(BUREREFHEREARARNNB AR RSB ER)

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEEEET
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“Hong Kong” or “Hong Kong SAR” or “HK”
(BRI EBER]

“Listing”
[ )

“Listing Date”
[ HE]

“Listing Rules”
[ Erm#R Al

“Model Code”

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEg]
“Onshore Holdco”

[EAERAE ]

“PRC Legal Advisor”
[FREDEEEM ]

“Pre-IPO Share Option Plan”

[BERAFEERBREE

“Prospectus”
(AR =R

“Registered Shareholders”

[EREMER]

“Remuneration Committee”

(FHEae]
“Reorganization”

[E4]

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEBR TR E

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
MAD RO BE S P EMR £ T

13 April 2023, being the date on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
20235F4 H138 - BN A MBS P T A B EA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBBERSGBRATFES LMHAR EAREE] - MR A= M7 X EH)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules
LR RIMERCIFTE LM BT AZEFETE SR HNIZETA

the nomination committee of the Board
EX2REEEY

Beijing Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. (At AL FREFTE A% {55 PR 22 7)), a company established
under the laws of the PRC on 17 May 2005 and the Consolidated Affiliate Entity of our Company
IR REFERODBR AR R0BF5AITEREBEFBEEK LA AE - AR

AANGABEER

Han Kun Law Offices, our legal advisor on PRC law
BAMIE P BE R R E A ST

the Pre-IPO share option plan of our Company adopted by the Board on 15 July 2019, and amended on
23 April 2020, 26 September 2021 and 31 December 2021

EHER2019F7A158 A4 7202054 A 238 ~ 20219794268 20214512 A31 B &
A AT R AREERIBRETE

the prospectus of our Company, dated 30 March 2023, in relation to the Global Offering
NAT A AA2023F3A0H A IREERBENBERER

the registered shareholders of Onshore Holdco, namely Mr. Wang, Mr. Ji, Beijing Beisen Zongheng
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (1t L ZR MRS EE R RO (BRAE)),
Beijing Beisen Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (1t Rt FRIEEE R h O (F
R & %)), and Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd. CRII T BIF IR E £ E AR A 7))
RAEBRARIMNELZRRE  BEx4d  LhE  ERUERUEREETERFL(F
ReE®) tRIERBETEFRL(BRER) RAYIMAFIRESBEER AR

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEeHHEES

the reorganization arrangements undertaken by our Group in preparation for the Listing, as detailed in the
section headed “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure—Reorganization” in the Prospectus
AEEREBLETMETHEAETE  FEF2HBRERIEL - SERAQF
BE-FA]
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“Reporting Period”
[ HA

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[ARE]

“RSU(s)”
[ 52 BR | 3% 1 B8 oz |

“RSU Plan”

[ BRI Pt Bz 5t & ]

“SFO”
[ 5 & EE 50
“Sendou Shanghai”

(HRELE]

“Share(s)”

Bt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ AR ]

“Share Subdivision”

[ % 1 % 48 |
"Single Largest Group of Shareholders"

[BE—JRABRRE

i

J

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bk A2 Ffr

“USD” or “US$” or “US dollar”
=

oy
[%]

the year ended 31 March 2025
B 22025F3HNH IEFE

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China
ARBET HPEZEEEE

restricted share unit award(s) to be granted to participants under the RSU Plan
AR T 32 PR I AR 1 B A2 5 814X T 2 B3 60 IR Fil AR (7 B8 i 228D

the restricted share unit plan of our Company adopted by the Board on 31 December 2021, and
subsequently amended by the Board on 23 March 2023

EEFSR0ANFI2ANBRS - WHEEHBEFSHN02BFIALBETHARRFZR
AR 1 B8 iz 51 1

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EBADIESTIE B 5 R 0] (G TEHERT - B KA T R EK)

Sendou Shanghai Technology Co., Ltd. (Fx & (/&) Bt AR 2 &), a limited liability company
gstablished under the laws of the PRC on 10 July 2019 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
A2 (B BEARAR - —RAR2019F7A0BRBEFBUERKLHBER AR -
RERBNEZERERA

ordinary share(s) in the share capital our Company, with a nominal value of US$0.0001 each prior to the
Share Subdivision or US$0.00001 each upon the completion of the Share Subdivision

RN F R AN AR TE E0.00013€ 7T (AR 0 #F 48 A1) 3% B AR I {E0.000012& 7T (A& 15 47 48
TR ) BT B

holder(s) of our Shares
EGEST=DN

the subdivision of each share in the Company’s issued and unissued share capital with par value of
US$0.0001 each into 10 shares of the corresponding class with nominal value of US$0.00001 each
RRAE BT RABEITRAFT FREE01ETHERMDIFHE ARG REE
0.000013€ 7T &9 48 FE 28 5l A 19

the single largest group of Shareholders which comprise Mr. Wang, Mr. Ji, Zhaosen, Weisen, Senyan,
Ms. Zhou, Huisen Holding Limited, Guosen Holding Limited, Sen Talent Holdings Limited, Sen Platform
Holdings Limited, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd. and Xiasen Limited

R E LA - 42 %A - Zhaosen ~ Weisen ~ Senyan - J& %2 £ ~ Huisen Holding Limited ~ Guosen
Holding Limited ~ Sen Talent Holdings Limited ~ Sen Platform Holdings Limited - Ark Trust (Singapore)
Ltd. Rz Xiasen Limited & X i) 8 — & K iR 5 £ [

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBARSMAERRAA

United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America
ET ENBERBEEEGE

per cent.
Bk e

In this report, unless otherwise indicated, the terms “associate”, “associated corporation”, A ZRERE R - B BAFFIEREL - (L A | - [
“connected person”, “controlling shareholder”, “subsidiary” and “substantial shareholder”  msskm | - [REEB A+ | [#BKE | [MHBAT IR

shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules.

[(TERRISFARAA LTRUE FZEFARZE
EX
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

B ER

e
[Al

“application”
[FERERF

“ARR” or “annual recurring revenue”

[FEEKEMEBA

“cloud-based”

rEs)

“COVID-19”

[ COVID-19]

“employee lifecycle”

[B T A4aiE ]
“HCM”
[HCM
“PaaS”
[ PaaS ]

artificial intelligence
AL

application software designed to run on smartphones and other mobile devices
RINEREFHEHMBERE LETmRTOERREFEME

We define ARR as the annualized revenue run-rate of effective subscriptions of our cloud-based HCM solutions at a
point in time. We calculate ARR by taking the monthly recurring revenue, or MRR, as of the last day of a particular
month and multiplying it by 12. MRR is defined as the total contract value of effective subscriptions of our cloud-
based HCM solutions, divided by the number of months within the duration of such subscriptions. Effective date of
such subscriptions is provided in the relevant subscription agreements
BMEEELEEMRATER RRMNESHHCMEE AT ZERE —RHHEE LN ERITNEE
EBAETE - BMEAE-—BEAMEKE -—BNEAEBHERARMIEAEFEL
BUHWRA - B AESHEWAEERTERMZmHCMER R T R & LEE AR AR
FIBIERRR ey A8 - MABREET BBt R 2R EZF AT M A A 4B &

applications, services or resources made available to users on demand via the internet from a cloud computing
provider’s servers with access to shared pools of configurable resources
EHHREEAREREAREERORGEEAEAP EBBEHERENERRER -
AR 75 5 & IR

coronavirus disease 2019, a disease caused by a novel virus designated as severe acute respiratory syndrome
coronavirus 2
0198 MRAETR - B —BEBRARESET RS ESRR SR FERE S| RAER

the period encompasses various stages in the career of an employee, beginning with recruitment and concluding
with resignation, termination or retirement
HEREB BB EER 71 B ORI L3 A E & [ B B A7

human capital management
ANEERER

platform as a service, a category of cloud computing that provides a platform and environment to allow developers

to build applications over the internet
TFEiliRT RUHEHREECOBEREEREFN T RN —BEHERS
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“SaaS”

[ Saas |

“subscription revenue retention rate”

[FTB AR 7]

“use case”
(RS

248 Beisen Holding Limited

software as a service, a cloud-based software licensing and delivery model on a subscription basis with centrally
hosted associated data
PR - AT EEE R ERASEN —EZHmE AT A IR ER

We use subscription revenue retention rate to measure growth in revenue generated from existing customers of
our cloud-based HCM solutions over time. To calculate such metric for a given current 12-month period, we
first identify those customers who generated cloud-based HCM solution revenue in the prior 12-month period
(the “Trailing Twelve Months”) and then identify those among them who generated cloud-based HCM solution
revenue in the current 12-month period. We then calculate the subscription revenue retention rate by dividing the
subscription revenue such customers generated in the current 12-month period, by our total subscription revenue
in the Trailing Twelve Months. The subscription revenues used in calculating our subscription revenue retention
rate are based on our internal management accounts

BAVE AR AR F R H B HRPIBimHOMER R 75 22318 & P P E 4 WA BE I e 69 35
& o RETESTEREABENEA2E - BHMarERERNBE12EASRE (BETEAD
7 A EmHOMAR R 75 RILA B P - BT & Bt & pu12fE A BAfE 2 4 ZiRHCMAR R 75
RWANEP  AREERREAPEBEZETPELANFIHMBRARNLNBE T ZEAH
IR AR - A EHETBERABFER - BRI ERIHBRAB T RO ATIE
REMHALEEERS S

a specific business scenario in which a product or service could potentially be used
AP RAERIRENREEBER
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